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PART I 

In this Registration Statement on Form 20-F, the “Company,” “we,” “us” and “our” refers to Medifocus Inc. and its subsidiaries.  

Unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts in this registration statement are expressed in United States dollars.  

Unless we indicate otherwise, all information in this Report is stated as of March 31, 2016.  

SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

Some of the statements contained in or incorporated by reference in this annual report are “forward-looking statements.” Except for 
the statements of historical fact contained herein, the information presented constitutes “forward-looking statements” within the 
meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (“PSLRA”). Often, but not always, forward-looking statements can 
be identified by the use of words such as “plans”, “expects”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, “intends”, “anticipates”, 
“believes”, or variation of such words and phrases that refer to certain actions, events or results to be taken, occur or achieved. 
Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause the actual results, 
performance or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements 
expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements.  

Such factors include, among others, the actual results of the Prolieve business, requirements for additional capital, delays in obtaining 
governmental approvals, as well as those factors discussed in “Item 3. Key Information” and “Item 4. Information on the Company” 
of this annual report. Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or 
results to differ materially from those described in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause actions, events 
or results not to be as anticipated, estimated or intended. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate as 
actual results and future events could differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not 
place undue reliance on forward-looking statements.  

In addition, forward-looking statements represent our estimates and assumptions only as of the date of this annual report. You should 
carefully review this annual report and the documents that the Company references in this annual report, or that are incorporated by 
reference into this annual report, with the understanding that the Company’s actual future results may differ materially from what is 
presented in this annual report.  

Except as required by law, the Company assumes no obligation to update any forward-looking statements publicly, or to update the 
reasons actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in any forward-looking statements, even if new information 
becomes available in the future.  

Notwithstanding the above, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act 
of 1934, as amended, expressly state that the safe harbor for forward looking statements does not apply to companies that issue penny 
stocks. Accordingly, the safe harbor for forward looking statements under the PSLRA is not available to the Company because we are 
considered to be an issuer of penny stock.  
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We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  
  

The following selected financial and other data summarize our historical financial information. We derived the selected 
balance sheet information as of March 31, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013 and 2012, and the selected statement of operations information for 
the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013 and 2012 from our audited financial statements as of those dates, prepared in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in the United States of America (“U.S. GAAP”). The information herein 
should be read in conjunction with our historical financial statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this annual report. 
See “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects,” “Item 8. Financial Information” and “Item 18. Financial Statements.”  
  

All amounts are presented in U.S. dollars and in accordance with U.S. GAAP.  
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Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisers. 

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable. 

Item 3. Key Information. 

A. Selected financial data. 

   Year Ended March 31,
Statement of Operations Data   2016 2015 2014  2013   2012
Total Sales   $ 4,534,940  $ 4,219,459  $ 5,116,506   $ 1,800,371    —   

                         

Loss from operations    (3,216,805) (4,087,985) (4,886,807)   (5,333,515)   (1,484,302) 
Net loss    (4,961,549) (5,971,470) (5,992,897)   (5,846,523)   (1,665,402) 
Net loss per common share   $ (0.03) $ (0.05) $ (0.05)  $ (0.07)  $ (0.05) 
Dividends declared    —   —   —     —      —   
Weighted average common shares 

outstanding - basic and diluted    164,701,958  122,809,928  117,260,870    84,042,487    31,565,402  

Balance Sheet Data         
Total assets   $ 3,244,640  $ 5,418,487  $ 7,328,130   $ 6,268,583   $ 438,925  

                         

Common stock (no par value)    14,295,388  12,782,563  12,372,498    12,524,735    4,774,837  
                 

Total stockholders’ equity (deficit)   $ (6,821,699) $ (2,897,012) $ (134,369)  $ 478,084   $ (2,553,772) 
                 



We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

An investment in shares of our common stock (which we refer to as the “Shares”) involves a high degree of risk. You 
should carefully consider the risks described below and the risks described elsewhere in this annual report under the sections entitled 
“Item 4. Information on the Company” before deciding whether to invest in our shares. The following is a summary of the risk factors 
that we believe are most relevant to our business. These are factors that, individually or in the aggregate, could cause our actual 
results to differ significantly from anticipated or historical results. The occurrence of any of the risks could harm our business and 
cause the price of our common stock to decline, and investors may lose all or part of their investment. You should understand that it is
not possible to predict or identify all such factors. Consequently, you should not consider the following to be a complete discussion of 
all potential risks or uncertainties. The risks and uncertainties described below and in the incorporated documents are not the only 
risks and uncertainties that we face. Additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial 
may also impair our business operations. If any of these risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition and results of 
operations would suffer. The risks discussed below also include forward-looking statements, and our actual results may differ 
substantially from those discussed in these forward-looking statements. See “Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements” 
at the beginning of Part I of this annual report. Except as required by law, we undertake no obligation to publicly update forward-
looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.  

We have a history of significant losses and expect to continue such losses for the foreseeable future.  

Since our inception in 2005, our expenses have substantially exceeded our revenues, resulting in continuing losses and an 
accumulated deficit of $31,861,864 at March 31, 2016. In addition, our net loss for the year ended March 31, 2016 was 
$4,961,549. Such operating losses are the result of limited revenues from our Prolieve sales not being sufficient to offset the expenses 
associated with the Prolieve operation and other corporate expenses. We expect to continue to experience operating losses unless and 
until we generate significant revenue from Prolieve, as well as the development of other new products and these products have been 
clinically tested, approved by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, and successfully commercialized.  

We may not be able to generate significant revenue for the foreseeable future.  

Prior to July 2012, we devoted our resources to maintaining and developing the APA 1000. We will not be able to market the APA 
1000 until we have completed clinical testing and obtained all necessary governmental approvals. On July 26, 2012, we acquired 
from Boston Scientific Corporation the Prolieve Thermodilatation system business for the treatment of BPH and, since that time, we 
have assembled a sales and service team to market the Prolieve system. All of our current revenue is derived from sales of our single-
use treatment catheters and treatments delivered through our mobile service. Our lack of product diversification means that we may 
be negatively affected by changes in market conditions and in regulation (including regulation affecting reimbursement for our 
products). In addition, at the present time our APA 1000 system is still in clinical testing stage and cannot be marketed until we have 
completed clinical testing and obtained necessary governmental approval. Accordingly, our revenue  
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B. Capitalization and indebtedness. 

C. Reasons for the offer and use of proceeds. 

D. Risk factors. 



sources are, and will remain extremely limited until and unless our Prolieve system is marketed successfully and/or until our other 
new products are clinically tested, approved by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, and successfully commercialized. We cannot 
guarantee that our products will be successfully tested, approved by the FDA or other regulatory authorities, or commercialized, 
successfully or otherwise, at any time in the foreseeable future, if at all.  

Our future is dependent upon our ability to obtain additional financing. If we do not obtain such financing, we may have to cease 
our operations and investors could lose their entire investment.  

We have yet to operate profitably or generate positive cash flows from operations, and there is no assurance that we will operate 
profitably or will generate positive cash flow in the future. As a result, we have very limited funds, and such funds may not be 
adequate to take advantage of current, planned and unanticipated business opportunities. Even if our funds prove to be sufficient to 
pursue current, planned and unanticipated business opportunities, we may not have enough capital to fully develop such 
opportunities.  

Further, our capital requirements relating to the manufacturing and marketing of our products have been, and will continue to be, 
significant. We are dependent on the proceeds of future financing in order to continue in business and to develop and commercialize 
proposed products. There can be no assurance that we will be able to raise the additional capital resources necessary to permit us to 
pursue our business plan. Finally, the continued growth of our business may require additional funding from time to time to be used 
by us for general corporate purposes, such as acquisitions, investments, repayment of debt, capital expenditures, repurchase of capital 
stock and additional purposes identified by the Company.  

Accordingly, our ultimate success may depend upon our ability to raise additional capital. There can be no assurance that any 
additional financing will be available to us. As additional capital is needed, we may not be able to obtain additional equity or debt 
financing. Even if financing is available, it may not be available on terms that are favorable or acceptable to us, or in sufficient 
amounts to satisfy our requirements. Any inability to obtain additional financing will likely have a material adverse effect on our 
business operations, and could result in the loss of your entire investment.  

Our independent registered public accountants have expressed substantial doubt regarding our ability to continue as a going 
concern.  

Our auditors have expressed their opinion that there is substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
Our financial statements do not include any adjustments that might result from the outcome of these uncertainties. Our ability to 
continue as a going concern is dependent upon our ability to successfully raise adequate additional financing and our ability to 
successfully develop our sales and marketing programs and commence our planned operations. We cannot assure you that we will be 
able to obtain additional financing or achieve profitability in our operations. Our failure to obtain additional financing or achieve 
profitability in our operations could require the Company to liquidate our business interests, and could result in the loss of your entire 
investment.  

Our failure to have a full-time Chief Financial Officer may negatively affect our business and operations.  

Our Chief Financial Officer (or “CFO”) serves only on a part-time basis and may be subject to conflicts of interest. The CFO devotes 
most of his working time to other business endeavors, which may lead to conflicts of interest, including deciding how much time to 
devote to our affairs. The CFO position is critical to our operations, and our failure to fill this position on a full-time basis may 
negatively impact  
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our business and operations. It may also lead to the late filing of financial reports and other required disclosures, or the filing of 
noncompliant financial reports and other required disclosures, which could have numerous consequences, including administrative 
proceedings by the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), claims under Section 10 of the Exchange Act and, if our 
Shares become listed on a national exchange, cease trade orders or the de-listing of the Shares on such exchange. Further, having a 
part-time CFO has, and may continue to, negatively impact the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and our internal controls over 
financial reporting. No assurances can be given that our CFO will transition to a full-time basis, or that we will be able to identify or 
afford a full-time qualified candidate for this position.  

We operate with de-centralized management, and may be unable to hire additional personnel to support, manage and control our 
operations. 

Our CFO performs his functions for us on a part-time, non-exclusive basis, and resides in Toronto, Canada. In the past, the 
combination of not having our CFO at our headquarters and being understaffed have contributed to the late filing of financial reports 
in Canada. These late filings resulted in temporary cease trade orders being issued, and a multi-month suspension of trading of our 
shares on the Toronto Venture Exchange (the “TSXV”). Although the Company has hired a qualified outside accounting consultant to 
minimize this risk, we will continue to operate with less than optimal support, management and control of our operations. We cannot 
assure you that our efforts will effectively minimize such risks. If we continue to operate with de-centralized management and 
insufficient staffing, it may have a material adverse effect on our business.  

The loss of certain of our key personnel, or any inability to attract and retain additional personnel, could negatively affect our 
business.  

Our future success depends to a significant extent on the continued service of certain key employees who have been intimately 
involved with, and primarily responsible for, the invention, development and commercialization efforts for our technology and 
products. The loss of services of those key employees could adversely affect our business and our ability to implement our business 
plan.  

Our future success will also depend on our ability to attract, retain and motivate highly skilled personnel to assist us with product 
development, commercialization and other facets of our business plan. If we fail to hire and retain a sufficient number of qualified 
individuals to fully meet the needs of the business of the Company, it may have an adverse effect on our business and results of 
operations.  

One of our shareholders owns a significant percentage of our Shares and could exert significant influence over matters requiring 
shareholder approval. 

Mr. Tak Cheung Yam, a former director of the Company, through Integrated Assets Management (Asia) Ltd, currently owns 
25,386,742 Shares, or 13.72% of the Company’s outstanding common stock and exercisable warrants to purchase an additional 
18,595,833 Shares. If Mr. Yam chooses to exercise all these warrants, he will control 21.60% of our Common Stock. In addition, Mr. 
Yam, through Integrated Assets Management (Asia) Ltd, owns a convertible note that can be converted into 7,400,000 Shares. If Mr. 
Yam chooses to convert the note to Shares and to exercise all his warrants, he will effectively control 24.35% of our outstanding 
shares. As a result, Mr. Yam may have significant influence over our management, our decision-making process, our business 
strategy and affairs and matters requiring stockholder approval, including the election of directors and approval of significant 
corporate transactions, such as mergers, consolidations or the sale of substantially all of our assets. Mr. Yam’s interests may differ 
from those of other shareholders of the Company, and, Mr. Yam will have the ability to exercise influence over our business and may 
take actions that are not in our or our public  
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shareholders’ best interests. Furthermore, this concentration of ownership may have the effect of delaying or preventing a change in 
control, including a merger, consolidation or other business combination involving us, or discouraging a potential acquirer from 
making a tender offer or otherwise attempting to obtain control, even if such a change in control would benefit our other stockholders. 

Our internal sales and marketing capability is limited and we may need to enter into alliances with others possessing such 
capabilities to commercialize our products internationally.  

Currently our primary source of revenue is through the sales of disposable catheter treatment kits and mobile services in the U.S. 
Consequently, we are dependent upon our limited sales and marketing capability for the successful marketing of our Prolieve system. 
There can be no assurance that we will establish adequate sales and distribution capabilities or be successful in gaining market 
acceptance for our Prolieve system.  

We intend to market our other products, if and when such products are approved for commercialization by the FDA or other 
regulatory authorities, either directly or through other strategic alliances and distribution arrangements with third parties. There can 
be no assurance that we will be able to enter into third-party marketing or distribution arrangements on advantageous terms or at all. 
To the extent that we do enter into such arrangements, we will be dependent on our marketing and distribution partners. In entering 
into third-party marketing or distribution arrangements, we expect to incur significant additional expense. There can be no assurance 
that, to the extent that we sell products directly or we enter into any commercialization arrangements with third parties, such third 
parties will establish adequate sales and distribution capabilities or be successful in gaining market acceptance for our products and 
services.  

We do not manufacture the Prolieve system ourselves, and rely on a third-party supplier to supply us with the proprietary 
disposable catheters used with our Prolieve system.  

The Prolieve systems we currently have in inventory were manufactured by Sanmina Corporation for Boston Scientific Corporation 
prior to our acquisition of the Prolieve assets, and we do not currently have an agreement with Sanmina for the production of 
additional Prolieve systems. Accordingly, if our current inventory becomes insufficient to meet the business growth in both the U.S. 
and international markets, we will have to engage Sanmina Corporation, or another manufacturer, to produce such additional systems. 
Further, the proprietary disposable catheter kits used with the Prolieve system are manufactured by Lake Regional Medical Center 
(formerly Accellent Inc.) in its facility in Mexico. Due to the complexity of these catheter kits, as well as FDA standards applicable to 
manufacturers of such kits, the Company has not identified an alternative supplier for these catheter kits. If, for any reason, we are 
unable to obtain new Prolieve systems manufactured by Sanmina Corporation, or we are no longer able to purchase the catheter kits 
from Lake Regional Medical Center in sufficient amounts, on an as-needed basis and on acceptable terms, or if either manufacturer 
becomes unable or unwilling to continue to supply us with new Prolieve systems and disposable catheter kits, it would have a 
material adverse effect on our business and operations. There can be no assurance that we could find new manufacturers to fulfill our 
needs, that any such manufacturer would be FDA approved, or that such manufacturers would be willing to provide us with the 
required products under commercially acceptable terms. If we are unable to find additional manufacturers and suppliers and it results 
in a disruption to our business, there would be a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.  

The slow pace of our APA 1000 Breast Cancer System’s Phase III clinical trials could result in additional delays and increased 
costs of completing the trials in the future.  

Our main focus at this time is attaining profitability for our Prolieve business. Accordingly, we have allocated most of our resources 
to this goal, compounding this with the lack of funding the progress of  
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the pivotal Phase III clinical trials of our APA 1000 breast cancer treatment system has been very slow. We estimate that the Phase III 
clinical trials will cost approximately $7,500,000. We currently do not have the financing in place to accelerate and complete these 
trials. There can be no assurance that such financings will be available at all, or on terms favorable to us. Further, there can be no 
assurance as to when, or even if, we will succeed in making Prolieve profitable. Our inability to do so may make it more difficult for 
us to raise funds for the pivotal Phase III clinical trial of the APA 1000. In the event that we are able achieve profitable Prolieve 
operations, there can be no assurance that we will be able to generate enough funds from the Prolieve business to finance the pivotal 
Phase III clinical trial. Furthermore, we cannot predict the effect of the slow pace of the pivotal Phase III trial could have on the costs 
and other critical aspects of the Phase III clinical trial. There is the risk that this uncertainty could negatively impact our business 
plans, and our ability to raise additional funds for further development of our APA 1000 business.  

We may not receive regulatory approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to market the APA 1000.  

Drugs and medical devices in the United States are regulated by the FDA, which requires that new medicines and medical devices be 
demonstrated to be both safe and effective. This is accomplished by conducting staged clinical trials that are subject to the FDA’s 
review, analysis and approval. While the Phase I and Phase II clinical trials for APA 1000 have been completed, and we received 
approval from the FDA and Health Canada to begin the pivotal Phase III clinical trials, as of today, a very limited number of patients 
out of a planned 238 person trial in the pivotal Phase III clinical trial, have been treated with APA 1000. There can be no assurance 
that our Phase III clinical trial will be completed, and if it is completed, that it will demonstrate APA 1000’s safety and efficacy, and 
that we will subsequently receive the FDA’s approval for us to commence marketing. In the event that we complete the pivotal Phase 
III clinical trial and receive FDA approval to market APA 1000, there can be no assurance that APA 1000 will be adopted for use by 
the healthcare industry, and that this business will be profitable. If the APA 1000 is not adopted for use by the healthcare industry, or 
we are not able to become profitable, it would have a material adverse effect on our business and results of operations.  

We may not succeed in developing a meaningful market share of the benign prostatic hyperplasia (“BPH”) treatment markets 
with Prolieve, and our Prolieve business may not become profitable.  

The BPH market is highly competitive, and is presently dominated by large, international pharmaceutical companies that promote the 
use of proprietary drugs to treat this condition. These companies, which include, Eli Lilly, Glaxo Smith Kline, Merck & Co., and 
others, aggressively market their drugs to primary care physicians, and to consumers through television, print, digital and other 
media. Because the market for BPH treatment is large and growing, and the manufacturers of these medications have made 
substantial investments in their development and marketing, we expect them to vigorously defend their market positions. In addition, 
we face strong competition from surgical and other minimally invasive treatment modalities. Although we have received a PMA from 
the FDA for our Prolieve system for the treatment of BPH, we can offer no assurance that the Prolieve system will be accepted by the 
medical community widely. Because our financial, marketing and sales resources are much smaller than those of the pharmaceutical 
companies, we are at significant competitive disadvantage, which will make it difficult for us to substantially expand our Prolieve 
business. Our inability to expand our Prolieve business achieve profitability and capture significant market share of the BPH 
treatment market will adversely affect us.  

Recent health care reform laws in the U.S. could have a negative impact on our business.  

Our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows could be significantly and adversely affected by recent 
healthcare reform legislation, including, most immediately, by the medical device excise tax that became effective on January 1, 
2013. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care  
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Act and Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (the “Healthcare Reform Acts”) were enacted into law in March 2010. 
As a company that operated in the United States, the Healthcare Reform Acts may materially impact our business and operations. 
Certain provisions of the Healthcare Reform Acts will not be effective for a number of years and there are many programs and 
requirements for which the details have not yet been fully established. Accordingly, it is unclear what the full impact will be from the 
Healthcare Reform Acts.  

However, beginning in January 2013, the Healthcare Reform Acts impose a 2.3% excise tax on sales of our Prolieve products in the 
United States. We expect the new tax will materially and adversely affect our business, cash flows and results of operations. The 
Healthcare Reform Acts also contain a number of Medicare provisions aimed at improving quality and decreasing costs. The 
Medicare provisions include value-based payment programs, increased funding of comparative effectiveness research, reduced 
hospital payments for avoidable readmissions and hospital acquired conditions, and pilot programs to evaluate alternative payment 
methodologies that promote care coordination (such as bundled physician and hospital payments). Additionally, the Healthcare 
Reform Acts include a reduction in the annual rate of inflation for Medicare payments to hospitals that began in 2011 and the 
establishment of an independent payment advisory board to recommend ways of reducing the rate of growth in Medicare spending 
beginning in 2014. We cannot predict what healthcare programs and regulations will ultimately be implemented at the federal or state 
level, or the effect of any future legislation or regulation. However, any changes that lower reimbursement for our products or reduce 
medical procedure volumes could have a material adverse effect our business and results of operations.  

Our APA 1000 system and future products utilizing the adaptive phased array technology depend on the license agreement with 
MIT, and our immunotherapy and gene therapy development and commercialization efforts utilizing the heat-activated gene 
technology depend on the license agreement with Duke University to permit us to use patented technologies.  

Our success depends, in substantial part, on our ability to maintain our rights under license agreements that grant us the rights to use 
patented technologies. We have entered into a license agreement with MIT under which we have exclusive rights to commercialize 
medical treatment products and procedures based on MIT’s Adaptive Phased Array technology. The MIT license agreement contains 
license fee, royalty and/or research support provisions, testing and regulatory milestones, and other performance requirements that we 
must meet by certain deadlines. In October 2015, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Duke University 
regarding heat-activated and tumor-targeted immunotherapy and gene therapy. The license agreement with Duke University pertains 
to the patent rights of a Duke invention for the development of heat-activated and tumor-targeted immunotherapy and gene therapy 
for the treatment of cancers and other diseases. The Duke license agreement also contains license fee, royalty and/or research support 
provisions, testing and regulatory milestones, and other performance requirements that we must meet. If we breach these or other 
provisions of the license agreements, we could lose our ability to use the subject technologies and it could have a material adverse 
effect on our business.  

Further, we cannot guarantee that any patent or other technology rights licensed to us by others will not be challenged or 
circumvented successfully by third parties, or that the rights granted will provide adequate protection. We are aware of published 
patent applications and issued patents belonging to others, and it is not clear whether any of these patents or applications, or other 
patent applications of which we may not have any knowledge, will require us to alter any of our potential products or processes, pay 
licensing fees to others or cease certain activities. Litigation, which could result in substantial costs, may also be necessary to enforce 
any patents issued to or licensed by us or to determine the scope and validity of others’ claimed proprietary rights. We also rely on 
trade secrets and confidential information that we seek to protect, in part, by confidentiality agreements with our corporate partners, 
collaborators, employees, and consultants. We cannot guarantee that these agreements will not  
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be breached, that, even if not breached, that they are adequate to protect our trade secrets, that we will have adequate remedies for any 
breach or that our trade secrets will not otherwise become known to, or will not be discovered independently by, competitors.  

We may not be able to protect the intellectual property that is integral to our business, or we may be subject to claims of 
intellectual property infringement by third parties, either of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

Much of our potential success and value lies in our ownership and use of intellectual property. Our inability or failure to protect our 
intellectual property may negatively affect our business and value. Our ability to compete effectively is dependent in large part upon 
the maintenance and protection of the intellectual property we own and licenses from MIT. We will rely on patents, trademarks, trade 
secret and copyright law, as well as confidentiality procedures to establish and protect our intellectual property rights. It may be 
possible for a third party to copy or otherwise obtain and use the proprietary technology presently owned by or licensed to us without 
authorization. Policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult. The steps we take may not prevent misappropriation 
of our intellectual property, and the agreements we enter into may not be enforceable. In addition, effective intellectual property 
protection may be unavailable or limited in some jurisdictions outside the United States. Litigation may be necessary in the future to 
enforce or protect our intellectual property rights or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Such 
litigation could cause us to incur substantial costs and divert resources away from our business, which in turn could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and profitability.  

We may be subject to damaging and disruptive intellectual property litigation.  

Although we are not currently aware that our products or services infringe any published patents or registered trademarks, we may be 
subject to infringement claims in the future. Because patent applications are kept confidential for a period of time after filing, 
applications may have been filed that, if issued as patents, could relate to our business.  

Parties making claims of infringement may be able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relief that could effectively block us from 
providing its products and services in the United States and other jurisdictions and could cause us to pay substantial damages. In the 
event of a successful claim of infringement, we may need to obtain one or more licenses from third parties, which may not be 
available at a reasonable cost, if at all. The defense of any lawsuit could result in time-consuming and expensive litigation, regardless 
of the merits of such claims, as well as resulting damages, license fees, royalty payments and restrictions on our ability to provide 
products or services, any of which could harm our business.  

Intellectual property rights are difficult to enforce in China, which could harm our business.  

Chinese commercial law is relatively undeveloped compared with the commercial law in many of our other major markets and 
limited protection of intellectual property is available in China as a practical matter. We have formed a joint venture with Ideal 
Concepts Inc. to commercialize our products in the “Asia Pacific,” including China. Accordingly, any local design, manufacture, 
distribution or marketing of products that we undertake in China could subject us to an increased risk that unauthorized parties will be 
able to copy or otherwise obtain or use our intellectual property, which could harm our business. We may also have limited legal 
recourse in the event we encounter patent or trademark infringers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and 
results of operations.  
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Our business is subject to numerous and evolving state, federal and foreign regulations and we may not be able to secure the 
government approvals needed to develop and market our products.  

Our research and development activities, pre-clinical tests and clinical trials, and ultimately the manufacturing, marketing and 
labeling of our products, are all subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and foreign regulatory agencies. Pre-clinical testing and 
clinical trial requirements and the regulatory approval process typically take years and require the expenditure of substantial 
resources. Further, additional government regulation may be established that could prevent or delay regulatory approval of our 
product candidates. Delays or rejections in obtaining regulatory approvals would adversely affect our ability to commercialize any 
product candidates and our ability to generate product revenues or royalties.  

The FDA and foreign regulatory agencies require that the safety and efficacy of product candidates be supported through adequate 
and well-controlled clinical trials. If the results of pivotal clinical trials do not establish the safety and efficacy of our product 
candidates to the satisfaction of the FDA and other foreign regulatory agencies, we will not receive the approvals necessary to market 
such product candidates.  

Even if regulatory approval of a product candidate is granted, the approval may include significant limitations on the indicated uses 
for which the product may be marketed. In addition, we are subject to inspections and regulations by the FDA. Medical devices must 
also continue to comply with the FDA’s Quality System Regulation, or QSR. Compliance with such regulations requires significant 
expenditures of time and effort to ensure full technical compliance. The FDA stringently applies regulatory standards for 
manufacturing.  

We are subject to the periodic inspection of our clinical trials, facilities, procedures and operations and/or the testing of our products 
by the FDA to determine whether our systems and processes are in compliance with FDA regulations. Following such inspections, 
the FDA may issue notices on Form 483 and warning letters that could cause us to modify certain activities identified during the 
inspection. A Form 483 notice is generally issued at the conclusion of an FDA inspection and lists conditions the FDA inspectors 
believe may violate FDA regulations. FDA guidelines specify that a warning letter is issued only for violations of “regulatory 
significance” for which the failure to adequately and promptly achieve correction may be expected to result in an enforcement action. 

Failure to comply with FDA and other governmental regulations can result in fines, unanticipated compliance expenditures, recall or 
seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production and/or distribution, suspension of the FDA’s review of product 
applications, enforcement actions, injunctions and criminal prosecution. Under certain circumstances, the FDA also has the authority 
to revoke previously granted product approvals. Although we have internal compliance programs, if these programs do not meet 
regulatory agency standards or if our compliance is deemed deficient in any significant way, it could have a material adverse effect on 
the Company.  

We are also subject to record keeping and reporting regulations, including FDA’s mandatory Medical Device Reporting, or MDR, 
regulation. Labeling and promotional activities are regulated by the FDA and, in certain instances, by the Federal Trade Commission. 

Many states in which we do or in the future may do business or in which our products may be sold impose licensing, labeling or 
certification requirements that are in addition to those imposed by the FDA. There can be no assurance that one or more states will 
not impose regulations or requirements that have a material adverse effect on our ability to sell our products.  

In many of the foreign countries in which we may do business or in which our products may be sold, we will be subject to regulation 
by national governments and supranational agencies as well as by local agencies affecting, among other things, product standards, 
packaging requirements, labeling requirements, import restrictions, tariff regulations, duties and tax requirements. There can be no 
assurance that one or more countries or agencies will not impose regulations or requirements that could have a material adverse effect 
on our ability to sell our products.  
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Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements, can result in, among other things, warning letters, fines, injunctions and 
other equitable remedies, civil penalties, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of production, refusal of the 
government to grant approvals, pre-market clearance or pre-market approval, withdrawal of approvals and criminal prosecution of the 
Company and its employees, all of which would have a material adverse effect on our business.  

We could be adversely affected by violations of the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act.  

Our business operations in countries outside the United States, for example through our Chinese joint venture, may be subject to anti-
corruption laws and regulations, including restrictions imposed by the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”). The FCPA and 
similar anti-corruption laws in other jurisdictions generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making improper 
payments to government officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We cannot provide assurance that our internal 
controls and procedures will always protect us from criminal acts committed by our employees or third parties with whom we work. 
If we are found to be liable for violations of the FCPA or similar anti-corruption laws in international jurisdictions, either due to our 
own acts or out of inadvertence, or due to the acts or inadvertence of others, we could suffer from criminal or civil penalties which 
could have a material and adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.  

The success of our products may be harmed if the government, private health insurers and other third-party payors do not provide 
sufficient coverage or reimbursement.  

Our current and future revenues are subject to uncertainties regarding health care reimbursement and reform. Our ability to 
commercialize our new cancer treatment system successfully will depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement for the costs 
of such products and related treatments will be available from government health administration authorities, private health insurers 
and other third-party payors. The reimbursement status of newly approved medical products is subject to significant uncertainty. We 
cannot guarantee that adequate third-party insurance coverage will be available for us to establish and maintain price levels sufficient 
for us to realize an appropriate return on our investment in developing new therapies. Government, private health insurers, and other 
third-party payors are increasingly attempting to contain health care costs by limiting both coverage and the level of reimbursement 
for new therapeutic products approved for marketing by the FDA. Accordingly, even if coverage and reimbursement are provided by 
government, private health insurers, and third-party payors for uses of our products, market acceptance of these products would be 
adversely affected if the reimbursement available proves to be unprofitable for health care providers. We may be unable to sell our 
products on a profitable basis if third-party payers deny coverage, or provide low reimbursement rates.  

Our products may not achieve sufficient acceptance by the medical community to sustain our business.  

Although we have received a PMA from the FDA for our Prolieve system for the treatment of BPH, we can offer no assurance that 
the Prolieve system will be accepted by the medical community widely. Our breast cancer treatment development project using the 
APA technology is currently in Phase III clinical trials. It may prove not to be effective in practice. If testing and clinical practice do 
not confirm the safety and efficacy of our systems or, even if further testing and practice produce positive results but the medical 
community does not view these new forms of treatment as effective and desirable, our efforts to market our new products may fail, 
with material adverse consequences to our business.  
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We face intense competition and the failure to compete effectively could adversely affect our ability to develop and market our 
products.  

There are many companies and other institutions engaged in research and development of various technologies, both for prostate 
disease and cancer treatment products that seek treatment outcomes similar to those that we are pursuing. We believe that the level of 
interest by others in investigating the potential of possible competitive treatments and alternative technologies will continue and may 
increase. Potential competitors engaged in all areas of BPH and cancer treatment research in the United States and other countries 
include, among others, major pharmaceutical, specialized technology companies, and universities and other research 
institutions. Most of our competitors and potential competitors have substantially greater financial, technical, human and other 
resources, and may also have far greater experience, than do we, both in pre-clinical testing and human clinical trials of new products 
and in obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals. One or more of these companies or institutions could succeed in developing 
products or other technologies that are more effective than the products and technologies that we have been or are developing, or 
which would render our technology and products obsolete and non-competitive. Furthermore, if we are permitted to commence 
commercial sales of any of our products, we will also be competing, with respect to manufacturing efficiency and marketing, with 
companies having substantially greater resources and experience in these areas.  

If we become subject to product liability claims, we may be required to pay damages that exceed our insurance coverage and the 
value of our assets. 

We currently carry product liability insurance in the amount of $5,000,000 per occurrence, which may be inadequate to satisfy 
liabilities we may incur. Any claim brought against us, regardless of its merit, could result in the increase of our product liability 
insurance rates or our inability to obtain future coverage on acceptable terms, or at all. In addition, if our product liability coverage is 
inadequate to pay a damage award, we would have to pay any shortfall out of our assets, which may be insufficient, or by securing 
additional funds, of which there can be no assurance. Even a meritless or unsuccessful product liability claim made against us could 
harm our reputation, cause us to incur significant legal fees and result in the diversion of management’s attention from managing our 
business. Any of these occurrences or events would have a material adverse effect on our business.  

Our Relationship with Ideal Concepts Inc. could cause us to effectively transfer rights to our technology in major markets in Asia, 
and to lose rights to sell and market our products in Asia.  

In 2013 we formed a joint venture agreement with Ideal Concept Inc. to form Medifocus Holdings LLC. Medifocus Holdings LLC is 
subject to a variety of risks including, without limitation, obtaining adequate financing to operate the business, recruiting management
with expertise to market, promote, and produce products and having the capability of obtaining required regulatory approvals from 
various foreign governments in order sell products. Our right to receive royalties from the sale of products by Medifocus Holdings 
LLC will prove to be worthless if there are no sales. Pursuant to the terms of our joint venture agreement, our equity ownership in 
Medifocus Holdings LLC had been reduced over the last two years and was eventually bought out in March 2016.  

We could have disagreements with Ideal Concepts Inc. over the territory covered by the joint venture, and over other key aspects 
of the joint venture. 

The territory covered by the joint venture is described as “Asia Pacific”, which is not defined in the agreement. In addition, other 
important aspects, terms and conditions of the joint venture are absent or unclear in the agreement establishing the joint venture. 
Accordingly, we could have disagreements with Ideal Concepts Inc. over rights and responsibilities of Ideal Concepts Inc. and us, as 
well as on other issues. If not resolved, these issues could have adverse consequences on the joint venture, make it difficult or 
impossible to sell products, result in litigation and cause us to incur substantial liabilities.  
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Damage to our reputation, for whatever reason, could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

Our ability to market and sell Prolieve, APA 1000 and new products in major world markets, including the United States, could be 
adversely affected in the future by negative publicity resulting from, among others, the joint venture, adverse regulatory decisions by 
international bodies related to our products, controversy surrounding our products and the businesses activities of the joint venture, 
litigation arising from the joint venture and use of products, over which we will have very little, if any, control.  

We have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards.  

Pursuant to Section 107(b) of the United States Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, enacted on April 5, 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), we 
have elected to use the extended transition period for complying with new or revised accounting standards for an “emerging growth 
company.” This election will permit, but not require, us to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards that will have 
different effective dates for public and private companies until those standards apply to private companies. Consequently, our 
financial statements may not be comparable to companies that comply with public company effective dates.  

Our Shares are deemed to be “Penny Stocks,” which means that there are significant restrictions on stockbrokers and dealers 
recommending our Shares for purchase.  

Our common stock is considered to be a “penny stock” pursuant to the rules promulgated under Section 15(g) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). As a result, our securities are subject to rules that impose sales practice and 
disclosure requirements on broker-dealers who engage in the sale of shares of penny stock to persons other than established 
customers or “accredited investors” (as such term is defined in Rule 501 of Regulation D promulgated under the Securities Act of 
1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”)). Under such rules, a broker-dealer must, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not 
otherwise exempt from those rules, deliver a standardized risk disclosure document prepared by the SEC, which specifies information 
about penny stocks and the nature and significance of risks of the penny stock market. A broker-dealer must also provide the 
customer with bid and offer quotations for the penny stock, the compensation of the broker-dealer, and sales person in the transaction, 
and monthly account statements indicating the market value of each penny stock held in the customer’s account. In addition, the 
penny stock rules require that, prior to a transaction in a penny stock not otherwise exempt from the penny stock rules, the broker-
dealer must make a special written determination that the penny stock is a suitable investment for the purchaser and receive the 
purchaser’s written agreement to the transaction. These disclosure requirements may have the effect of reducing the trading activity in 
the secondary market for stock that is subject to the penny stock rules. Consequently, these penny stock rules may affect the ability of 
broker-dealers to trade our securities. We believe that the penny stock rules may discourage investor interest in and limit the 
marketability of our securities, and limit the current investors’ ability to sell their shares of our common stock.  

We may never pay dividends.  

We have never declared or paid any dividends on our Shares since our inception. We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our 
Shares for the foreseeable future, and currently intend to retain any future earnings to fund the development and growth of our 
business. The payment of cash dividends, if any, on the Shares will rest solely within the discretion of our board of directors and will 
depend, among other things, upon our earnings, capital requirements, financial condition, and other relevant factors. We currently 
intend to use any revenues, as well as proceeds from any financings, to assist us in obtaining our business objectives, and not for the 
payment of any dividends upon our Shares.  
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Shareholders may suffer dilution of the value of their Shares by our issuance of additional Shares in the future.  

As of March 31, 2016, we have outstanding debt, warrants and options that are convertible or exchangeable into 120,741,310 Shares. 
Additionally, we may sell and issue additional Shares, or other securities that are convertible into Shares, in the future, in order to 
raise funds and for other purposes. The issuance of additional Shares, whether through the conversion of convertible notes, the 
exercise of warrants or options, or an issuance of Shares in connection with a financing, will dilute our current shareholders’ 
ownership in the Company, and will reduce shareholders’ voting power proportionally.  

Future sales of Shares, securities convertible into Shares, and other securities may negatively affect our stock price.  

Future sales of Shares and/or other securities that are convertible into Shares could have a significant negative effect on the market 
price of our Shares, and the number of Shares outstanding could increase substantially. This increase, in turn, could dilute future 
earnings per share. Dilution and the availability of a large amount of securities for sale, and the possibility of additional issuances and 
sales of Shares or other classes of securities may negatively affect both the trading price and liquidity of our Shares.  

The market for our Shares is, and may continue to be, limited and highly volatile, which may generally affect any future price of 
our Shares.  

The lack of an orderly market for our common stock may negatively affect the volume of trading and market price for our common 
stock.  

Historically, the volume of trades for our Shares has been limited. Moreover, the prices at which our Shares have traded have 
fluctuated widely on a percentage basis. There can be no assurance as to the prices at which our Shares will trade in the future, 
although they may continue to fluctuate significantly. Prices for our Shares will be determined in the marketplace and may be 
influenced by many factors, including, without limitation, the following:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

An active trading market for the Shares may not exist in the future. Even if a market for our Shares continues to exist, investors may 
not be able to resell their Shares at or above the purchase price for which such investors purchased such Shares.  

In addition, the stock market has recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. These fluctuations are often unrelated 
to the operating performance of the specific companies. As a result of the factors identified above, a stockholder (due to personal 
circumstances) may be required to sell its Shares at a time when our stock price is depressed due to random fluctuations, possibly 
based on factors beyond our control.  
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 •  the depth and liquidity of the markets for our Shares; 

 •  investor perception of the Company and the industry in which we participate; 

 •  general economic and market conditions; 

 •  statements or changes in opinions, ratings or earnings estimates made by brokerage firms or industry analysts relating to 
the market in which we do business or relating to us specifically, as has occurred in the past; 

 •  quarterly variations in our results of operations; 

 •  general market conditions or market conditions specific to technology industries; and 

 •  domestic and international macroeconomic factors. 



Emerging Growth Company Status  

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in section 3(a) of the Exchange Act, as amended by the United States 
Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, enacted on April 5, 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), and will continue to qualify as an “emerging 
growth company” until the earliest to occur of: (a) the last day of the fiscal year during which we have total annual gross revenues 
of $1,000,000,000 (as such amount is indexed for inflation every 5 years by the SEC) or more; (b) the last day of our fiscal year 
following the fifth anniversary of the date of the first sale of our common equity securities pursuant to an effective registration 
statement under the Securities Act; (c) the date on which we have, during the previous 3-year period, issued more than 
$1,000,000,000 in non-convertible debt; or (d) the date on which we are deemed to be a ‘large accelerated filer’, as defined in 
Exchange Act Rule 12b–2.  

Generally, a company that registers any class of its securities under section 12 of the Exchange Act is required to include 
in the second and all subsequent annual reports filed by it under the Exchange Act, a management report on internal controls over 
financial reporting and, subject to an exemption available to companies that meet the definition of a “smaller reporting company” in 
Exchange Act Rule 12b-2, an auditor attestation report on management’s assessment of internal controls over financial reporting. 
However, for so long as we continue to qualify as an emerging growth company, we will be exempt from the requirement to include 
an auditor attestation report in our annual reports filed under the Exchange Act, even if we do not qualify as a “smaller reporting 
company”. In addition, section 103(a)(3) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been amended by the JOBS Act to provide that, 
among other things, auditors of an emerging growth company are exempt from any rules of the Public Company Accounting 
Oversight Board requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be 
required to provide additional information about the audit and the financial statements of the company.  

Any U.S. domestic issuer that is an emerging growth company is able to avail itself to the reduced disclosure obligations 
regarding executive compensation in periodic reports and proxy statements, and to not present to its shareholders a nonbinding 
advisory vote on executive compensation, obtain approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved, or present the 
relationship between executive compensation actually paid and our financial performance. As a foreign private issuer, we are not 
subject to such requirements, and will not become subject to such requirements even if we were to cease to be an emerging growth 
company.  

As a reporting issuer under the securities legislation of the Canadian provinces of Ontario, British Columbia, and Alberta, 
we are required to comply with all new or revised accounting standards that apply to Canadian public companies. Pursuant to Section 
107(b) of the JOBS Act, an emerging growth company may elect to utilize an extended transition period for complying with new or 
revised accounting standards for public companies until such standards apply to private companies. We have elected to utilize this 
extended transition period. However, while we have elected to utilize this extended transition period, our audited consolidated 
financial statements as of March 31, 2016 reflect the adoption of all required accounting standards for public companies.  

  

General  

We are in the business of developing and selling medical device systems that deliver precisely focused, microwave-
generated heat to diseased tissue, thereby destroying or shrinking it. We have developed two thermotherapy platforms for delivering 
this heat. The first platform delivers heat via a catheter that is inserted through a body opening directly to the diseased tissue. The 
catheter is attached to  
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a modular, free-standing unit that generates controls and monitors the heat delivery. We refer to this platform as our “Endo-
thermotherapy platform.” Our Prolieve Thermodilation System (“Prolieve”), utilized for the treatment of BPH, discussed below, uses 
this method. The Prolieve system has been commercialized and we are currently generating revenues from Prolieve operations, 
however, our operations have not been profitable through March 31, 2016.  

Our second thermotherapy platform delivers heat to the diseased tissue via microwave beams delivered from outside of the 
body. The beams are precisely focused on the diseased tissue by utilizing sophisticated identification and targeting technology which 
we have licensed from MIT. This technology was originally developed at MIT as part of the United States’ “Star Wars” missile shield 
defense system, but we have adapted this technology for use in our products. With this method of heat delivery, a fine needle probe is 
inserted into the targeted tissue using conventional radio frequency positioning technology. This probe acts as a receptor for the 
microwave generated heat beams that are delivered to the targeted tissue from a module incorporating the MIT technology. We refer 
to this technology of heat delivery as our Adaptive Phased Array or “APA platform”. Our APA 1000 system for the treatment of 
breast cancer, discussed below, uses this technology. APA 1000 has not been approved for use by the FDA to treat locally advanced 
tumors in breast cancer patients. We have completed Phase I and Phase II clinical trials for APA 1000. We have begun conducting 
pivotal Phase III clinical trial, but the progress of the clinical trials has been slow due to insufficient funding. Subject to the 
availability of funds, we plan to fully resume the pivotal Phase III clinical trial in the future.  

We believe that our two focused heat technology platforms can provide the design basis for the future development of 
additional cancer treatment systems for surface, subsurface and deep internal localized and regional cancers. We also believe that our 
technology platforms could form the basis for us to develop new therapeutic systems in the future that may (i) prevent breast cancer, 
and (ii) have cosmetic applications in treating cellulite and minimally invasive liposuction.  

In addition to the two focused heat technology platforms, in October 2015, the Company entered into an exclusive license 
agreement with Duke University regarding Heat-Activated and Tumor-Targeted Immunotherapy and Gene Therapy. The exclusive 
license agreement pertains to the Patent Rights of a Duke invention for the development of heat-activated and tumor-targeted 
immunotherapy and gene therapy for the treatment of cancers and other diseases. The technology, described in the agreement as a 
“method for selective expression of therapeutic genes in cancer cells by hyperthermia,” provides the design basis for an adenoviral 
gene delivery construct that releases IL-12 upon activation by the temperature rise caused by focused thermotherapy. Temperature 
activation of pre-engineered adenovirus carrying the therapeutic genes injected intratumorally allows maximal release of the IL-12 
therapeutics. Such spatial and temporal control of gene expression leads to enhanced efficacy and reduced treatment induced toxicity. 
The patent also provides for the possibility of adding other Cytokines and/or Biological Modifiers in combination with IL-12 within 
the construct to further enhance efficacy. The technology could provide Medifocus a foundation based on which it can build a novel 
pipeline of heat-activated and tumor-targeted genetic and molecular therapeutics for the treatment of cancers and other diseases.  

History  

Our business was started by Dr. Augustine Cheung, our Chief Executive Officer, as an outgrowth of his academic interest 
and work in the field of microwave technology and the thermotherapy treatment of disease while he was a professor at the University 
of Maryland and George Washington University. In 1982, he founded A.Y. Cheung Associates Inc. to pursue this work. A.Y. Cheung 
Associates Inc. changed its name to Cheung Laboratories, Inc. in 1984, and Cheung Laboratories Inc. subsequently changed its name 
to Celsion Corporation (“Celsion”) in 1998.  
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At Celsion, Dr. Cheung and his team began developing technologies for the treatment of BPH and breast cancer using 
thermotherapy technology, leading to the development and commercialization of the Prolieve system for the treatment of BPH. In 
2007, Celsion sold the Prolieve system and technology to Boston Scientific Corporation (“Boston Scientific”) for $60 million. Dr. 
Cheung also began developing the APA 1000 system for the treatment of breast cancer. The rights to key elements of APA 1000 were 
licensed from MIT pursuant to an Exclusive Patent License Agreement (“Patent License Agreement”) dated October 24, 1997.  

In 2005 Celsion transferred all its interest in this license and other rights to APA 1000 to its wholly-owned subsidiary, 
Celsion (Canada) Limited (“Celsion Canada”). On January 16, 2006, Dr. Cheung resigned from Celsion’s board of directors and his 
position as Celsion’s Chief Scientific Officer, and purchased Celsion Canada for $20,000,000 (Canadian dollars). The purchase price 
was paid by issuing: (a) a personal $1.5 million promissory note; and (b) an $ 18.5 million royalty payable at the rate of 5% of the net 
sales on sales of products developed using APA technology, once such products become commercialized. The $1.5 million 
promissory note was secured by 1,508,050 shares of Celsion’s common stock. After Dr. Cheung’s default on payment of the 
promissory note, Celsion agreed in 2009 with Dr. Cheung to retain the 1,508,000 shares of Celsion’s common stock that it held as 
security in full satisfaction of the $1.5 million promissory note.  

Medifocus Inc. was incorporated on April 25, 2005 under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) as a CPC. Under 
Canadian law, a CPC is a newly created Canadian company having no assets, other than cash, which is permitted to conduct an initial 
public offering of its securities (“IPO”) and obtain a listing of its shares on the TSXV. A CPC may then uses the funds raised in the 
IPO to identify and evaluate assets or businesses which, when acquired, qualify the CPC for listing as a regular issuer on the TSXV.  

On June 29, 2006 Medifocus Inc., completed its IPO on the TSXV of 4,600,000 shares at a price of $0.20 (Canadian 
dollars) per share receiving gross proceeds of $920,000 (Canadian dollars). In order to gain improved access to funding, Medifocus 
Inc. engaged in a share exchange offer with Celsion Canada in 2008 pursuant to which Celsion Canada became a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Medifocus. Concurrently with the exchange offer, Medifocus completed a private placement of units, receiving gross 
proceeds of $2 million (Canadian dollars). In addition, Medifocus issued 903,112 shares to Celsion at a deemed value of $0.50 
(Canadian dollars) per share, in partial satisfaction of an approximate $600,000 (Canadian dollars) liability that was owed to Celsion. 
After the completion of the share exchange transaction, we continued our development of the APA 1000 technology for the treatment 
of breast cancer. Phase I and Phase II clinical trials were originally completed by Celsion. Subsequently, the Company received 
approvals from both the FDA and the Canadian Bureau of Medical Devices to conduct a pivotal Phase III breast cancer treatment 
study. We have begun the pivotal Phase III clinical trials but, such trials have been proceeding at a slow pace due to lack of 
funding. We plan to complete the pivotal Phase III trial when funding is available.  

The Patent License Agreement with MIT was amended on June 16, 2007. The amended agreement requires us to pay MIT 
a 5% royalty on the net sales of any products derived from APA 1000, and an annual maintenance fee of $50,000. MIT is entitled to 
receive royalties for so long as the patents relating to the APA technology are valid or the Patent License Agreement is terminated.  

On July 24, 2012 we acquired the Prolieve technology and related assets from Boston Scientific pursuant to an Asset 
Purchase Agreement dated June 25, 2012, amended on July 24, 2012 (the “Asset Purchase Agreement”). The purchase price was 
$3,662,115, of which $2,535,610 was paid on the closing of the transaction. Additionally, we entered into a contingent consideration 
arrangement under which we  
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will pay Boston Scientific up to $2,500,000, to be paid in quarterly installments at a rate of 10% of the sales of Prolieve products 
which is estimated to have contingent balance through March 31, 2018. Sales are defined as the gross amount invoiced for sales, 
distributions, licenses, leases, transfers, and other dispositions. At March 31, 2016, approximately $1,257,995 is due to Boston 
Scientific under the contingent consideration arrangement, of which $1,144,313 is past due.  

See the information contained in the subsection titled “Our Products” of the section titled “B. Business Overview,” below. 

  

As a medical technology company, all of our products marketed in the United States are regulated by the FDA. The FDA 
has established extensive rules, policies and procedures regarding the approval of new products and technologies for use in the United 
States. Generally, the FDA requires that a new technology undergo controlled human studies to determine safety and efficacy before 
the technology can be marketed and sold. Typically, such studies are conducted in three separate clinical trials, Phase I and Phase II 
to establish safety and efficacy on a modest sized sample, leading to a larger pivotal Phase III trial. We operate in a highly 
competitive environment, our business is speculative in nature, and we face substantial risks and challenges. Please refer to “Risk 
Factors” in “Item 3. Key Information.”  

Our Products  

Prolieve  

Our first commercial heat-based therapy system, Prolieve, is used to treat benign prostatic hyperplasia or “BPH.” BPH is a 
condition in which the prostate gland becomes enlarged and restricts the flow of urine through the urethra. Our clinical studies have 
shown that the treatment of this condition with the Prolieve system improves urine flow by decreasing the enlarged prostate’s 
pressure on the urethra through the heating, dilation and shrinking of the prostate tissue surrounding it. The BPH drug therapy market 
is estimated to be about $4 billion in major developed countries according to Decision Resources Group. This number does not 
include non-drug treatments and the patients who are on “Watchful Waiting” due to the side effects of some of the treatment options. 
While the market for minimally invasive BPH treatment is approximately $150 million according to Medtech Insight, we believe that 
Prolieve can be a viable alternative to drug therapy due to its safety and efficacy profiles and thus has the potential to increase the 
market for minimally invasive BPH treatment.  

What Is Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia?  

Millions of aging men experience symptoms resulting from BPH, a non-cancerous urological disease in which the prostate 
enlarges and constricts the urethra. The prostate is a walnut-sized gland surrounding the male urethra that produces seminal fluid and 
plays a key role in sperm preservation and transportation. The prostate frequently enlarges with age. As the prostate expands, it 
compresses or constricts the urethra, thereby restricting the normal passage of urine. This restriction may require a patient to exert 
excessive bladder pressure to urinate. Because urination is one of the body’s primary means of cleansing impurities, the inability to 
urinate adequately increases the possibility of infection and bladder and kidney damage.  
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B. Business overview. 



BPH Symptoms  

The symptoms of BPH usually involve problems with emptying the bladder or storing urine in the bladder. However, the 
severity of the symptoms can vary widely, from mild and barely noticeable to serious and disruptive. Common BPH symptoms 
include:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

In extreme cases, a man may be completely unable to urinate. In such situations, emergency medical attention is required.  

An enlarged prostate does not cause prostate cancer or directly affect sexual function. However, many men experience 
sexual dysfunction and BPH symptoms at the same time. This is due to aging and the common medical conditions older men often 
encounter, including vascular disease and diabetes. Because all of these conditions take place with aging, sexual dysfunction tends to 
be more pronounced in men with BPH.  

BPH Complications  

BPH is not a form of prostate cancer and does not lead to prostate cancer. Accordingly, BPH is not life-
threatening. However, as many men know, BPH may be lifestyle-threatening and can cause great discomfort, inconvenience, and 
awkwardness and complications such as:  
  

  

  

  

  

Prevalence of BPH and Market Opportunity  

BPH is an age-related disorder the incidence of which increases with maturation of the population. According to 
urologyhealth.org, by age 60, more than half of men have BPH. By age 85, about 90 percent of men have BPH. As the population 
continues to age and life expectancy increases, the prevalence of BPH can be expected to continue to increase.  

Treatment Alternatives for BPH  

Several types of treatments are available for enlarged prostate. They include medications, surgery and minimally invasive 
surgery. The best treatment choice for patients depends on several factors, including how much the symptoms bother them, the size of 
their prostate, other health conditions the patients may have, their age and preference. If symptoms are not severe, a patient may 
decide not to have treatment and wait to see whether their symptoms become more bothersome over time.  
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 •  Pushing or straining to begin urination; 

 •  A weak urinary stream; 

 •  Dribbling after urination; 

 •  A frequent need to urinate, sometimes every 2 hours or less; 

 •  A recurrent, sudden, or uncontrollable urge to urinate; 

 •  Feeling the bladder has not completely emptied after urination; 

 •  Pain during urination; and 

 •  Waking at night to urinate. 

 •  Acute urinary retention, which is a condition that results in a complete inability to urinate. A tube called a catheter may be 
needed to drain urine from the bladder. 

 •  Chronic urinary retention, which is a partial blockage of urine flow that causes urine to remain in the bladder. In rare cases, 
this may lead to kidney damage if it goes undiagnosed for too long. 

 •  Urinary tract infection, which can cause pain or burning during urination, foul-smelling urine, or fever and chills. 

 •  Other complications from BPH may include bladder stones or bladder infections. 

 •  Having BPH does not directly affect one’s sexual function. However, it is common for the symptoms of BPH and sexual 
dysfunction to occur at the same time. 



Watchful Waiting  

When a patient first develops symptoms caused by BPH, physicians generally prescribe drugs as the first treatment option, 
but usually leave the decision to their patients. Due to the low success rate, high costs, side effects and complications associated with 
BPH drug therapies, some patients diagnosed with BPH prefer to be regularly monitored by their doctors, but choose not to begin a 
drug therapy. The patients who opt out of therapy fall into a group referred to as “watchful waiting.” Often, BPH symptom 
persistence and worsening or an acute urinary event may force the patient to move on to some other form of therapy.  

Drug Therapy  

Medications are the most common treatment for moderate symptoms of prostate enlargement but if a patient stops taking 
medicine, the symptoms will usually return. Medications used to relieve symptoms of enlarged prostate include several different 
types of drugs, such as Alpha-Blockers (such as Flomax®) and Alpha Reductase Inhibitors (such as Proscar®). Drug therapy costs 
approximately $1,000 per year or more in the United States, must be maintained for life, and does not offer consistent relief to a large 
number of BPH patients. Many of the currently available BPH drugs also have appreciable side effects, such as: headache, fatigue, 
impotence, dizziness, and low blood pressure.  

Surgical Intervention  

Two of the primary surgical procedures to treat BPH are transurethral resection of the prostate (“TURP”) and laser 
procedures. TURP has traditionally been a common procedure for enlarged prostate for many years. It is a procedure in which the 
prostatic urethra and surrounding diseased tissue in the prostate are trimmed with a telescopic knife, thereby widening the urethral 
channel for urine flow. While the TURP procedure generally has been considered the most effective treatment available for the relief 
of BPH symptoms, the procedure has its shortcomings. In the first instance, TURP generally requires from one to three days of post-
operative hospitalization. In addition, a substantial percentage, approximately 5-10%, of patients who undergo TURP encounter 
significant complications, which can include painful urination, infection, impotence, incontinence, and excessive bleeding. Further, 
retrograde ejaculation, a condition in which semen released during ejaculation enters the bladder rather than exiting the penis, occurs 
in up to 90% of patients who undergo a TURP procedure, with a long-term side effect in up to 75% of such patients.  

Laser surgeries (also called laser therapies) use high-energy lasers to destroy or remove overgrown prostate tissue. Options 
for laser therapy depend on prostate size, the location of the overgrown areas. During prostate laser surgery, a combined visual scope 
and laser is inserted through the tip of the patient’s penis into the urethra, which is surrounded by the prostate. Using the laser, doctors
remove prostate tissue that are squeezing the urethra and blocking urine flow, thus making a new larger tube for urine to pass through. 
Lasers use concentrated light to generate precise and intense heat. Risks of laser surgery include: temporary difficulty urinating and 
post treatment catheterization, urinary tract infection, narrowing of the urethra as scars form, retrograde ejaculation, and erection 
problems.  

Accordingly, neither drug therapies nor the surgical alternatives appear to provide fully satisfactory, cost-effective treatment solutions 
for BPH sufferers.  
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Our Approach: The Prolieve Thermodilatation System  

The Prolieve Thermodilatation System was originally and primarily developed and commercialized by our current 
management, product development, clinical and regulatory teams. Such development occurred while such teams were employed at 
Celsion Corporation from 1997 to 2004, at an estimated cost of $20,000,000. Further, the development and commercialization 
occurred under the leadership of Dr. Augustine Cheung, who was Celsion’s president at the time. Dr. Cheung is currently our chief 
executive officer. As discussed above, Celsion sold the Prolieve system, technology and related assets to Boston Scientific 
Corporation in 2007 for $60 million.  

Prolieve is an in-office procedure that minimizes patient discomfort and the need for post-treatment catheterization. In a 
randomized one-year clinical trial, conducted at 14 centers across the United States, patients undergoing treatment with Prolieve 
achieved measurably greater improvement in symptoms after three months compared to a control group using a drug, Proscar, which 
is commonly prescribed to treat BPH condition. In June 2012, Medifocus reached an agreement with Boston Scientific for the 
purchase of all of the assets of its Prolieve business, including all Prolieve inventory, the mobile service distribution assets, as well as 
the intellectual property associated with the Prolieve technology.  

The purpose of the Prolieve system is to provide a relatively painless and effective alternative to drug therapy and certain 
types of surgical procedures to treat the symptoms of BPH. Prolieve is a minimally invasive treatment option for BPH. Unlike other 
microwave-based BPH treatments, Prolieve utilizes both microwave heat, delivered via a catheter, and proprietary balloon 
compression to both heat the prostate and dilate the prostatic urethra, and to shrink enlarged prostate tissue. The 45-minute Prolieve 
treatment is administered on an outpatient basis in a physician’s office and can be done with topical anesthesia only. We estimate that 
approximately 100,000 patients have been treated since the FDA PMA was granted. Many patients treated with Prolieve experience 
immediate symptom relief. Based upon a study conducted by Boston Scientific (the “Prolieve Study”), patients treated with the 
Prolieve system experienced a symptom reduction of 22% three days following treatment. Furthermore, most patients that undergo 
the Prolieve treatment do not require post-treatment catheterization. Based upon the Prolieve Study, 94% of patients that underwent 
the Prolieve treatment were catheter free immediately following the treatment, and 100% of such patients were catheter free after 
three days. Accordingly, we believe that patients that undergo the Prolieve treatment should be able to resume their normal activities 
shortly after the treatment.  

The Prolieve system is comprised of two components. The first component is a freestanding module that contains a 
microwave generator and computerized controls that regulates and monitors the delivery of heat to the enlarged prostate tissue. The 
second component is our proprietary disposable catheter that is attached to the module. This component contains an internal balloon 
that is inflated after it is inserted through the urethra to the point of constriction. Upon inflation of the balloon, the tissue is heated by 
microwaves delivered via the catheter, resulting in dilation of the urethra. Our computer system in the module monitors and regulates 
the heat being applied to ensure maximum safety and efficiency. The Prolieve system is covered by 55 core patents, which were 
acquired as part of the acquisition of the Prolieve assets from Boston Scientific Corporation in 2012.  

The combined effect of this “heat plus compression” therapy is twofold: first, the heat denatures the proteins in the wall of 
the urethra, causing a stiffening of the opening created by the inflated balloon, forming a biological stent. Second, the heat serves 
effectively to kill off prostate cells outside the wall of the urethra, thereby creating sufficient space for the enlarged natural opening. 
In addition, the Prolieve system’s temperature (46º C to 54º C) is sufficient to kill prostatic cells surrounding the urethra wall, thereby 
creating space for the enlargement of the urethra opening. However, the relatively low temperature is not sufficient to cause swelling 
in the urethra.  
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The Prolieve system is designed with patients’ needs and comfort in mind. In general, it does not require sedation or post-
operative catheterization and provides rapid symptomatic relief from BPH. BPH patients can be treated using Prolieve in urologic 
offices throughout the United States. In addition, the Prolieve treatment is also made available to physicians utilizing our nationwide 
mobile service.  

The Prolieve system is currently in use in the United States. Although it is generating revenue, (gross revenues of 
$4,534,940 for the year ended March 31, 2016) our Prolieve operations are not, and have never been profitable, and there can be no 
assurance that they will ever become profitable.  

Since acquiring the Prolieve assets from Boston Scientific Corporation in July 2012, we have been concentrating our 
corporate development efforts on developing these assets into a business. We are focusing on increasing sales from our installed base 
of systems, from our mobile service, and independent distributors. We increased the number of persons directly supporting our 
Prolieve operations from 8 in July 2012 to 16 at March 31, 2016. However, we reduced the Prolieve operation staff from 21 at March 
31, 2015 to 16 at March 16, 2016 to reduce our operating expenses. The Prolieve operations are currently supported by three 
management consultants, seven mobile technicians, one schedule coordinator, two persons responsible for regulatory compliance 
matters, and three engineering and support staff. In addition, the Company recently entered into distribution agreement with three 
independent distributors in certain territories in the U.S. and Puerto Rico.  

Boston Scientific Corporation had sold approximately 250 Prolieve systems and approximately 80,000 disposable catheter 
kits in the United States prior to Boston Scientific Corporation’s sale of the Prolieve assets to us in 2012. Our current business 
strategy is utilize social media, key opinion leaders and centers of excellence to increase the utility and market presence of Prolieve. 
In the U.S. market, we do not intend to actively market the Prolieve system itself but, rather, our strategy is to grow revenue through 
the direct sale of disposable catheter kits to physicians with Prolieve systems installed and, increasingly, through independent third 
party distributors and our mobile service, which eliminates physicians’ need to purchase, and learn how to operate, the Prolieve 
system. However, if U.S. or international customers choose to purchase the Prolieve system itself, we will accommodate such 
costumers’ needs to the best of our ability.  
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We currently have approximately 165 systems that were acquired as part of the Prolieve asset purchase from Boston 
Scientific Corporation. We do not currently have an agreement with a manufacturer for the production of additional Prolieve systems, 
although we believe that there are several qualified medical device contract manufacturers, including Sanmina, that are capable of 
manufacturing the system if our current inventory is depleted. At this time, 100% of our revenues come from the sales of our 
disposable catheters used in each treatment or the provision of mobile services that provide therapy using our disposable 
catheters. The disposable catheters are manufactured in Mexico by Lake Region Medical Center, formerly known as Accelent 
Corporation. We currently have an agreement with Lake Region Medical Center to supply these catheters, pursuant to which we order 
the number of catheters we estimate we will need for a 12-month period. We have no other source of catheters at the present 
time. Due to the complicated nature of these kits, as well as FDA manufacturing standards imposed on suppliers, the Company does 
not believe that an alternate supplier of catheters is readily available.  

In addition to the Prolieve technology, the installed base of Prolieve systems and related patents acquired from Boston 
Scientific Corporation, we also acquired a fleet of 15 vans, each equipped with two Prolieve systems. This mobile fleet allows us to 
provide Prolieve therapy to patients whose health care providers do not have access to one of our permanently installed systems. The 
mobile Prolieve system is identical to the permanently installed systems.      

Our mobile Prolieve systems are deployed by our dispatcher and scheduler upon the request of a physician. Our scheduler 
then coordinates the timing of the requested appointment with one of our medical technicians. On the day of the appointment, our 
medical technician arrives at the physician’s office and the Prolieve module is brought into the physician’s office. Under the 
physician’s supervision, a catheter is inserted into the urethra to the point of constriction, and the Prolieve treatment is administered 
by our medical technician under the physician’s supervision. In most cases, the patient’s symptoms are eliminated immediately and 
normal urination bladder function is restored.  

Competition  

There are several treatment options for BPH. The first is traditional surgery, known as trans-urethral resection procedure, 
or “TURP.” This surgery requires a hospital stay, sedation, and a post-operative recovery period. Further, we are aware that Urologix 
LLC offers minimally invasive, microwave-based, treatment with which we compete. Unlike the Urologix’ treatment, which solely 
utilizes heat, our Prolieve therapy combines heat and compression (via the inflated balloon). According to Medtech Insight, the 
surgical and minimally invasive treatment market for BPH is approximately $150 million in the U.S.  

However, the majority of BPH patients undergoing treatment today choose medical therapy instead of surgery. Pursuant to 
such medical therapy, patients take daily doses of medicine to shrink the prostate in order to improve function. These medicines are 
known to cause side effects, and must be taken daily to be effective. We believe our Prolieve treatment can be a viable alternative to 
drug therapy due the demonstrated efficacy and side effect profile      

Prescribed medicines for BPH treatment in major industrialized countries is currently believed to be approximately $4 
billion annually. These medicines are manufactured and sold by some of the world’s largest pharmaceutical companies, including Eli 
Lilly, Glaxo Smith Kline and Merck & Co. These companies market their drugs to physicians and directly to the public through 
television, radio, the internet and conventional print media. With the substantial investment made by these companies in  
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developing, commercializing and marketing these drugs, and the size of the BPH treatment market, these companies represent a 
significant competitive threat to our Prolieve therapy, and to our company. We are also aware that non-prescription herbal 
supplements promoted to relieve BPH symptoms are being aggressively marketed to the public; these products also compete with 
Prolieve.  

APA 1000  

Our second product, APA 1000, which is a minimally invasive breast cancer treatment, is developed, but has not been 
cleared by the FDA for commercial use. Both Phase I and Phase II clinical trials were completed by Celsion, establishing the 
system’s safety and efficacy on a limited scale. We have begun pivotal Phase III clinical trials, but have proceeded slowly in such 
trials because of insufficient funds. We are planning to complete the pivotal Phase III clinical trial of APA 1000 when we obtain 
adequate funding to do so. The Phase III clinical trial is designed to demonstrate that the combination of focused heat and neo-
adjuvant chemotherapy could shrink the size of the tumor 40% more over using chemotherapy alone. In the Phase II clinical trial, a 
50% increase in tumor size reduction using focused heat and neo-adjuvant chemotherapy was observed over using chemotherapy 
alone. In the Phase II trial, two heat treatments were applied while in the Phase III trial, three heat treatments are applied. We believe 
that, if the Phase III trial is successful, it will show that the combination of focused heat and neo-adjuvant chemotherapy could 
downsize a cancer tumor enough to allow a surgeon to perform a lumpectomy rather than a mastectomy, thereby preserving the 
affected breast.  

The APA 1000 system delivers heat precisely to breast tumors. While using heat to kill cancerous tumors has been 
considered effective for many years, heat therapy has not become a part of standard treatment for cancer because of the inability to 
safely apply it to tumors without damaging healthy tissue. When treating cancer, physicians seek to minimize damage to healthy 
tissue. It is our belief that the APA 1000 system precisely focuses microwave heat on diseased tissue, sparing adjacent tissue. 
Precision is achieved through the utilization of “Star Wars” technology that we have exclusively licensed from MIT and have adapted 
for medical use in our APA 1000 system.  

Adaptive Phased Array Technology Illustration  

Our current management team has been working with researchers at Massachusetts Institute of Technology (“MIT”) who 
had developed, originally for the U.S. Department of Defense, a microwave control technology known as “Adaptive Phased Array,” 
or “APA.” This technology permits properly designed microwave devices to focus and concentrate energy targeted at diseased tissue 
areas deep within the body and to heat them selectively, without adverse impact on surrounding healthy tissue. Since licensing the 
APA technology from MIT, our management team has been working together with Dr. Alan J. Fenn, the inventor of the patented 
technology. This collaboration has included technology transfer and technical/engineering assistance to develop and design our 
current APA Breast Cancer treatment device. In addition, Dr. Fenn has collaborated and advised the Company on the design of the 
clinical protocol, clinical study support, and device usage training of the current FDA breast cancer study, as well as assisting the 
Company in developing new clinical protocol and new treatment devices using the APA technology licensed from MIT.  

In the treatment of breast cancer, the APA technology applies the same principal used in MIT’s “Star Wars” program of 
detecting missiles.  
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APA 1000 Breast Cancer Treatment Illustration  
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 •  An RF needle probe inserted at tumor center provides feedback signal to focus microwave energy at tumor center to induce 
shrinkage without harming surrounding tissue. 

 •  Focused microwave energy (43-44°C) combined with chemotherapy achieves an average of 88% tumor size reduction in 
Phase II clinical trials. 



  

Treatment with APA 1000 may accomplish several objectives. First, we believe that it destroys many cancer cells, and 
substantially shrinks cancerous cells that are not destroyed. If tumors are shrunk small enough, a patient may not need to have the 
entire breast removed. Second, we believe that the application of APA 1000 heat therapy boosts the effectiveness of subsequent 
chemotherapy and radiation therapy.  

There can be no assurance that we will complete the pivotal Phase III clinical trial, or that the FDA will approve of the 
APA 1000 for sale in the United States. Even if the APA 1000 successfully completes the pivotal Phase III clinical trial and the FDA 
permits us to sell this system, there can be no assurance that it will be adopted by health care industry.  

As stated earlier, we are progressing at a very slow pace through Phase III clinical trials due to lack of funding, and are 
currently focusing our corporate activities and resources on expanding our Prolieve operations. We estimate that the cost of 
completing Phase III clinical trials will be approximately $7,500,000. We expect, subject to obtaining financing, to resume of the 
pivotal Phase III trial in the future. We previously negotiated arrangements with physicians and medical centers in the United States 
and Canada to conduct this trial. Because the pace of the trial has been slow, there can be no assurance that the persons and 
institutions with which we have previously made arrangements will be available to proceed on the same terms, or at all, when we are 
ready. In such event, we would then need to make alternative arrangements, of which there can be no assurance.  

Our Intellectual Property  

We have 55 core patents that cover our Prolieve system. These patents expire over several years, commencing in 
September 2021 and continuing until February 2029. We have 41 core patents that cover our APA 1000 system. We have also 
licensed 15 patents from MIT covering our APA 1000 system. Of the 15 patents licensed from MIT, five patents in foreign countries 
expired in November 2014. Our MIT and APA 1000 patents expire over a multi-year period, commencing June 2017, when one 
patent in the U.S. will expire, and ending when the final patents expire in January 2023. In total, we have over 100 patents and patents 
pending in the United States and in foreign jurisdictions.  
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Medifocus Holding Joint Venture  

On November 8, 2013, we entered into an agreement with Ideal Concept Group Limited (“Ideal Concept”) to develop our 
Prolieve business and APA technology in a geographic area referred to as “Asia Pacific” in the agreement (the “JV Agreement”). The 
countries comprising of Asia Pacific are not specified in the JV Agreement. Pursuant to the JV Agreement, Medifocus and Ideal 
Concept agreed to capitalize a company, Medifocus Holding Limited (“Medifocus Holding”), to develop this business. Medifocus 
Holding was incorporated in the British Virgin Islands on June 28, 2012.  

The JV Agreement states that, at the outset, Ideal Concept will own 60% of Medifocus Holding and we will own 40%. Through 
March 31, 2015, Medifocus Inc. has made total contributions to Medifocus Holding of approximately $214,735 in cash and Prolieve 
equipment. In addition to capital contributions, the shareholders are obligated to provide loans to the JV of up to HKD 4,000,000 (or 
approximately $520,000). Ideal Concept previously agreed, through November 8, 2014, to loan us the funds necessary to satisfy our 
portion of the required shareholder contributions to Medifocus Holding. Such loan would bear interest at 6% per year and be secured 
by our ownership interest in Medifocus Holding. No such loans were made to us by Ideal Concept and we did not make any further 
investments or loans in the joint venture. Pursuant to the terms of our joint venture, our equity ownership in Medifocus Holdings LLC 
had been reduced over the last two years and was eventually bought out by Ideal Concept in March 2016.  

Pursuant to the terms of the JV Agreement and a License and Distribution Agreement dated as of November 8, 2013, Medifocus 
Holding will engage in clinical testing, and obtaining approval from China Food and Drug Administration of the People’s Republic of 
China (“CFDA”) for all products relating to Prolieve and the APA technology. Medifocus Holding has been in communication with 
the CFDA and continues to evaluate the regulatory requirements for commercialization of Prolieve in China. There is no assurance 
that the CFDA will approve Prolieve for commercialization in China. Additionally, Medifocus Holding has been in discussions with 
several hospitals in China regarding conducting clinical testing. As of the date of this annual report, no clinical testing has begun in 
China. During fiscal 2016, Medifocus Holding entered into a distribution agreement with a South Korea-based distributor to market 
Prolieve in South Korea, subject to regulatory approvals from the South Korean government.  

Medifocus Holding is required to pay us a royalty of 5% of the first $10,000,000 in sales of the catheter kits and control 
units utilized in the Prolieve business. After $10,000,000 in sales has been reached, the royalty decreases to 3%. For all other products
we develop, Medifocus Holding is required to pay us a royalty of 7.5% on net sales of such products.  

  

Our only subsidiary is Celsion (Canada) Limited, a corporation organized under the laws of the Province of Ontario, 
Canada.  

  

Our main offices are located at 10240 Old Columbia Road, Suite G, Columbia, Maryland, 21040. We lease these premises, 
which comprise of 10,833 square feet of office and storage space. Our current annual rental is approximately $147,000 per year, 
which increases incrementally each year of the lease to approximately $150,000 in the final year of the lease. The lease expires on 
February 28, 2018. 
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C. Organizational structure. 

D. Property, plant and equipment. 



Not applicable.  

  

The following discussions should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes 
thereto included in this Annual Report on Form 20-F. The following discussion contains “forward-looking statements” made pursuant 
to the safe harbor provisions of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act and the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 
1995. These statements are based on our beliefs and expectations about future outcomes and are subject to risks and uncertainties that 
could cause actual results to differ materially from anticipated results. Forward-looking statements are typically identified by the use 
of terms such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “potential,” “predicts,” “anticipates,” “expects,” “intends,” “plans,” “believes,” “seeks,” 
“estimates,” or the negative of such terms and variations of these words and similar expressions. These statements are not guarantees 
of future performance and are subject to risks, uncertainties and other factors, some of which are beyond our control, are difficult to 
predict and could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or forecasted in the forward-looking statements.  

Factors that could cause or contribute to such differences include, without limitation, those described under Part I, “Item 
3.D. Risk Factors” appearing in this Annual Report on Form 20-F and factors described in other cautionary statements, cautionary 
language and risk factors set forth in other documents that we file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. We undertake no 
obligation to publicly update, except as required by law, any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise.  

Notwithstanding the above, Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, expressly state that the safe harbor for forward looking statements does not apply to companies 
that issue penny stocks. Accordingly, the safe harbor for forward looking statements under the PSLRA is not available to the 
Company because we are considered to be an issuer of penny stock.  

Unless otherwise noted, all references to “$” or “dollar” refer to the United States dollar, the Company’s reporting and 
functional currency. Prior to fiscal year 2015, the functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries was the Canadian dollar.  

Overview and Background  

The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on April 25, 2005. The Company is listed 
in Canada on the TSX Venture Exchange Inc. (the “Exchange”) under the symbol “MFS” and in the United States on the OTC QX 
market under the symbol “MDFZF”.  

On January 16, 2006, the Company’s wholly-owned subsidiary Celsion Canada Inc. purchased from Celsion Corporation 
(USA) all of the assets relating to the Microfocus APA 1000 Breast Cancer Treatment System (“APA 1000”), consisting of the 
microwave machine, the adaptive phased array (“APA”) technology licensed from the Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
(“MIT”), and all related intellectual and regulatory property (collectively, the “Business”). The Company has a commitment to pay a 
5% royalty on the net sales of products sold by and patent royalties received by the Company and its successors and assignees, the 
royalty not to exceed $18,500,000. Royalties will not be payable until the APA 1000 can be commercialized following successful 
completion of the pivotal clinical trial and receipt of marketing approval in the United States from the United States Food and Drug 
Administration (the “FDA”) and in Canada from Health Canada. The Company will expense the royalties as paid.  
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Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments. 

Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects. 



The Company currently owns three technology platforms with over 100 U.S. and international patents:  
  

  

  

On July 24, 2012, the Company acquired the Prolieve Thermodilatation System technology (“Prolieve”) and related 
business assets from Boston Scientific Corporation (“BSC”) through an asset purchase agreement. Prolieve is a U.S. FDA approved 
device for the treatment of enlarged prostate, medically known as Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia (“BPH”). The total purchase price for 
the transaction was approximately $3.7 million of which $2.5 million was paid on the closing of the transaction. The balance consists 
of up to $2.5 million in contingent consideration that will be paid in quarterly installments at a rate of 10% of Medifocus’ Prolieve 
sales. As a result of this acquisition, the Company acquired a revenue-generating heat technology that was successfully engineered 
and developed by the same management team that now operates Medifocus.  
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1. The Endo-thermotherapy Platform is a catheter-based focused heat technology platform that utilizes natural body openings 
to deliver precise microwave thermotherapy to the diseased sites. The Prolieve Thermodilatation System for the treatment 
of BPH was developed based on the Endo-thermotherapy Platform. The same platform can potentially be used to treat 
cancers in prostate, rectum, cervix and esophagus. 

 

2. The Adaptive Phased Array Microwave Focusing Platform-invented by MIT and licensed to Medifocus, directs precisely 
focused microwave energy at tumor center to induce shrinkage or eradication of tumors without undue harm to 
surrounding tissue. The APA technology was originally developed by MIT for military applications in the U.S. Department 
of Defense’ “Star Wars Program” to focus microwave energy on missiles, in order to detect and destroy them. The APA 
technology has been licensed exclusively to Medifocus for medical applications. The Company’s APA 1000 Breast Cancer 
Treatment System, developed from the APA technology platform, has received approval from the U.S. FDA and Health 
Canada to conduct the pivotal Phase III clinical trials. The APA Microwave Focusing Platform can provide the design 
basis for future focused heat cancer treatment systems for surface, subsurface and deep seated localized and regional 
cancers, such as lung and liver cancers. The progress of pivotal Phase III clinical trials has been very slow due to the lack 
of financial resources. 

 

3. The Heat-Activated and Tumor-Targeted Immunotherapy and Gene Therapy Technology-a patent exclusively licensed 
from Duke University for the development of heat-activated and tumor-targeted immunotherapy and gene therapy for the 
treatment of cancers and other diseases. The technology, described in the agreement as a “method for selective expression 
of therapeutic genes in cancer cells by hyperthermia,” provides the design basis for an adenoviral gene delivery construct 
that releases IL-12 upon activation by the temperature rise caused by focused thermotherapy. Temperature activation of 
pre-engineered adenovirus carrying the therapeutic genes injected intratumorally allows maximal release of the IL-12 
therapeutics. Such spatial and temporal control of gene expression leads to enhanced efficacy and reduced treatment 
induced toxicity. The patent also provides for the possibility of adding other Cytokines and/or Biological Modifiers in 
combination with IL-12 within the construct to further enhance efficacy. The technology could provide Medifocus a 
foundation based on which it can build a novel pipeline of heat-activated and tumor-targeted genetic and molecular 
therapeutics for the treatment of cancers and other diseases. Currently we do not have the financial resources to initiate the 
research and development of the Duke technology. 



Financial Condition  

Our future capital requirements will depend upon numerous unpredictable factors, including, without limitation,  
  

  

  

  

Our operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties including, among others, current and potential competitors 
with greater resources, dependence on significant customers, lack of operating history and uncertainty of future profitability and 
possible fluctuations in financial results. Since inception, the Company has incurred substantial operating losses, principally from 
expenses associated with the Company’s research and development programs. The Company believes these expenditures are essential 
for the commercialization of its technologies. The Company expects its operating losses to continue for the foreseeable future as it 
continues its product development efforts, and when it undertakes sales and marketing activities. The Company’s ability to achieve 
profitability is dependent upon its ability to obtain governmental approvals, produce, and market and sell its new product candidates. 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to commercialize its technology successfully or that profitability will ever 
be achieved. The operating results of the Company have fluctuated significantly in the past. The Company expects that its operating 
results will fluctuate significantly in the future and will depend on a number of factors, many of which are outside the Company’s 
control.  

In 2012 and 2013 we raised significant capital from equity and debt financings. During the fiscal year ended March 31, 
2012, we received approximately $0.3 million of gross proceeds from the sale of 1,000,000 shares of our common stock.  

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2013, we received approximately $11.2 million of gross proceeds from the sale of 
75,821,055 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase 75,821,055 shares of our common stock. The net proceeds from the 
offering were primarily used to fund the purchase of the Prolieve assets from BSC and the subsequent costs for Prolieve operations 
and for general corporate purposes, including research and development activities, capital expenditures, repayment of debt and 
working capital. 

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2014, the Company raised gross proceeds of $5.6 million from the sale of 
convertible redeemable promissory notes and warrants (the “Units”). Each Unit consists of (i) a $10,000 face value convertible 
redeemable promissory note, bearing 8% annual interest and due in three years (“Note”), which is convertible into shares of common 
stock beginning six months after the Closing Date of the offering at a conversion price of $0.25 per share, and (ii) three-year warrants 
to purchase 20,000 shares of common stock at a price of $0.30 per Share. The net proceeds from the offering is to be used for 
Prolieve operations and for general corporate purposes, including research and development activities, capital expenditures, 
repayment of debt and working capital.  

Our $0.43 million promissory note made to a lender in July 2012 and the accrued but unpaid interest thereon, was 
originally due October 23, 2103. The lender previously extended the due date of this promissory note to June 30, 2014 and we are 
currently in discussion with the lender to negotiate an extension of the maturity date.  

For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015, the Company raised approximately $1.6 million from the sale of common stock 
and warrants (the “Units”). Each Unit was priced at $0.16 and consists of one Share, and a detachable stock purchase warrant to 
purchase one Share at $0.25 per share. The Company  
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 •  the revenue generated by Prolieve, 

 •  the cost, timing and outcomes of clinical studies and regulatory reviews of our products, 

 •  our efforts to implement new collaborations, licenses and strategic transactions, and 

 •  our ability to manage general and administrative expenses, capital expenditures and other uses of cash. 



received gross proceeds prior to March 31, 2015 for common shares in the amount of $1,705,000 for future shares to be issued 
pursuant to a private placement offering. In May 2015, the Company issued 38,750,000 shares of common stock at the price of 
$0.044 per share for the $1,705,000 received.  

For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2016, the Company raised gross proceeds of $775,000 from the sale of common stock 
and warrants (the “Units”). Each Unit was priced at $10,000 and consists of 200,000 Shares, and a detachable stock purchase warrant 
to purchase 100,000 Shares at $0.10 per share.  

The Company will need substantial additional funding in order to complete the development, testing and 
commercialization of its product candidates. The commitment to these projects will require additional external funding, at least until 
the Company is able to generate sufficient cash flow from sale of one or more of its products to support its continued operations. If 
adequate funding is not available, the Company may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate certain aspects of its operations or 
attempt to obtain funds through unfavorable arrangements with partners or others that may force it to relinquish rights to certain of its 
technologies, products or potential markets or that could impose onerous financial or other terms. Furthermore, if the Company 
cannot fund its ongoing development and other operating requirements, particularly those associated with its obligations to conduct 
clinical trials under its licensing agreements, it will be in breach of these licensing agreements and could therefore lose its license 
rights, which could have material adverse effects on its business. Management is continuing its efforts to obtain additional funds so 
that the Company can meet its obligations and sustain operations.  

We do not have any committed sources of financing and cannot give assurance that alternate funding will be available in a 
timely manner, on acceptable terms or at all. We may need to pursue dilutive equity financings, such as the issuance of shares of 
common stock, convertible debt or other equity-linked securities, which financings could dilute the percentage ownership of our 
current common stockholders and could significantly lower the market value of our common stock. 

Our cash and cash equivalents of approximately $114,000 on hand at March 31, 2016 are not sufficient to fund operations 
through our fiscal year ending March 31, 2017. We will need to raise substantial additional capital in the near future to fund our 
future operations beyond our fiscal year ending March 31, 2016, and we anticipate that such financing transactions will likely be 
dilutive to our current shareholders. If we are not able to raise additional capital, we will need to take measures to further reduce our 
operating costs, including further reducing our staff, curtailing our research and development efforts and our clinical trials, and 
reducing the costs we plan spend to grow our Prolieve business. As such, we would not be able to achieve the growth of the Prolieve 
business, complete the development, testing and commercialization of our product candidates. 

Critical Accounting Policies  

A “critical accounting policy” is one that is both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results of 
operations and that requires management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments. Such judgments are often the result of a 
need to make estimates about the effect of matters that are inherently uncertain. The preparation of our financial statements in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ 
materially from those estimates.  

A summary of our critical accounting policies, including those that require the use of significant estimates and judgment, follows. A 
more comprehensive description of all of our significant accounting policies is contained in Note 1 to our consolidated financial 
statements.  
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Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the financial statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements, estimates are used for, but not limited to, the expected economic life and value of our licensed 
technology, allowance for doubtful accounts, value of contingent consideration, value of our debt issuances, accruals for estimated 
product returns, warrant relative fair value calculation, allowance for inventory obsolescence, allowance for our net operating loss 
carry forward and related valuation allowance for tax purposes and our stock-based compensation related to employees and directors, 
consultants and advisors.. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

Revenue Recognition  

The Company sells products that are used in the treatment of Benign Prostate Hyperplasia. The Company recognizes 
revenue, net of sales taxes, from the sale of Prolieve consoles and catheters upon shipment delivery to the customer. Revenue from 
the sale of products is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of estimated returns. Revenue from 
the mobile service is recognized upon completion of the services, which is generally upon treatment of the patient. 

The Company does not have a return policy that allows customers to return product, however the company has allowed 
returns on a limited customer by customer basis. The Company’s estimate for returns is based upon its historical experience with 
actual returns. While such experience has allowed for reasonable estimation in the past, history may not always be an accurate 
indicator of future returns. The Company continually monitors its estimates for returns and makes adjustments when it believes that 
actual product returns may differ from the established accruals. We record a provision for estimated returns in the same period as the 
related revenue is recorded. The provision for estimated sales returns is based on historical sales returns, analysis of credit memo data 
and specific customer-based circumstances. 

Inventory  

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market and consists primarily of console units and single-use treatment 
catheters. Current inventory of catheters consists of the direct costs of acquiring the inventory from vendors. Non-current inventory of 
console units, which were originally held for sale, were classified as property & equipment during the year ended March 31, 2016 as 
the Company began using the console units in operations. The carrying amount was adjusted prior to the transfer of the asset for any 
depreciation expense that would have been recognized had the asset been classified as held for sale. The Company recognized a loss 
on impairment of long-lived assets in other income (expense) of the statement of operations and comprehensive loss in the amount of 
$99,020, during the year ended March 31, 2016, related to transaction.  

Inventory is relieved using the first-in, first-out method.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

Compensation costs for all stock-based awards is measured at fair value on the date of the grant using an option pricing 
model and is recognized over the service period for awards expected to vest. The estimation of stock-based awards that will 
ultimately vest requires judgment, and to the extent actual results or updated estimates differ from the current estimates, such amounts 
will be recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period estimates are revised. We consider many factors when estimating expected 
forfeitures, including types of awards, employee class, and historical experience.  
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Research and Development Expenses  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 

Contingent Consideration  

In accordance with ASC 805, upon the purchase of Prolieve, the Company recognized a contingent consideration 
obligation as part of the consideration transferred in exchange for the acquired business. The initial measurement of the contingent 
consideration obligation was based on its estimated fair value. The contingent consideration obligation has been remeasured to fair 
value at each reporting date and will continue to be remeasured until the contingency is resolved. The changes in fair value are 
recognized in earnings. The contingent consideration obligation outstanding totaled $758,953 and $1,031,179 as of March 31, 2016 
and 2015, respectively.  

Intangible Assets  

Intangible assets consist of intellectual property and customer relationships for our Prolieve business acquired in July 2012. 
These intangible assets were originally recorded at fair value and are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful 
lives of 10 years. The Company reviews its intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable, in a manner similar to that for property and equipment.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

None of the accounting pronouncements we were required to or otherwise adopted in any of the periods contained in this 
report had a material impact on our results of operations, financial condition or cash flows. Additionally, we are evaluating all issued 
and unadopted Accounting Standards Updates and believe the adoption of these standards also will not have a material impact on our 
results of operations, financial position, or cash flows.  
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Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2016 and 2015  

The table below summarizes our results of operations for fiscal year ended March 31, 2016 and fiscal year ended March 
31, 2015. Comparative numbers have been restated to conform to the presentation adopted in the current year.  
  

Sales  

The Company’s revenue from the sale of its Prolieve system products and services increased from $4,219,459 in fiscal 
year 2015 to $4,534,940 in fiscal year 2016. Product sales during the years ending March 31, 2016 and 2015 consisted solely of 
single-use catheters. The increase of total sales for the year ended March 31, 2016 is due to a slight increase in customer base, in 
which the company expects continued increases of approximately 5% per year, as the company obtains increased market presence.  

Costs of Good Sold, Costs of Services and Gross Profit  

The costs of sales for products primarily include the cost of products sold to customers on a first-in first-out basis, along 
with amortization expense of our Prolieve intellectual property, warranty costs, warehousing costs, freight and handling 
charges. Costs of sales for services consist primarily of the costs to provide mobile services to our patients, including depreciation of 
our mobile consoles and vehicle fleet, and payroll and benefit costs.  

Costs of goods sold as a percentage of product sales was 50% in fiscal year 2016 as compared to 55% in fiscal year 2015, 
and costs of services as a percentage of services sales was 82% in fiscal year 2016 as compared to 99% in fiscal year 2015. As a 
result, total gross profit increased, from $563,988 in fiscal year 2015 to a gross profit of $1,278,062 in fiscal year 2016. The gross 
profit related to our services increased as fixed amortization expense of our mobile consoles and vehicle fleet had a lesser 
impact. Additionally, the Company has become more efficient with the operations of services. We anticipate that as our sales 
continue to grow, margins on both product sales and services will become positive as the effect of fixed charges have a relative lesser 
impact on total margin.  
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 A. Operating Results 

  Year ended March 31,  
  2016   2015  
Sales    

Products  $ 1,431,621    $ 1,212,224  
Services  3,103,319     3,007,235  

            

Total Sales  4,534,940     4,219,459  
            

Costs of Sales    
Products  710,620     665,382  
Services  2,546,258     2,990,089  

            

Total Costs of Sales  3,256,878     3,655,471  
            

Gross Profit  1,278,062     563,988  
             

Operating Expenses    
Research and development  626,285     399,212  
Sales and marketing  1,140,029     1,549,460  
General and administrative  2,728,553     2,703,301  

            

Total Operating Expenses  4,494,867     4,651,973  
            

Loss from Operations  (3,216,805)    (4,087,985) 
            

Other Income (Expense)    
Net gain (loss) from equity method investment  100,000     (55,735) 
Recognition of accumulated currency translation Adjustment  —     (203,533) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)  10,216     21,366  
Loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration  (154,137)    (280,296) 
Loss from impairment of long-lived assets  (99,020)    —   
Loss from harmonized sales tax receivable  (208,138)    —    
Interest and discount accretion  (1,393,665)    (1,365,267) 

        

Total Other Income (Expense)  (1,744,744)    (1,883,485) 
            

Net Loss  $(4,961,549)   $(5,971,470) 



Net Loss  

Our net loss in fiscal year 2016 of $4,961,549 decreased 13.5% from our net loss of $5,971,470 in fiscal year 2015. The 
decrease is primarily the result of our increased gross profit and slight decreases in operating expenses and other income (expenses), 
as discussed below.  

Research and Development Expenses  

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2016, the Company incurred research and development expenses of $626,825, a 57% 
increase from the $399,212 for the same period in 2015, primarily due to the expenses associated with the redesign of Prolieve 
consoles. Research and development expenses also consist of costs incurred with respect to the Prolieve post-marketing study, as well 
as costs related the Phase III clinical study for our APA 1000 Breast Cancer System,  

Sales and Marketing Expenses  

Sales and marketing expenses include the costs of our sales force (including labor, travel, stock-based compensation, and 
other direct marketing expenses) for Prolieve. 

Sales and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2016 was $1,140,029, a decrease of 26% from 2015 expenses of 
$1,549,460. The decrease is primarily the result of the Company’s continued efforts to reduce costs, due to the limited cash resources 
available during the year, by eliminating certain sales positions and scaling back marketing activities and travel expenses.  

General and Administrative Expenses  

General and administrative expenses in fiscal year 2016 increased 1% to $2,728,553, from the fiscal year 2015 expenses of 
$2,703,301, as the Company incurred increased costs for stock based compensation offset by decreased salaries and other general and 
administrative costs.  

Other Income (Expenses)  

During the year ended March 31, 2016, other income (expenses) consisted of gain (loss) from our equity method 
investments, changes in the fair value of contingent consideration, foreign currency gain (loss), losses on impairment of long-lived 
assets, losses on write-off of harmonized tax receivable and interest and accretion expenses. Total other income (expense) of 
($1,744,744) in FY 2016 reflects a decrease from our total other income (expense) of ($1,883,485) in FY 2015 primarily as a result of 
our gain in equity investment, decrease in our loss in the fair value of contingent consideration offset by a losses on the impairment of 
long-lived assets and write-off of HST receivables in FY 2016. Additionally in FY 2015, there was recognition of accumulated 
currency translation losses which did not occur in FY 2016. There were no significant changes in foreign currency gain (loss) and 
interest and accretion expenses during the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015.  
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Comparison of Fiscal Years Ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 

The table below summarizes our results of operations for fiscal year ended March 31, 2015 and fiscal year ended March 
31, 2014:  
  

Sales  

The Company’s revenue from the sale of its Prolieve system products and services decreased from $5,116,506 in fiscal 
year 2014 to $4,219,459 in fiscal year 2015. Product sales in 2015 and 2014 consisted solely of single-use catheters. The decrease of 
18% was due to a significant decrease in product revenue offset by increased services revenue, as a result of our restructuring of the 
Prolieve operation initiated in August 2014.  

We anticipate that sales of Prolieve products and service will increase in fiscal year 2016 as a result of our continuing 
efforts to sell our single-use catheters product and services across the U.S. While we expect single-use catheter product sales to 
increase in 2016 over the 2015 levels, we expect sales of our mobile services to continue to increase at a somewhat higher rate. 

Costs of Good Sold, Costs of Services and Gross Profit  

The costs of sales for products primarily include the cost of products sold to customers on a first-in first-out basis, along 
with amortization expense of our Prolieve intellectual property, warranty costs, warehousing costs, freight and handling 
charges. Warehousing costs include payroll and benefit costs, including related stock-based compensation expense. Costs of sales for 
services consist primarily of the costs to provide mobile services to our patients, including depreciation of our mobile consoles and 
vehicle fleet, and payroll and benefit costs, including related stock-based compensation expense.  

Costs of goods sold as a percentage of product sales was 55% in 2015 as compared to 43% in 2014, and costs of services 
as a percentage of services sales was 99% in 2015 as compared to 99% in 2014. As a result, total gross profit decreased from 
$1,567,408 in fiscal year 2014 to $563,988 in fiscal year 2015. The gross profit related to our sales decreased as fixed amortization 
expense of our intangible assets had a greater impact. We anticipate that as our sales continue to grow, margins on both product sales 
and services will become positive as the effect of fixed charges have a relative lesser impact on total margin.  
  

36 

  Year ended March 31,  
  2015   2014  
Sales    

Products  $ 1,212,224    $ 2,704,593  
Services  3,007,235     2,411,913  

        

Total Sales  4,219,459     5,116,506  
        

Costs of Sales    
Products  665,382     1,167,493  
Services  2,990,089     2,381,605  

            

Total Costs of Sales  3,655,471     3,549,098  
            

Gross Profit  563,988     1,567,408  
            

Operating Expenses    
Research and development  399,212     472,810  
Sales and marketing  1,549,460     2,122,203  
General and administrative  2,703,301     3,859,202  

             

Total Operating Expenses  4,651,973     6,454,215  
            

Loss from Operations  (4,087,985)    (4,886,807) 
            

Total Other Income (Expense)  (1,883,485)    (1,106,090) 
        

Net Loss  $(5,971,470)   $(5,992,897) 



Net Loss  

Our net loss of $5,971,470 decreased slightly from our net loss of $5,992,897 in 2014. The company had significant 
decreases in gross profit due to increased service revenue, which has a lower gross profit percentage, offset by a significant decrease 
in our operating expenses from $6,454,215 in fiscal year 2014 to $4,651,973 for fiscal year 2015 which was mainly due to decreases 
in general administrative and sales and marketing expenses.      

Research and Development Expenses  

For the fiscal year ended March 31, 2015, the Company incurred research and development expenses of $399,212, a 16% 
decrease from the $472,810 for the same period in 2014. Research and development expenses for both periods consisted primarily of 
costs incurred with respect to the Phase III clinical study for our APA 1000 Breast Cancer System, as well as costs related to the 
Prolieve post-marketing study.  

Sales and Marketing Expenses  

Sales and marketing expenses include the costs of our sales force (including labor, travel, stock-based compensation, and 
other direct marketing expenses) for Prolieve. 

Sales and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2015 were $1,549,460, a decrease of 27% from 2014 expenses of 
$2,122,203. The decrease is primarily the result of the Company’s efforts to reduce costs due to the limited cash resources available 
during the year by eliminating certain sales positions and scaling back marketing activities and travel expenses. 

General and Administrative Expenses  

General and administrative expenses in fiscal year 2015 decreased 30% to $2,703,301, from 2014 expenses of $3,859,202, 
as there was a decrease in legal and accounting fees, corporate salaries and related benefits and consultant fees as the company 
focused on operating more efficiently. Further, our expenses associated with legal, accounting and consulting fees were abnormally 
high in fiscal year 2014 because the company was going through the process of initial registration under the Exchange Act. The 
company continues to monitor operating costs and our efforts to the Prolieve business more efficiently. 

Other Income (Expenses)  

Other income (expenses) consists of interest expense, losses from our equity method investments, foreign exchange loss 
and changes in the fair value of contingent consideration related to our Prolieve acquisition. Total other income (expense) of 
($1,883,485) in 2015 reflects a significant increase from our total other income (expense) of ($1,160,090) in 2014 primarily as a 
result of an increase in interest and accretion costs related to our convertible debt offset by a decrease in the loss from the change in 
the fair value of the contingent consideration of $425,059.      
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The Company’s primary cash requirements are to fund operations, including research and development programs and 
collaborations, and to support general and administrative activities. The Company’s future capital requirements will depend on many 
factors, including, but not limited to:  
  

  

  

  

In December 2013, the Company raised gross proceeds of $3.6 million from the sale of convertible redeemable promissory 
notes and warrants (the “Units”). Each Unit consists of (i) a $10,000 face value convertible redeemable promissory note, bearing 8% 
annual interest and due in three years (“Note”), which is convertible into shares of common stock beginning six months after the 
Closing Date of the offering at a conversion price of $0.25 per share, and (ii) three-year warrants to purchase 20,000 shares of 
common stock at a price of $0.30 per Share. The net proceeds from the offering is to be used for Prolieve operations and for general 
corporate purposes, including research and development activities, capital expenditures, repayment of debt and working capital.  

In a second closing in March 2014, the Company issued 200 additional Units to the investors, receiving gross proceeds of 
$2,000,000. The additional notes are convertible into 8,000,000 shares of common stock. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire 
20,000 common shares (for a total of 4,000,000 common shares) at an exercise price of $0.30 per share and expire on December 18, 
2016. The warrants were classified as equity and were recorded as additional paid in capital at their estimated fair value of $572,999.  

Our $0.43 million unsecured promissory note made to a lender in July 2012 (included in our contractual obligations table 
on page 42) and the accrued but unpaid interest of $CAD 0.2 million as of December 31, 2013, was originally due October 23, 
2013. The lender has extended the due date of this promissory note to June 30, 2014 and we are currently in discussion with the 
lender to negotiate a payment plan for this note. Subsequent to March 31, 2015 we have made no principal and interest payments to 
the lender and are currently in negotiations with the lender regarding the extension of the due date. If such negotiations fail, the lender 
may declare all amounts due and payable immediately. The lender would not have a right to seize any of the Company’s assets 
because the promissory note is unsecured. Further, if the lender were to retain counsel or initiate litigation to enforce its rights and 
interests under the promissory note, the Company would be required to pay all reasonable costs and expenses of the lender.  

In the fiscal year ending March 31, 2015, the Company raised approximately $1.6 million from the sale of Units. Each 
Unit was priced at $0.16 and consists of one Share, and a detachable stock purchase warrant to purchase one Share at $0.25 per share.

The company also received funds prior to March 31, 2015 for common shares in the amount of $1,705,000 for future 
shares to be issued. On May 12, 2015, the company issued 38,750,000 common shares at a price of $0.044 per common share for 
gross proceeds of $ 1,705,000 as part of this transaction.  

For the fiscal year ending March 31, 2016, the Company received gross proceeds of $775,000 from the sale of common 
stock and warrants (the “Units”). Each Unit was priced at $10,000 and consists of 200,000 Shares, and a detachable stock purchase 
warrant to purchase 100,000 Shares at $0.10 per share.  
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B. Liquidity and Capital Resources

 •  sales of the Company’s Prolieve products and services; 

 •  pricing and payment terms with customers; 

 •  costs of the disposable catheter kits and payment terms with suppliers; and 

 •  capital expenditures and equipment purchases to support product launches 



The Company extends credit to customers on an unsecured basis and payment terms are typical 30 days from delivery or 
service. The Company’s receivables have increased significantly since its acquisition of Prolieve in July 2012 as a result of increasing 
sales of Prolieve products and services. Management assesses the collectability of its receivables based on a periodic customer-by-
customer analysis, considering historical collection experience as well as customer-specific conditions; when a specific customer 
account is determined to be uncollectible the Company provides an allowance equal to the estimated uncollectible amounts. 
Receivables are written off when it is determined that amounts are uncollectible. The Company established an allowance for doubtful 
accounts of approximately $78,000 and $74,000 as of March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  

Our cash and cash equivalents of approximately $114,000 on hand at March 31, 2016 are not sufficient to fund operations 
through our fiscal year ending March 31, 2017. We estimate that the external funding requirement for the next 12 months will be at 
least $1.5 million to maintain the Prolieve business in the U.S. and the essential corporate activities. We will suspend the APA 1000’s 
Phase III clinical trials and the research and development activities in the heat-activated immunotherapy business unless we could 
secure funding specifically allocated for such purposes. If we are not able to raise additional capital, we will need to take certain 
measures to further reduce our operating costs, including reducing our staff, curtailing our research and development efforts and our 
clinical trials, and reducing the costs we plan to spend to operate our Prolieve business. As such, we would not be able to achieve the 
growth of the Prolieve business, complete the development, testing and commercialization of our product candidates. If adequate 
funding is not available, the Company will delay, scale back or eliminate certain aspects of its operations or attempt to obtain funds 
through unfavorable arrangements with partners or others that may force it to relinquish rights to certain of its technologies, products 
or potential markets or that could impose onerous financial or other terms. The Management is continuing its efforts to obtain 
additional funds so that the Company can meet its obligations and sustain operations.  

We do not have any committed sources of financing and cannot give assurance that alternate funding will be available in a 
timely manner, on acceptable terms or at all. We may need to pursue dilutive equity financings, such as the issuance of shares of 
common stock, convertible debt or other equity-linked securities, which financings could dilute the percentage ownership of our 
current common stockholders and could significantly lower the market value of our common stock.  

Net Cash Used In/Provided By Operations  

Net cash used in operating activities was $1,937,326 for the year ended March 31, 2016 compared to $2,821,240 during 
the same period in 2015. The reduction in the use of cash of approximately $883,914 is primarily due to the reduction in net loss, cash 
received from our accounts receivable, a reduction in our inventory levels and an increase in our non-cash expenses offset by a 
decrease in our accounts payable balances.  

Net cash used in operating activities was $2,821,240 for the year ended March 31, 2015 compared to $5,461,991 during 
the same period in 2014. The reduction in the use of cash of approximately $2,640,751 is primarily due to the cash received from our 
accounts receivable, a reduction in our inventory levels and an increase in our non-cash expenses offset by a decrease in our accounts 
payable balances.  

Net Cash Provided by/Used in Investing Activities  

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended March 31, 2016 was due to the sale of the company investment 
which was previously written off. During the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 the company purchased property and equipment 
in the amount of approximately $64,000 and $45,000, respectively.  
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Net cash used in investing activities for the year ended March 31, 2015 was limited to purchases of property and 
equipment in the amount of approximately $45,000.  

Net Cash Used in/Provided by Financing Activities  

Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $713,000 for the year ended March 31, 2016, compared to 
$2,826,786 in 2015. The company had decreases in financing activities during the year ending March 31, 2016, due the timing of 
when the funding was received. The decrease was offset as there were payments on the note payable during the year ending March 
31, 2015 and there were no payments in 2016.  

Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $2,826,786 for the year ended March 31, 2015, compared to 
$5,540,000 for the year ended March 31, 2014. The higher amount during the year ended March 31, 2014, is due to the convertible 
note issuance which occurred at the end of the fiscal year.  

  

For the fiscal years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, the Company incurred research and development expenses of 
$626,285, $399,212 and $472,810, respectively. Research and development expenses include pre-market approval fees and other fees 
payable to the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), the costs of implementing a Quality Management System (“QMS”) system 
which has passed FDA audit, the costs of our technology transfer and post-marketing study related to our Prolieve product, as well as 
the costs incurred with respect to the Phase III clinical study for our APA 1000 Breast Cancer System. In fiscal year 2016, the 
Company incurred expense for the development of new Prolieve consoles.  

  

As a result of our acquisition of the Prolieve business in July 2012, for the first time in 2013 we had revenues and costs of 
sales and those sales increased significantly in 2014. We anticipate that sales of Prolieve products and service will increase over the 
next few years as a result of our continuing efforts to sell our products and services across the U.S. While we expect product sales to 
increase in 2016 over 2015 levels, we expect sales of our mobile services to decrease somewhat as we are using more independent 
third party distributors in certain territories. 

We face significant competition from competitors with different approaches to treating BPH. In order to continue to grow 
our business and sales, our potential customers (primarily individual doctors and group medical practices) will need to embrace our 
technology and in some cases switch from competitors’ products and services. There can be no assurance that our potential customers 
will be able or willing to embrace our products and services at the cost acceptable to us, and that we will be able to continue or grow 
our business and sales.  

We anticipate that as our sales continue to grow modestly, margins on both product sales and services will increase as the 
effect of fixed charges (such as amortization and depreciation expenses and to some extent warehousing costs) have a relative lesser 
impact on total margin. However, if we are unable to grow our business and sales, our gross margins will not increase as expected and 
we may continue to generate gross losses on products sales and/or sour mobile service.  
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C. Research, Development, Patents and Licenses, etc. 

D. Trend Information 



As of each of March 31, 2016 and 2015, the Company did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 
303(a)(4)(ii) of Regulation S-K.  

Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations  

The following are contractual commitments at March 31, 2016:  
  

  

  
  

The following table sets forth important information regarding our directors and senior management. Our directors serve 
one-year terms or until their successors are elected and accept their positions. Except as disclosed in the biographies contained below, 
there are no family relationships or understandings between any of the directors and executive officers. In addition, there was no 
arrangement or understanding between any executive officer and any other person pursuant to which any person was selected as an 
executive officer.  
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E. Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

   Total  Year 1  Year 2  Year 3    Year 4   Thereafter
Office lease obligation   $ 352,427   $ 180,443   $171,984      
Vehicle lease obligation    68,779   45,430   23,349      
Long-term and short-term debt obligations (1)    7,257,493   7,257,493       
Other contractual obligation (2)    50,000   10,000   10,000    10,000     10,000   10,000  

                     

Total   $7,728,699   $7,493,366   $205,333   $10,000    $10,000   $10,000  
                     

(1) Excluding $2,190,867 remaining balance on contingent consideration payable to Boston Scientific Corporation pursuant to the 
Prolieve Assets Purchase Agreement. The Company shall make quarterly sales royalty payment equal to ten percent (10%) of 
the amount of Prolieve sales. As of March 31, 2016, approximately $310,000 of such payments had been made to Boston 
Scientific Corporation. 

(2) Excluding potential royalty arrangements with Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Celsion Corporation for various 
products once commercialized. 

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees. 

 A. Directors and senior management. 

Name   Position with the Company  Date Position Started
Dr. Augustine Cheung   Chief Executive Officer, Director  August 28, 2008
John Mon   Chief Operating Officer  August 28, 2008
Mirsad Jakubovic   Chief Financial Officer  November 25, 2008
Douglas Liu   Director of Business Development  January 1, 2013
Grant B. Walsh   Chairman of Board of Directors  August 28, 2008
Joseph S. C. Chan   Director  August 28, 2008
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow   Director  August 28, 2008
Raymond Tong   Director  January 27, 2015



Dr. Augustine Y, Cheung, Ph.D., 69, was a Director of Celsion (Canada) Limited from January 2006 to November 2008 and 
previously President, Chief Executive Officer and a Director of Celsion Corporation (formerly Cheung Laboratories, Inc.) from 
February 1985 to March 2006. Dr. Cheung was assistant and associate Professor at the University of Maryland, School of Medicine 
(1974-1980) and Associate Professor of Engineering at the George Washington University (1980-1985). Dr. Cheung received the 
degrees of B.S., M.S. and Ph.D., all from the University of Maryland in 1969, 1971 and 1973, respectively. Dr. Cheung is a full-time 
member of the Company’s management team. Dr. Cheung is the brother-in-law of John Mon, the Company’s Chief Operating 
Officer.  

John Mon, 64, has over 20 years’ experience in the medical device industry. From the late 1980s through 2008, Mr. Mon held 
various positions at Celsion, including VP Product Development, VP New Technology, General Manager, Corporate Secretary, and 
he has served as a director of Celsion. Additionally, he was responsible for global sales and marketing. During his 20 years with 
Celsion, Mr. Mon worked with the FDA to gain approval for IDE/Pre-market Approval/510K submissions. He also worked with 
surgical and oncology clinicians, electromagnetic (microwave) engineers and patent attorneys to develop various thermotherapy and 
breast cancer related devices. He has authored and co-authored a number of granted and pending patents in the field of microwave 
technology. Mr. Mon received his B.S. in Economics from the University of Maryland. He is the brother-in-law of Dr. Cheung, the 
Company’s Chief Executive Officer and President.  

Mirsad Jakubovic, 53, is a chartered accountant. His experience includes working as the Director of Finance and Administration for 
Havana House Cigar and Tobacco Merchants Ltd., and as Director of Finance and Administration for Swatch Group Canada Ltd. Mr. 
Jakubovic received his MBA from the Richard Ivey School of Business and his B.Comm. from the University of Toronto.  

Mr. Douglas Liu, 52, was a financial analyst with HII Enterprises Inc. in New York from 1994 to 1996, performing budget and cash 
flow preparation and analysis, as well as cross border joint venture investment evaluation. From 1996 to 2005, he was the assistant to 
the Chief Financial Officer and shareholders administrator at Celsion Corporation, assisting the management in budget and business 
plan development and analysis, in the structuring, negotiation and completion of multiple rounds of PIPE offerings. He also worked 
closely with auditors and securities attorneys in the preparation of Celsion Corp’s filings with the U.S. SEC. From 2005 to 2012, he 
was a private investor in various public and startup companies and occasionally worked as independent consultant in corporate 
finance matters. Mr. Liu graduated magna cum laude from the Ohio State University with a bachelor’s degree in finance and 
international business.  

Mr. Joseph S.C. Chan, MBA, 70, was a director of Harmony Asset Limited from December 2006 to March 2015, a director of 
Champion Minerals Inc. from November 2009 to April 2015 and a director of MBMI Resources Inc. since April 2011. Mr. Chan has 
over 30 years of accounting and management experience. He obtained an MBA from Edinburgh Business School, Heriot Watt 
University, Scotland, U.K. He is a member of The Institute of Chartered Accountants of England and Wales, the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants, as well as a member of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario, Canada.  
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Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow, M.Sc., Ph.D, 63, until May 2015, had served as the Chief Executive Officer of Harmony Asset Limited, 
a publicly listed investment company in Hong Kong and Toronto, since 1996. He is currently a director of Celsion Corporation 
(AMEX) and Kaisun Energy Group Ltd., and is a former director of Augyva Mining Resources Inc. (TSXV) and Jian ePayment 
Systems Limited (HKEX). From 1990 to 1998, Dr. Chow was the Chief Executive Officer of Allied Group of Companies. Dr. Chow 
received the degrees of M.Sc. from London Business School, Ph.D. from the University of South Australia, a DBA from Southern 
Cross University, and an Engineering Doctorate from the City University of Hong Kong. Dr. Chow also is a director of Gwynneth 
Gold Limited, a significant investor in our Company.  

Grant B. Walsh, MBA, C.Dir., 67, is the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company. He also serves as Chairman and/ or 
Director of Canada Lands Company Limited (a Canadian Crown Corporation), Downsview Park Inc., Old Port of Montreal, Montreal 
Science Centre and Algoma University. He is also the Chairman and CEO of Walsh Delta Group Inc., a firm specializing in 
governance, strategy, leadership, and performance improvement. Mr. Walsh has served as a director and/or senior executive of 
various public, private, for-profit and not-for-profit healthcare and service organizations in both the United States and Canada. In 
addition to CEO roles, Mr. Walsh was Executive Vice President of the ServiceMaster Company in Chicago, Illinois, where he was 
accountable for $550 million in revenue, 30,000 employees, and 10,000 properties in 44 states and Canada. Assets under his 
leadership exceeded $30 billion. Mr. Walsh has been Executive-in-Residence and Adjunct Professor at the DeGroote School of 
Business of McMaster University. Mr. Walsh holds a Master of Business Administration degree from Southern Illinois University 
and a designation as a Chartered Director from McMaster University and the Conference Board of Canada. His undergraduate degree 
in English and Philosophy is from Roberts Wesleyan College.  

Dr Raymond C. F. Tong, M.D., 57, is the Chief Executive Officer of Harmony Medical Inc, an Asian investment group active in the 
introduction and distribution of medical and healthcare products and services in China and the Asia. Dr. Tong obtained his medical 
degree from the University of Toronto. He is also an independent Director of Shanghai CP Guojian Pharmaceutical, the largest bio-
pharmaceutical manufacturer in China, and is also Chairman of Shanghai Kedu Healthcare Group, one of the largest medical 
equipment distributor and third-party service provider in China, representing products from GE, Philips, Siemens and Kodak and 
other multi-nationals. Dr Tong’s earlier career included senior management positions in China with Pfizer and Ball Corporation. He 
was also responsible for the Healthcare Investment Division of CITIC Pacific in Hong Kong. 

  

Exchange Rate Table  

The following table sets forth the average exchange rate for one Canadian dollar expressed in terms of one U.S. dollar for 
each of the last five fiscal years. The average rate was calculated using the average of the exchange rates, as calculated on each day in 
the period.  
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B. Compensation. 

Year   Average  
2016 (through March 31)    0.7641  
2015    0.8057  
2014    0.9054  
2013    0.9710  
2012    1.0004  
2011    1.0110  



The following table sets forth the high and low exchange rates for one Canadian dollar expressed in terms of one U.S. 
dollar for each month during the previous six months.  
  

The exchange rates are based upon the noon buying rate as quoted by the Bank of Canada. At March 31, 2016, the 
exchange rate for one Canadian dollar expressed in terms of one U.S. dollar, as quoted by The Bank of Canada at 4 p.m. Eastern 
Time, equaled $0. 7711.  

Summary Compensation Table  

The following table sets out all annual and long-term compensation for services in all capacities to the Company for the 
fiscal years ended March 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 in respect of the individuals who served as the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief 
Financial Officer, and Chief Operating Officer of the Company (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers”). Other than as 
disclosed below, no other executive officer received in excess of $150,000 in total salary, bonus and other compensation for the fiscal 
year ended March 31, 2016.  
  

Notes:  
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Month  Low    High  
March 2016  0.7446     0.7709  
February 2016  0.7112     0.7511  
January 2016  0.6869     0.7218  
December 2015  0.7162     0.7410  
November 2015  0.7478     0.7653  
October 2015  0.7536     0.7772  

Name and 
Principal 
Position

    

Non-equity 
incentive plan 

compensation (S)          

  Year    Salary  

Share- 
Based 

Awards   
Option-Based

Awards (1)  

Annual
Incentive

Plans  

Long-term
Incentive

Plans  
Pension
Value    

All Other 
Compensation   

Total
Compensation

Dr. Augustine Y. 
Cheung CEO 

   2016    $181,892    —      $ 65,374   —    —    —       —      $ 247,266  
   2015    $215,262    —       —    —    —    —       —      $ 215,262  
   2014    $243,600      —          $ 243,600  

Mirsad Jakubovic 
CFO 

   2016    $ 57,284     $ 15,435   —    —    —       —      $ 72,719  
   2015    $ 75,000    —       —    —    —    —       —      $ 75,000  
   2014    $ 75,000      —          $ 75,000  

John Mon COO    2016    $206,846    —      $ 31,779   —    —    —       —      $ 238,625  
   2015    $203,846    —       —    —    —    —       —      $ 203,846  
   2014    $203,000    —       —    —    —    —       —      $ 203,000  

(1) Options were granted December 17, 2015 and vested immediately. Each option has a term of five (5) years and an exercise price 
of $0.057. The fair value of the stock option grants were estimated at the date of the grant using a Black-Scholes option-pricing 
model in accordance with the standard methodology applicable to time vested stock option grants. The following assumptions 
were used in the model (being the same assumptions used for financial reporting purposes): risk-free interest rate of 1.12%, 
expected volatility in the market price of the Corporation’s shares of 106.03%, term-expected life of 2.5 years and a dividend 
yield of nil% 



Option Grants  

Incentive Option-Based Awards  

The following tables set forth information in respect of all stock options granted to our Named Executive Officers and 
directors as of March 31, 2016. No options were granted as a result of repricing.  

Executive Officers  
  

Directors  
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   Option-based Awards  Share-based Awards

Name   

Number of
securities

underlying
unexercised

options  

Option
exercise

price  

Option 
expiration 

date  

Number of 
shares or 
units of 

shares that
have not 
vested    

Market or 
payout value

of 
share-based 
awards that 

have not 
vested    

Market or
payout value

of vested 
share-based
awards not
paid out or
distributed

Dr. Augustine Y. Cheung CEO    3,600,000   $ 0.06   Dec-20-2020  —       —       —   
Mirsad Jakubovic CFO    850,000   $ 0.06   Dec-20-2020  —       —       —   
John Mon COO    1,750,000   $ 0.06   Dec-20-2020  —       —       —   

   Option-based Awards  Share-based Awards

Name   

Number of
securities

underlying
unexercised

options  

Option
exercise

price  

Option 
expiration 

date  

Number of 
shares or 
units of 

shares that
have not 
vested    

Market or 
payout 
value of 

share-based
awards 

that have 
not vested    

Market or
payout value

of vested 
share-based
awards not
paid out or
distributed

Joseph S. C. Chan    400,000   $ 0.06   Dec-20-2020  —       —       —   
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow    400,000   $ 0.06   Dec-20-2020  —       —       —   
Raymond Tong    400,000   $ 0.06   Dec-20-2020       —   
Grant Walsh    700,000   $ 0.06   Dec-20-2020  —       —       —   



Value Vested or Earned During the Year 

No options were exercised by any director during the year ended March 31, 2016. All options issued to directors vested 
immediately at the date of issuance, December 20, 2015.  

Compensation of Directors  

Our directors of each receive an annual fee of CAD $20,000 as compensation for their services as directors. In addition, 
each committee chairman receives an additional CAD $15,000 annually. Directors are also eligible to participate in the Company’s 
Stock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) on an on-going basis.  

The following table sets out all annual and long-term compensation for services in all capacities to the Company for the 
fiscal year ended March 31, 2016 of each of the directors (other than named Executive Officers).  
  

Value Vested or Earned During the Year  

No stock options were exercised by any director during the fiscal year ended March 31, 2016. The following table sets 
forth information in respect of all stock options granted to our directors during the year ended March 31, 2016.  
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Name  
Fees 

earned    
Share-based

awards  

Option-
based 

awards  

Non-equity
incentive plan
compensation  

Pension
value    

All other 
compensation  Total

Joseph S. C. Chan  $26,732     —    $ 7,264   —    —       —     $33,996  
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow  $15,275     —    $ 7,264   —    —       —     $22,539  
Raymond Tong  $15,275     —    $ 7,264   —    —       —     $22,539  
Grant Walsh  $26,732     —    $12,712   —    —       —     $39,444  

  Option-based Awards   Share-based Awards

Name  

Number of 
securities 

underlying 
unexercised

options    
Option

exercise price  

Option
expiration

date  

Number of
shares or units
of shares that 

have not 
vested    

Market or 
payout 
value of 

share-based
awards 

that have 
not vested    

Market or
payout value of
vested share-
based awards

not paid out or
distributed

Joseph S. C. Chan – Director  400,000    $ 0.08   12/20/2020  —       —       —   
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow – Director  400,000    $ 0.08   12/20/2020  —       —       —   
Raymond Tong – Director  400,000    $ 0.08   12/20/2020       —   
Grant Walsh – Director  700,000    $ 0.08   12/20/2020  —       —       —   



Outstanding Options  

Set forth below is a summary of the outstanding options under the Option Plan to purchase Shares as of March 31, 2016. 
All executive officers, directors and key employees of the Company, as a group:  
  

Options Granted during Fiscal Year Ended March 31, 2016  

During the year ended March 31, 2016, 9,100,000 stock options were granted to our executive officers, directors, and key 
employees. The following table sets out the options granted to such individuals during the year ended March 31, 2016.  
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Holder   

Number of 
Shares Under

Option  Date of Grant  Expiry Date   Exercise
Grant Walsh    700,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  
Joseph S. C. Chan    400,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow    400,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  
Raymond Tong    400,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  
Dr. Augustine Cheung    3,600,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  
John Mon    1,750,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  
Mirsad Jakubovic    850,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  
Douglas Liu    1,000,000   December 20, 2015  December 20, 2020   $ 0.06  

   9,100,000      

Name   

Securities 
Under Options

Granted (#)    

% of Total Options
granted to 

Employees in the
Financial Year

Exercise or
Base Price  

Market Value of Securities
Underlying Options on the

Date of Grant
Grant Walsh   700,000    8% $ 0.06   $ 12,712  
Joseph S. C. Chan   400,000    4% $ 0.06   $ 7,264  
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow   400,000    4% $ 0.06   $ 7,264  
Raymond Tong   400,000    4% $ 0.06   $ 7,264  
Dr. Augustine Cheung   3,600,000    40% $ 0.06   $ 65,374  
John Mon   1,750,000    19% $ 0.06   $ 31,779  
Mirsad Jakubovic   850,000    9% $ 0.06   $ 15,435  
Douglas Liu   1,000,000    11% $ 0.06   $ 18,159  

      

  9,100,000     



Upon exercise in accordance with the terms thereof, each of these options entitles the holder thereof to acquire one Share. 

Stock Awards  

At our Annual and Special Meeting of Shareholders held on November 28, 2012 our shareholders approved a resolution 
authorizing the issuance of up to 3,000,000 Shares to directors and officers in lieu of a portion of the remuneration to which such 
persons were entitled. The goal of such stock awards is to provide our officers and directors with an increased proprietary stake in the 
Company, while allowing us to deploy more of its cash on hand on execution of its business plan. All stock awards will be done at a 
deemed price of at least the “Discounted Market Price,” as such term is defined under applicable TSXV regulations.  

At March 31, 2016 a total of 1,755,095 Shares have been issued to the following persons and in the following amounts.  
  

  

Employment Contracts  

We have no written employment contracts with any members of senior management.  

Termination Agreements for Executive Officers and Directors  

There are no termination agreements in effect for the Company’s executive officers or directors. Although our 
Compensation Committee has indicated a desire to grant senior executive officers a severance package that could result in up to two 
years of salary, plus a bonus, in the event of termination of employment, no employment agreements have been entered into with 
senior management. In the event we do enter into employment agreements with our senior executive officers, we are unable to state at 
this time what the terms of such employment agreements would be.  

Stock Option Plan 

Our shareholders approved the Option Plan on November 28, 2012. The number of Shares reserved for issuance under the 
Option Plan may not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares issued and outstanding from time to time. At March 31, 2016, the 
Company had 184,984,215 shares outstanding. An aggregate of 10,100,000 options granted by the Company under the Option Plan 
remain outstanding to date and none of these options have been exercised. Accordingly, 8,398,422 options currently remain available 
for future grant under the Option Plan (based upon 10% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Shares at March 31, 
2016).  

The purpose of the Option Plan is to attract, retain and motivate persons as key service providers to the Company and to 
advance the interests of the Company by providing such persons with the opportunity, through share options, to acquire a proprietary 
interest in the Company and benefit from its growth. The options are non-assignable and may be granted for a term not exceeding five 
years.  
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Name   Title  Number of Shares Awarded 
Dr. Augustine Cheung   CEO, & Director  792,058  
Ernie Eves(1)   Director  500,000  
John Mon   Chief Operating Officer  363,037  
Mirsad Jakubovic   Chief Financial Officer  100,000  

(1) Mr. Eves is no longer a director of the Company. 



Options may be granted under the Option Plan only to directors, officers, employees and other service providers subject to 
the rules and regulations of applicable regulatory authorities and any Canadian stock exchange upon which the Shares may be listed 
or may trade from time to time. The number of Shares reserved for issue to any one person pursuant to the Option Plan within any 
one year period may not exceed 5% of the issued and outstanding Shares. The maximum number of Shares which may be reserved 
for issuance to insiders under the Option Plan, any other employee stock option plans or options for services is 10% of the aggregate 
number of issued and outstanding Shares at the date of grant (on a non-diluted basis). The maximum number of Shares which may be 
issued to insiders under the Option Plan, together with any previously established or proposed share compensation arrangements, 
within any one year period, is 10% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Shares. The maximum number of Shares which 
may be issued to any insider and his or her associates under the Option Plan, together with any previously established or proposed 
share compensation arrangements, within any one year period, is 5% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Shares at the 
date of grant (on a non-diluted basis). The maximum number of Shares which may be granted to any consultant under the Option 
Plan, any other employer stock option plans or options for services, within any one year period, is 2% of the aggregate number of 
issued and outstanding Shares at the date of grant (on a non-diluted basis). The maximum number of Shares which may be granted to 
any “investor relations person” under the Option Plan, any other employer stock option plans or options for services, within any one 
year period, is 2% of the aggregate number of issued and outstanding Shares at the date of grant (on a non-diluted basis).  

The exercise price of options issued may not be less than the market value of the Shares at the time the option is granted, 
subject to any discounts permitted by applicable legislative and regulatory requirements.  

Pension, Retirement and other Similar Benefits  

No amount has been set aside by the Company during the last fiscal year to provide pension, retirement or similar benefits 
for our directors and officers pursuant to any existing plan provided or contributed to by us or our subsidiary company, or otherwise.  

Warrants  

At March 31, 2016 we had the following warrants outstanding.  
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Number 

#  

Exercise
Price

$  

Black-Scholes
Values 

$    
Expiry 
Date  

Year
of 

Issue
Share purchase warrants  18,367,263   0.20    1,354,394    6/8/2016  2012
Share purchase warrants  22,200,000   0.20    1,631,511    6/21/2016  2012
Share purchase warrants  8,336,400   0.30    745,316    12/18/2016  2013
Share purchase warrants  4,644,400   0.30    419,274    3/7/2017  2014
Share purchase warrants  10,281,250   0.25    1,034,209    9/15/2017  2015
Share purchase warrants  7,750,000   0.10    176,169    12/14/2017  2015

                

Outstanding, end of year  71,579,313     5,360,873     
           

 
   



The following table sets forth information regarding our current directors. Our directors serve one-year terms or until their 
successors are elected and accept their positions. 
  

Committees of the Board of Directors  

The Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) currently has the following standing committees: (i) an Audit 
Committee; (ii) a Compensation Committee; and (iii) a Governance Committee.  

Composition of the Audit Committee  

The members of the audit committee are Joseph S.C. Chan (Chairman), Grant B. Walsh, and Raymond Tong. Each of the 
Audit Committee members is considered independent and are financially literate. 

The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include: (i) appointing, and overseeing the work of, any public 
accounting firm that the Company employs for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit report or related work; (ii) approving the 
compensation of any such public accounting firm; (iii) approving all auditing services and non-audit services that the Company’s 
auditors provide to the Company; (iv) resolving any disagreements between the Company’s management and the auditor regarding 
financial reporting; (v) establishing procedures for the receipt, retention, and treatment of complaints that the Company receives 
regarding accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters and for the confidential, anonymous submission by employees 
of the Company of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; (vi) assisting the Board in the oversight of (1) the 
integrity of the Company’s financial statements, (2) the Company’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (3) the 
auditor’s qualifications and independence, and (4) the performance of the Company’s external audit functions; and (vii) determining 
appropriate funding for (x) compensation to any public accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an audit 
report or performing other audit, review or attest services for the Company, (y) compensation to any advisors employed by the 
Company to assist the Committee in the conduct of its duties, and (z) ordinary administrative expenses of the Committee that are 
necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties.  

The Audit Committee must be comprised of at least 3, and no more than 5, independent directors, all of whom must be 
financially literate, and have knowledge of the Company’s industry, and the ability to understand business and financial risks and 
related controls and control processes. The Audit Committee is required to meet at least four times each year.  
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C. Board practices. 

Name  Year Appointed Director
Joseph Shuen Chuen Chan  2010
Dr. Augustine Cheung  2008
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow  2010
Raymond Tong  2015
Grant B. Walsh  2008



Compensation Committee  

The members of Compensation Committee are Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow, Grant B. Walsh, Raymond Tong and Joseph S. 
C. Chan, all of whom are considered independent.  

The Compensation Committees principal responsibilities include: (i) reviewing, and recommending to the Board, the 
compensation and benefit plans of the Chief Executive Officer, key executives, and the Directors of the Company; (ii) reviewing, and 
recommending to the Board, the Company’s compensation, benefit and compensation-related policies; (iii) advising the Board on the 
appointment of health and retirement benefit plan administrators, trustees and other similarly required positions; and (iv) reviewing, 
and recommending to the Board, equity plans and other long-term compensation programs.  

The Compensation Committee receives recommendations from management and reviews and makes recommendations to 
the Board regarding the granting of stock options or common shares to directors, executive officers or employees, as well as 
compensation for executive officers and directors’ fees, if any, from time to time. Executive officers and directors may be 
compensated in cash and/or common shares for their expert advice and contribution towards our success.  

The form and amount of such compensation will be evaluated by the Compensation Committee, which will be guided by 
the following goals:  
  

  

Generally, the Compensation Committee and the Board strive to balance the Company’s structure as a Canadian-listed 
Company whose operations and employees are primarily in the United States. Due to the Company’s size and development stage, the 
Compensation Committee has not yet considered it necessary to consult with any third party advisors in determining the directors’ 
and officers’ compensation. Outside advisors may be engaged by the Compensation Committee in the future for that purpose.  

In reaching compensation decisions, the Compensation Committee considered the individual performance of each 
executive officer as well as the overall performance of the Company, taking consideration its size and stage of development. 

The Audit Committee must be comprised of 3 or more members of the Board, all of whom must be considered 
independent. Our Chief Executive Officer is also considered an ex officio member of the Compensation Committee, and participates 
in all matters except the final recommendations regarding CEO compensation arrangements. The Compensation Committee meets at 
such times as the committee shall determine which is typically at least two times per fiscal year.  

Governance Committee  

The members of the Governance Committee are Grant Walsh, Raymond Tong, and Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow and Joseph 
S. C. Chan. 

The Governance Committees primary responsibilities include: (i) assisting the Board with the recruitment, retention and 
evaluation of our Chief Executive Officer, and to ensure that a succession plan  
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 •  compensation should be commensurate with the time spent by the executive officers and directors in meeting their 
obligations and reflective of the compensation paid by companies similar in size and business to the Company; and 

 •  the structure of the compensation should be simple, transparent and easy for shareholders to understand. 



is in place; (ii) approving the strategic direction, major strategies, plans and actions of the Company; (iii) providing high level 
operational oversight including quality, fiscal responsibility and implementation of strategic direction; and (iv) ensuring that the 
Company operates in a manner which is consistent with legal, ethical and moral principles.  

Additionally, the Governance Committee is responsible for considering and making recommendations to the Board 
concerning the appropriate size, functions and needs of the Board. The Corporate Governance Committee may, at its sole discretion, 
engage director search firms and has the sole authority to approve the fees and other retention terms with respect to any such 
firms. When considering a candidate for the Board, the Governance Committee is guided by the following principles:  
  

  

  

  

  

The Corporate Governance Committee also has the authority, as necessary and appropriate, to consult with other counsel 
and outside advisors to assist in its duties to the Company.  

  

At March 31, 2016, we had 17 employees, decreased from 26 employees at March 31, 2015. This decrease is a result of 
our continued efforts to restructure the Prolieve business and operate our business more efficiently.  

Of our full time employees, eight are Prolieve mobile service technicians. The rest are corporate management, engineering, 
regulatory compliance and support staff.  

None of our current employees are members of a labor union and, consequently, there is no relationship between our 
management and any labor union. 
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•  Each Director should be an individual of the highest character and integrity, have an inquiring mind, experience at a 

strategy / policy setting level, or otherwise at a senior executive level of experience, and the ability to work well with 
others. 

 

•  Each Director shall have sufficient time available to devote to the affairs of the Company to carry out the responsibilities 
of a Director. Directors are expected to make a commitment to prepare for, and attend, meetings of the Board and its 
Committees on a reasonably regular basis. Each Director shall strive to attend at least 75% of the meetings each year for 
which the Director is expected to participate. 

 •  Each independent Director should be free of any conflict of interest that would interfere with the independence and proper 
performance of the responsibilities of a Director. 

 •  Directors should not be chosen as representatives of a constituent group or organization and shall act in the best interests of 
the Corporation as mandated by Canadian corporate law (Canada Business Act). 

 •  Directors should have an equity interest in the Company. Toward that end, each Director may change all or a part of 
Director’s fees to Company Common Shares. 

D. Employees. 



The following table sets forth the shareholdings of the Company’s directors and senior management at March 31, 2016.  
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E. Share ownership. 

NAME  SHARES OWNED  

SHARE
CONVERTIBLE
FROM OPTIONS
OR WARRANTS

VESTED OR 
VESTING WITHIN

60 DAYS  
BENEFICIAL
OWNERSHIP   

PERCENTAGE
OF 

OUTSTANDING
SHARES*

Dr. Augustine Cheung   6,727,370   4,372,500   11,099,870     5.86% 
John Mon   1,141,667   2,436,667   3,578,334     1.91% 
Mirsad Jakubovic   2,223,758   970,000   3,193,758     1.72% 
Douglas Liu   250,000   1,100,000   1,350,000     0.73% 
Joseph S. C. Chan   1,068,182   400,000   1,468,182     0.79% 
Dr. Augustine P.Y. Chow   850,000   400,000   1,250,000     0.67% 
Grant B. Walsh   1,268,182   700,000   1,968,182     1.06% 
Raymond C. Tong   90,909   400,000   490,909     0.26% 

              

Officers & Directors, as a group   13,620,068   10,779,167   24,399,235     12.46% 

* At March 31, 2016, the Company had 184,984,215 Shares outstanding. 



  

At June 7, 2016, we had 184,984,215 Shares outstanding. To the knowledge of our directors and senior officers, the 
following are the only persons or companies who beneficially own, directly or indirectly, or exercise control or direction over Shares 
carrying more than 5% of our outstanding Shares:  
  

Notes:  
  

At May 30, 2016, we had 59 U.S. shareholders of record, holding 35,836,242 Shares, which represented approximately 
19% of our outstanding Shares. At such date, there were no arrangements, the operation of which could result in a change of 
control. All shareholders have the same voting rights with respect to the Shares.  

  

No executive officer, director, or person owning at least 5% of our Shares, or any affiliate thereof, has or any has had any 
material interest, directly or indirectly, in any transaction involving our company since April 1, 2010, or in any proposed transaction 
involving our company. 
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Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions. 

 A. Major shareholders. 

Name  No. of Shares Percentage Natural Persons(7)
Integrated Asset Management (ASIA) Limit  51,382,575(1) 24,35% Tak Cheung Yam
Gwynneth Gold Limited  35,528,114(2) 17.44% Vincent Cheung
Augustine Y. Cheung  11,099,870(3) 5.86% N/A
Chatwin Management Limited  16,366,666(4) 8.45% Temmy Wong
Star Example Limited  13,333,334(5) 6.96% Kwong Chi Shing Savio
Shuk Ling Lam  12,000,000(6) 6.35% N/A

(1). Includes warrants to purchase 13,333,333 Shares at $0.20 per Share, warrants to purchase 3,700,000 Shares at $0.30 per Share 
and warrants to purchase 1,562,500 Shares at $0.25 per Share, and the 7,400,000 Shares that could be issued after June 18, 2014 
pursuant to the terms of a convertible promissory note. 

(2). Includes warrants to purchase 12,400,001 Shares at $0.20 per Share, warrants to purchase 1,580,000 Shares at $0.30 per Share 
and warrants to purchase 1,562,500 Shares at $0.25 per Share, and 3,160,000 Shares that could be issued after June 18. 2014 
pursuant to the terms of a convertible promissory note. 

(3). Includes stock options to purchase 3,600,000 Shares at $0.08 per Share and warrants to purchase 772,500 Shares at $0.20 per 
Share. 

(4). Includes warrants to purchase 6,666,667 Shares at $0.20 per Share, warrants to purchase 700,000 Shares at $0.30 per Share, and 
the 1,400,000 Shares that could be issued after June 18 2014 pursuant to the terms of a convertible promissory note. 

(5). Includes warrants to purchase 6,666,667 Shares at $0.20 per Share. 
(6). Includes warrants to purchase 4,000,000 Shares at $0.10 per Share. 
(7). The individuals listed in this column represent the natural persons who have or share the power to direct the voting or 

disposition of the securities listed, or to receive the economic benefit of ownership of such securities. 

B. Related party transactions. 



In February 2015, Mr. Tak Cheung Yam, a former director of the Company, through Integrated Assets Management (Asia) 
Ltd, purchased 9,090,909 Shares in a private offering. Mr. Yam paid $0.044 per Share, for an aggregate purchase price of 
$400,000. Further, Mr. Yam, through Integrated Assets Management (Asia) Ltd, currently owns 25,386,742 Shares, or 13.72% of the 
Company’s outstanding common stock. Integrated Assets Management (Asia) Ltd also owns exercisable warrants to purchase an 
additional 18,595,833 Shares. If Mr. Yam chooses to exercise all these warrants, he will control 21.6% of our Common Stock. In 
addition, Mr. Yam, through Integrated Assets Management (Asia) Ltd, owns a convertible note that can be converted into 7,400,00 
Shares. If Mr. Yam chooses to convert the notes to Shares, and to exercise all his warrants, he will effectively control 24.35% of our 
outstanding shares.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  
  

See “Item 18. Financial Statements.”  

Litigation  

During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Company was included on a complaint related to Prolieve treatment. The 
plaintiff’s counsel offered to dismiss the Company from the lawsuit in exchange for a waiver of fees and costs which was 
approximately $4,500. The company expects the case to be dismissed in the near future.  

Dividend Policy  

We have never paid a dividend and it is unlikely that we will declare or pay a dividend in the foreseeable future. The 
Board, in its sole discretion, may declare dividends in the future, and determine the amount and payment date of such dividends. In 
making such determinations, the Board will consider our financial requirements and other relevant conditions prevailing at the 
time. We currently intend to use any revenues, as well as proceeds from any financings, to assist us in obtaining our business 
objectives, and not for the payment of any dividends upon our Shares.  

  

Except as disclosed in the notes to the audited financial statements, there have been no significant changes since the date of 
the Company’s audited financial statements at March 31, 2016.  
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C. Interests of Experts and Counsel 

Item 8. Financial Information. 

 A. Consolidated statements and other financial information. 

B. Significant changes. 



  

Our Shares have traded in Canada on the TSXV since July 31, 2006, under the symbol “MFS”. In the United States, our 
Shares traded on the OTC Pink Sheets from December 2009 through June 29, 2012, under the symbol “MDFZ”. Our shares have 
traded in the United States on the OTCQX since June 30, 2011, under the symbol “MDFZF”.  

The TSXV  

Our Shares did not trade in Canada between August 6, 2011 and May 16, 2012 because of cease trade orders imposed by 
the Ontario Securities Commission and the British Columbia Securities Commission in September 2011. The cease trade orders were 
imposed because of our failure to file audited financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2011 and related filings. After 
we filed these financial statements, the cease trade orders were lifted by the Ontario Securities Commission and the British Columbia 
Securities Commission in December 2011, and our Shares resumed trading on the Toronto Venture Exchange on May 16, 2012.  

The annual high and low market prices in Canadian dollars for the common shares of the Company for the five most recent 
fiscal years as traded on the TSXV were as follows:  
  

The quarterly high and low market prices in Canadian dollars for the common shares of the Company for each quarterly 
period within the two most recent fiscal years as traded on the TSXV were as follows:  
  

The monthly high and low market prices in Canadian dollars for the common shares of the Company for the most recent 
six months as traded on the TSXV were as follows:  
  

The closing price of our Shares on the TSXV on March 31, 2015 was $0.04 (Canadian dollars). 
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Item 9. The Offer and Listing. 

 A. Offer and listing details. 

Fiscal Year Ended 
March 31,  Low (Cdn$)  High (Cdn$) 
2016  0.04    0.16  
2015  0.04    0.22  
2014  0.12    0.25  
2013  0.10    0.31  
2012  0.12    0.33  

Quarter Ended  Low (Cdn$)  High (Cdn$) 
March 31, 2016  0.04    0.08  
December 31, 2015  0.04    0.06  
September 30, 2015  0.05    0.14  
June 30, 2015  0.04    0.16  
March 31, 2015  0.04    0.11  
December 31, 2014  0.08    0.12  
September 30, 2014  0.10    0.16  
June 30, 2014  0.12    0.22  

Month  Low (Cdn$)  High (Cdn$) 
May 2016  0.04    0.05  
April 2016  0.05    0.05  
March 2016  0.05    0.05  
February 2016  0.04    0.05  
January 2016  0.05    0.08  
December 2015  0.04    0.07  



The OTCQX  

The annual high and low market prices in U.S. dollars for the common shares of the Company for the five most recent 
fiscal years as traded on the OTCQX were as follows:  
  

The quarterly high and low market prices in U.S. dollars for the common shares of the Company for each quarterly period 
within the two most recent fiscal years as traded on the OTCQX were as follows:  
  

The monthly high and low market prices in U.S. dollars for the common shares of the Company for the most recent six 
months as traded on the OTCQX were as follows:  
  

The closing price of our Shares on the OTCQX on March 31, 2016 was $0.03. 
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Fiscal Year Ended 
March 31,  Low ($)   High ($) 
2016  0.02     0.12  
2015  0.03     0.19  
2014  0.11     0.25  
2013  0.11     0.35  
2012  0.08     0.35  

Quarter Ended  Low ($)   High ($) 
March 31, 2016  0.03     0.06  
December 31, 2015  0.02     0.05  
September 30, 2015  0.04     0.11  
June 30, 2015  0.03     0.12  
March 31, 2015  0.03     0.09  
December 31, 2014  0.07     0.11  
September 30, 2014  0.09     0.14  
June 30, 2014  0.12     0.19  

Month  Low ($)   High ($) 
May 2016  0.03     0.04  
April 2016  0.03     0.04  
March 2016  0.03     0.04  
February 2016  0.03     0.04  
January 2016  0.03     0.06  
December 2015  0.02     0.05  



We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

Our Shares have traded in Canada on the TSXV since July 31, 2006, under the symbol “MFS”. In the United States, our 
Shares traded on the OTC Pink Sheets from December 2009 through June 29, 2012, under the symbol “MDFZ”. Our shares have 
traded in the United States on the OTCQX since June 30, 2011, under the symbol “MDFZF”.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  
  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

I. General  

The Company is a corporation governed by the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) and the regulations promulgated 
thereunder (collectively referred to as the “Act”). The Company was incorporated in the Province of Ontario, Canada on April 25, 
2005. The Company’s corporate objectives and purpose are unrestricted. The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of 
Shares.  

II. Shares  

Holders of the Shares are entitled to one vote per share upon all matters presented to the holders of the Shares at a meeting 
of such shareholders. The Shares have no rights regarding preference, conversion, exchange, preemptive rights or cumulative voting 
rights. Further, there are no provisions for redemption, purchase for cancellation, surrender or sinking or purchase funds for the 
Shares, and our shareholders have no liability for further capital calls.  
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B. Plan of distribution. 

C. Markets. 

D. Selling shareholders. 

E. Dilution. 

F. Expenses of the issue. 

Item 10. Additional Information. 

A. Share capital. 

B. Memorandum and articles of association. 



The holders of Shares are entitled to the payment of any dividend declared by our Board of Directors, if at all, and, upon 
liquidation, to receive such of our assets that are distributable to holders of the Shares. All Shares rank equally as to dividends and as 
to the distribution of the Company’s assets in the event of a liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company.  

The Act contains provisions that require a “special resolution” for effecting certain corporate actions. Such a “special 
resolution” requires the approval of two-thirds of the votes cast on a resolution submitted to the shareholders. The principle corporate 
actions for which the Company would require a “special resolution” include: (i) an amendment to the provisions relating to the 
outstanding capital of the Company; (ii) a sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the Company; (iii) an amalgamation of the 
Company with another company, other than a subsidiary; (iv) a winding-up of the Company; (v) a continuance of the Company into 
another jurisdiction; (vi) a statutory court approved arrangement under the Act (essentially a corporate reorganization such as an 
amalgamation, sale of assets, winding-up, etc.); and (vii) a change of name.  

III. Directors  

Pursuant to Section 132 of the Act, a director who is a party to, or who is a director or officer of or has a material interest 
in any person who is a party to, a material contract or transaction or proposed material contract or transaction with us shall disclose to 
us the nature and extent of that interest and shall not vote on any resolution to approve such contract or transaction.  

Section 137 of the Act provides that the directors shall be paid such remuneration for their services as the board of 
directors may from time to time determine.  

Section 184 of the Act provides that the board may from time to time on our behalf, without authorization of shareholders: 
  

  

  

  

There are no provisions in the Company’s by-laws relating to retirement or non-retirement of directors under an age limit 
requirement. A director need not be a shareholder. At least 25% of directors must be resident Canadians and at least two of the 
directors must be considered independent.  

IV. Annual and Special Meetings  

The annual meeting and special meetings of shareholders are held at such time and place as the board of directors, the 
chairman of the board, the managing director or the president shall determine. Notice of meetings are sent out to shareholders not less 
than 21 nor more than 50 days before the date of such meeting. All shareholders at the record date are entitled to notice of the meeting 
and have the right to attend the meeting. Shareholders entitled to vote at an annual or special meeting may do so in person or by 
proxy. Our directors do not stand for reelection at staggered intervals.  

Shareholders may submit to the Company a notice of a proposal to be discussed at the Company’s annual meeting. A 
proposal for the nomination of the election of directors must be signed by one or more holders of Shares representing, in the 
aggregate, not less than five per cent of the Shares. The Board may  
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 •  borrow money upon Company credit; 

 •  issue, reissue, sell or pledge debt obligations of the Company; 

 •  guarantee on our behalf to secure performance of any obligation of any person; and 

 •  mortgage, hypothecate, pledge or otherwise create a security interest in all or any of our currently owned or 
subsequently acquired property of the Company, to secure any obligations of the Company.



call a special meeting of shareholders at any time. Holders of not less than 5 percent of the Company’s issued Shares that carry the 
right to vote at a meeting may require the directors to call a special meeting of shareholders for a specified purpose.  

IV. Miscellaneous  

There are no provisions in either the Company’s Articles of Incorporation or By-laws that would have the effect of 
delaying, deferring or preventing a change in control of the Company and that would operate only with respect to a merger, 
acquisition or corporate restructuring involving the Company or its subsidiary. There are no by-law provisions governing the 
ownership threshold above which shareholder ownership must be disclosed. With respect to the matters discussed in this Item 10B, 
the law applicable to the Company is not significantly different from United States law.  

  

The following is a summary of the material contracts of the Company. The descriptions of the agreements below are 
qualified, in their entirety, by the agreements, themselves, as set forth in “Item 19. Exhibits.”  

Agreements in Connection with Medifocus Holding Joint Ventures  

On November 8, 2013 we entered into an agreement with Ideal Concept Group Limited to develop our Prolieve business 
and products based upon APA technology in a geographic area referred to as Asia Pacific. Medifocus Holding, our joint venture with 
Ideal Concept Group Limited, was formed as a result of this agreement. Reference is made to “Item 4. Information on the Company” 
for a description of the terms of this agreement.  

License and Distribution Agreement between Medifocus Inc. and Medifocus Holding Limited (BVI). Reference is 
made to “Item 4. Information on the Company” for a description of the terms of this agreement.  

License Agreements in Connection with Duke University  

On October 6, 2015, the Company entered into an exclusive patent license agreement with Duke University for the 
development of heat-activated and tumor-targeted immunotherapy and gene therapy for the treatment of cancers and other diseases. 
The technology, described in the agreement as a “method for selective expression of therapeutic genes in cancer cells by 
hyperthermia,” provides the design basis for an adenoviral gene delivery construct that releases IL-12 upon activation by the 
temperature rise caused by focused thermotherapy. Temperature activation of pre-engineered adenovirus carrying the therapeutic 
genes injected intratumorally allows maximal release of the IL-12 therapeutics. Such spatial and temporal control of gene expression 
leads to enhanced efficacy and reduced treatment induced toxicity. The patent also provides for the possibility of adding other 
Cytokines and/or Biological Modifiers in combination with IL-12 within the construct to further enhance efficacy. The technology 
could provide Medifocus a foundation based on which it can build a novel pipeline of heat-activated and tumor-targeted genetic and 
molecular therapeutics for the treatment of cancers and other diseases.  

The above descriptions of our agreements are summaries only. The full agreements are set forth at “Item 19. Exhibits.”  
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C. Material contracts. 



There are no laws, governmental decrees or regulations in Canada that restrict the export or import of capital or which 
affect the remittance of dividends, interest or other payments to non-resident holders of our shares, other than the withholding tax 
requirements (Reference is made to “Item 10E.”) and the Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act. The 
Proceeds of Crime (Money Laundering) and Terrorist Financing Act requires that persons and entities report the importation or 
exportation of currency or monetary instruments of a value equal to or greater than $10,000 to Canadian customers officers in the 
prescribed form and manner.  

There are no limitations under the laws of Canada or the Province of Ontario, or in our constituting documents, with 
respect to the right of non-resident or foreign owners to hold or vote common shares other than those imposed by the Investment 
Canada Act.  

The Investment Canada Act is a federal Canadian statute which regulates the acquisition of control of existing Canadian 
businesses and the establishment of new Canadian businesses by an individual, government or entity that is a “non-Canadian” as 
defined in the Investment Canada Act. Such investments are generally reviewable under the Investment Canada Act by the Minister, 
designated as being responsible for the administration of the Investment Canada Act. Reviewable investments, generally, may not be 
implemented prior to the Minister’s determining that the investment is likely to be of “net benefit to Canada” based on the criteria set 
out in the Investment Canada Act. Generally, investments by non-Canadians consisting of the acquisition of control of Canadian 
businesses which are otherwise non-reviewable and the establishment of new Canadian businesses are subject to certain notification 
requirements under the Investment Canada Act in the prescribed form and manner.  

Management of the Company believes that it is not currently a “non-Canadian” for purposes of the Investment Canada Act 
and therefore it is not subject to the Act. However, if the Company were to become a “non-Canadian” in the future, acquisitions of 
control of Canadian businesses by the Company would become subject to the Investment Canada Act. Generally, the direct 
acquisition by a “non-Canadian” of an existing Canadian business with gross assets of $5 million or more is reviewable under the 
Investment Canada Act, unless the business is acquired by a WTO investor in which the thresholds for transactions are expected to be 
CAD $354 million in 2014 (the 2014 threshold is expected to be published in the Canada Gazette in early 2014). Generally, indirect 
acquisitions of existing Canadian businesses (with gross assets over $50 million) are reviewable under the Investment Canada Act, 
except in situations involving “WTO investors” where indirect acquisitions are generally not reviewable but are nonetheless subject 
to notification.  

Under the Investment Canada Act, the Minister may order a review of any investment by a non-Canadian, regardless of the 
size of the interest acquired or the value of the assets involved, where the Minister has reasonable grounds to believe that such an 
investment could be injurious to national security. No guidelines or other explanatory statements have been issued to provide 
guidance on the scope of the national security review power. 

Acquisitions of businesses related to Canada’s cultural heritage or national identity (regardless of the value of assets 
involved) may also be reviewable under the Investment Canada Act. In addition, investments to establish new, unrelated businesses 
are not generally reviewable but are nonetheless subject to notification. An investment to establish a new business that is related to 
the non-Canadian’s existing business in Canada is not subject to notification under the Investment Canada Act unless such investment 
relates to Canada’s cultural heritage or national identity.  
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D. Exchange controls. 



Any proposed take-over of the Company by a “non-Canadian” would likely only be subject to the simple notification 
requirements of the Investment Canada Act, as in all likelihood that non-Canadian would be a “WTO investor” for purposes of the 
Investment Canada Act and the Company would not likely exceed the applicable review threshold for a “WTO Investor.” Generally, 
a “WTO investor” is an individual, other than a Canadian, who is a national of a country that is a member of the World Trade 
Organization or a business entity controlled by such an individual. Virtually all countries of the Western world are members of the 
World Trade Organization. A take-over offer from a non-WTO Investor would be reviewable if the net book value of the Company’s 
assets exceeded $5 million for a direct acquisition, or exceeded $50 million for an indirect acquisition.  

  

10.E.1. Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Consequences - General  

The following is a brief summary of the material Canadian federal income tax consequences to a holder of the Shares (a 
“Holder”). This summary is applicable only to Holders who are residents of the United States, have never been resident in Canada, 
deal at arm’s length with the Company, hold their Shares as capital property, and who will not use or hold the Shares in carrying on 
business in Canada. Special rules, which are not discussed in this summary, may apply to a United States Holder that is an issuer that 
carries on business in Canada and elsewhere. 

This summary is based upon the provisions of the Income Tax Act of Canada and the regulations thereunder (collectively, 
the “Act”) and that Canada-United States Tax Convention (the “Treaty”) as of the date of this annual report, and the current 
administrative practices of Canada Customs and Revenue Agency. This summary does not take into account provincial income tax 
consequences.  

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, and should not be construed to be, legal, business or tax 
advice to any particular Holder or prospective Holder of Shares, and no opinion or representation with respect to the tax 
consequences to any Holder or prospective Holder of Shares is made. Accordingly, Holders and prospective Holders of Shares are 
strongly urged to consult their own tax advisors with respect to the income tax consequences of purchasing, owning and disposing of 
our common shares in their particular circumstances.  

10.E.2. Dividends  

Dividends paid on shares of a corporation to a non-resident Holder will be subject under the Act to withholding tax at a 
standard rate of 25%, subject to a reduction under the provisions of the Treaty, which withholding tax is deducted at source by the 
Company. Pursuant to the Treaty, the standard withholding tax rate is reduced to 15% on dividends paid on shares of a corporation 
resident in Canada (such as the Company) to residents of the United States, and also provides for a further reduction of the 
withholding tax rate to 5% where the beneficial owner of the dividends is a corporation resident in the United States that owns at least 
10% of the voting shares of the corporation paying the dividend.  

10.E.3. Disposition of Common Shares  

A Holder who disposes of shares of a corporation, including by deemed disposition on death, will not normally be subject 
to Canadian tax on any capital gain (or capital loss) thereby realized unless the common share constituted “taxable Canadian 
property” as defined by the Act. Generally, a common share of a public corporation will not constitute taxable Canadian property of a 
Holder if the share is listed on a  
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designated stock exchange unless the Holder or persons with whom the Holder did not deal at arm’s length, alone or together, held or 
held options to acquire, at any time within the five years preceding the disposition, 25% or more of the shares of any class of the 
capital stock of the Company. The TSXV is a designated stock exchange under the Act.  

A Holder who is a resident of the United States and realizes a capital gain on a disposition of a common share that was 
taxable Canadian property will nevertheless, by virtue of the Treaty, generally be exempt from Canadian tax thereon unless (a) more 
than 50% of the value of the common shares is derived from, or from an interest in real or immovable property situated in Canada 
including Canadian real estate, Canadian timber resource properties, Canadian mineral resource properties, and options in respect of 
property of the aforementioned (b) the common share formed part of the Business property of a permanent establishment that the 
Holder has or had in Canada within the 12 month period preceding the disposition, or (c) the Holder is an individual who (i) was a 
resident of Canada at any time during the 10 years immediately preceding the disposition, and for a total of 120 months during any 
period of 20 consecutive years, preceding the disposition, and (ii) owned the common share when he ceased to be resident in Canada. 

A Holder who is subject to Canadian tax in respect of a capital gain realized on a disposition of a common share must 
include one-half of the capital gain (taxable capital gain) in computing the Holder’s taxable income earned in Canada. The Holder 
may, subject to certain limitations, deduct one-half of any capital loss (allowable capital loss) arising on a disposition of taxable 
Canadian property from taxable capital gains realized in the year of disposition in respect of taxable Canadian property and, to the 
extent not so deductible, from such taxable capital gains realized in any of the three preceding years or any subsequent year.  

10.E.4. United States Taxation  

Material U.S. Federal Income Tax Considerations  

The following is a discussion of certain material U.S. federal income tax considerations that may be relevant to our 
shareholders. This discussion is based upon the provisions of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “Code”), legislative history, 
applicable U.S. Treasury Regulations promulgated thereunder, judicial authority and administrative interpretations, as of the date of 
this annual report, all of which are subject to change, possibly with retroactive effect, or are subject to different interpretations. 
Changes in these authorities may cause the U.S. federal income tax considerations to vary substantially from those described below.  

This discussion applies only to beneficial owners of our Shares that own the Shares as “capital assets” (generally, for 
investment purposes) and does not comment on all aspects of U.S. federal income taxation that may be important to certain 
shareholders in light of their particular circumstances, such as shareholders subject to special tax rules (e.g., financial institutions, 
regulated investment companies, real estate investment trusts, insurance companies, traders in securities that have elected the mark-
to-market method of accounting for their securities, persons liable for alternative minimum tax, broker-dealers, tax-exempt 
organizations, or former citizens or long-term residents of the United States) or shareholders that hold our Shares as part of a straddle, 
hedge, conversion, constructive sale or other integrated transaction for U.S. federal income tax purposes, all of whom may be subject 
to U.S. federal income tax rules that differ significantly from those summarized below. If a partnership or other entity or arrangement 
treated as a partnership for U.S. federal income tax purposes holds our Shares, the tax treatment of its partners generally will depend 
upon the status of the partner and the activities of the partnership. Partners in partnerships holding our Shares should consult their 
own tax advisors to determine the appropriate tax treatment of the partnership’s ownership of our Shares.  
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No ruling has been requested from the IRS regarding any matter affecting the Company or its shareholders. Accordingly, 
statements made herein may not be sustained by a court if contested by the IRS.  

This discussion does not address any U.S. estate, gift or alternative minimum tax consideration or tax considerations 
arising under the laws of any state, local or non –U.S. jurisdiction. Shareholders are urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding 
the U.S. federal, state, local, non-U.S. and other tax consequences of owning and disposing of our Shares.  

U.S. Federal Income Taxation of U.S. Holders  

As used herein, the term “U.S. Holder” means a beneficial owner of our Shares that is for U.S. federal income tax 
purposes: (a) a U.S. citizen or U.S. resident alien (a U.S. Individual Holder); (b) a corporation, or other entity taxable as a corporation 
that was created or organized under the laws of the United States, any state thereof, or the District of Columbia; (c) an estate whose 
income is subject to U.S. federal income taxation regardless of its source; or (d) a trust that either is subject to the supervision of a 
court within the United States and has one or more U.S. persons with authority to control all of its substantial decisions or has a valid 
election in effect under applicable Treasury Regulations to be treated as a U.S. person.  

Distributions  

Any distributions made by us to a U.S. Holder generally will constitute dividends, which may be taxable as ordinary 
income or “qualified dividend income” as described in more detail in the paragraph below, to the extent of our current and 
accumulated earnings and profits allocated to the U.S. Holder’s shares, as determined under U.S. federal income tax principles. 
Distributions in excess of our current and accumulated earnings and profits allocated to the U.S. Holder’s Shares will be treated first 
as a nontaxable return of capital to the extent of the U.S. Holder’s tax basis in our Shares and thereafter as capital gain, which will be 
either long-term or short-term capital gain depending upon whether the U.S. Holder has held the Shares for more than one year. U.S. 
Holders that are corporations generally will not be entitled to claim a “dividends received” deduction with respect to any distributions 
they receive from us. For purposes of computing allowable foreign tax credits for U.S. federal income tax purposes, dividends 
received with respect to our Shares will be treated as foreign source income and, generally, will be treated as “passive category 
income,” or in the case of certain types of U.S. Holders, “general category income.”  

Under current law, subject to holding-period requirements and certain other limitations, dividends received with respect to 
our publicly traded shares by a U.S. Holder who is an individual, trust or estate (a Non-Corporate U.S. Holder generally will be 
treated as qualified dividend income that is taxable to such Non-Corporate U.S. Holder at preferential capital gain tax rates.  

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of Our Shares  

A U.S. Holder generally will recognize capital gain or loss upon a sale, exchange or other disposition of our Shares in an 
amount equal to the difference between the amount realized by the U.S. Holder from such sale, exchange or other disposition and the 
U.S. Holder’s tax basis in such Shares.  

Gain or loss recognized upon a sale, exchange or other disposition of our Shares generally will be (a) treated as long-term 
capital gain or loss if the U.S. Holder’s holding period is greater than one year at the time of the sale, exchange or other disposition, 
or short-term capital gain or loss otherwise, and (b) treated as U.S. source income or loss, as applicable, for foreign tax credit 
purposes. Non-Corporate U.S. Holders may be eligible for preferential rates of U.S. federal income tax in respect of long-term capital 
gains. A U.S. Holder’s ability to deduct capital losses is subject to certain limitations.  
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Consequences of Possible CFC Classification  

If CFC Shareholders (generally, U.S. Holders who each own, directly, indirectly or constructively, 10% or more of the 
total combined voting power of all classes of our outstanding Shares entitled to vote) own directly, indirectly or constructively more 
than 50% of either the total combined voting power of all classes of our outstanding Shares entitled to vote or the total value of all of 
our outstanding Shares, we generally would be treated as a controlled foreign corporation, or a CFC. Certain disclosure requirement 
apply to CFC Shareholders, whether or not we are a CFC. Investors are urged to consult with their own tax advisors regarding the 
possible application of these disclosure requirements to their investment in our Shares.  

CFC Shareholders are treated as receiving current distributions of their respective share of certain income of the CFC and 
earnings invested in U.S. property during the year without regard to any actual distributions. In addition, CFC Shareholders are 
subject to certain burdensome U.S. federal income tax and administrative requirements. In addition, a person who is or has been a 
CFC Shareholder may be taxed at ordinary rates on all or a portion of the Shareholders income from disposition of shares of the CFC. 
U.S. persons who may, individually or together with a statutorily related person, obtain a substantial interest in us should consider the 
potential implications of being treated as a CFC Shareholder.  

The U.S. federal income tax consequences to U.S. Holders who are not CFC Shareholders would not change in the event 
we become a CFC in the future.  

PFIC Status and Significant Tax Consequences  

Special and adverse U.S. federal income tax rules apply to a U.S. Holder that holds stock in a non-U.S. entity treated as a 
corporation and classified as a PFIC for U.S. federal income tax purposes. In general, we will be treated as a PFIC for any taxable 
year in which either (a) at least 75% of our gross income consists of passive income and (b) at least 50% of the average value of our 
assets is attributable to assets that produce passive income, or are held for the production of passive income. For purpose of these 
tests, passive income includes dividends, interest, gains from the sale or exchange of investment property and rents and royalties 
(subject to certain exclusions including the exclusion for rents and royalties derived in connection with the active conduct of a trade 
or business) but does not include income derived from the performance of services. Based on the current composition of our assets 
and operations (and that of our subsidiaries), we intend to take the position that we are not now and have never been a PFIC. Further, 
although we intend to conduct our affairs in a manner to avoid being classified as a PFIC with respect to any taxable year, there can 
be no assurance that the nature of our operations, and therefore the composition of our income and assets, will remain the same in the 
future. Moreover, the market value of our stock may be treated as reflecting the value of our assets at any given time. Therefore, a 
decline in the market value of our stock (which is not within our control) may impact the determination of whether we are a PFIC. 
Because our status as a PFIC for any taxable year will not be determinable until after the end of the taxable year, there can be no 
assurance that we will not be considered a PFIC for any future taxable year.  

If we were to be treated as a PFIC for any taxable year a U.S. Holder may be subject to special rules resulting in increased 
tax liability and may also be subject to certain filing requirements.  

U.S. Holders are strongly urged to consult their own tax advisors regarding the PFIC rules, including the PFIC annual 
reporting requirements, as well as applicability, availability and advisability of, and procedure for, making available elections with 
respect to us, and the U.S. federal income tax consequences of making such elections.  
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U.S. Return Disclosure Requirements for U.S. Individual Holders 

U.S. Individual Holders that hold certain specified foreign financial assets, including stock in a foreign corporation that is 
not held in an account maintained by a financial institution, with an aggregate value in excess of certain thresholds that vary 
depending on the individual’s tax status and residency may be required to report such assets on IRS Form 8938 with their tax return 
for that taxable year. Penalties apply for failure to properly complete and file Form 8938. Investors are encouraged to consult with 
their own tax advisors regarding the possible application of this disclosure requirement to their investment in our Shares. The IRS 
anticipates issuing regulations that will require certain domestic entities to file Form 8958. Investors are urged to consult their own 
tax advisors regarding possible application of these requirements to their investment in our Shares in the future.  

U.S. Federal Income Taxation of Non-U.S. Holders  

A beneficial owner of our Shares (other than a partnership or an entity or arrangement treated as a partnership for U.S. 
federal income tax purposes) that is not a U.S. Holder is referred to herein as a non-U.S. Holder.  

Distributions  

In general, a non-U.S. Holder is not subject to U.S. federal income tax on distributions received from us with respect to our 
Shares unless the distributions are effectively connected with the non-U.S. Holder’s conduct of a trade or business within the United 
States (and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, are attributable to a permanent establishment that the non- U.S. Holder 
maintains in the United States). If a non-U.S. Holder is engaged in a U.S. trade or business and the distribution is deemed to be 
effectively connected to that trade or business, the non-U.S. Holder generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on that 
distribution in the same manner as if it were a U.S. Holder.  

Sale, Exchange or Other Disposition of Our Shares  

In general, a non-U.S. Holder is not subject to U.S. federal income tax on any gain resulting from the disposition of our 
Shares unless (a) such gain is effectively connected with the non-U.S. Holder’s conduct of a trade or business in the United States 
(and, if required by an applicable income tax treaty, is attributable to a permanent establishment that the non-U.S. Holder maintains in 
the United States) or (b) the non-U.S. Holder is an individual who is present in the United States for 183 days or more during the 
taxable year in which those Shares are disposed of (and certain other requirements are met). If a non-U.S. Holder is engaged in a U.S. 
trade or business and the disposition of Shares is deemed to be effectively connected to that trade or business, the non-U.S. Holder 
generally will be subject to U.S. federal income tax on the resulting gain in the same manner as if it were a U.S. Holder.  

Medicare Tax on Unearned Income  

Certain Non-Corporate U.S. Holders, including certain beneficiaries of foreign estates and trusts, are subject to a 3.8% tax 
on certain investment income, including dividends and gain from the sale or other disposition of our Shares.  
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Information Reporting and Backup Withholding  

In general, payments of distributions or the proceeds of a disposition of our Shares to a Non-Corporate U.S. Holder will be subject to 
information reporting requirements. These payments to a Non-Corporate U.S. Holder also may be subject to backup withholding if 
the U.S. Holder:  
  

  

  

Non-U.S. Holders may be required to establish their exemption from information reporting and backup withholding on 
payments made to them within the United States by certifying their status on an IRS Form W-8BEN, W-8ECI, or W-8IMY, as 
applicable.  

Backup withholding is not an additional tax. Rather, a holder generally may obtain a credit for any amount withheld against its 
liability for U.S. federal income tax (and obtain a refund of any amounts withheld in excess of such liability) by accurately 
completing and timely filing a U.S. federal income tax return with the IRS.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

We are filing this Form as an annual report under the Exchange Act and, as such, there is no requirement to provide any 
information under this item.  

  

Any statement in this annual report about any of our contracts or other documents is not necessarily complete. If the 
contract or document is filed as an exhibit to this annual report or is incorporated by reference, the contract or document is deemed to 
modify our description. You must review the exhibits themselves for a complete description of any contract or document.  

You may request a copy free of charge by mail to 10240 Old Columbia Road, Suite G, Columbia, Maryland 21046, or by 
telephone at 410-290-5734.  

You may also review a copy of our filings with the SEC, including exhibits and schedules filed with or incorporated by 
reference in this annual report and future filings with the SEC, at the SEC’s public reference facilities in Room 1580, 100 F Street, 
N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. You may also obtain copies of such materials from the Public Reference Section of the SEC, Room 
1580, 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549, at prescribed rates. You may call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 for further 
information on the public reference rooms. The SEC maintains a website (http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and 
information statements and other information regarding registrants that file electronically with the SEC.  

You may read and copy any reports, statements or other information that we file with the SEC at the addresses indicated 
above and you may also access some of them electronically at the website set forth above. These SEC filings are also available to the 
public from commercial document retrieval services.  
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 •  fails to timely provide an accurate taxpayer identification number; 

 •  is notified by the IRS that it has failed to report all interest or distributions required to be shown on its U.S. federal income 
tax returns; or 

 •  in certain circumstances, fails to comply with applicable certification requirements 

F. Dividends and paying agents. 

G. Statement by experts. 

H. Documents on display. 



Not applicable.  

  

We are exposed to various market risks including interest rate risks, foreign currency exchange risks and equity price risks, 
which may affect our results of operations and financial condition and, consequently, the value of our company. We currently do not 
hedge interest rate exposure or foreign currency exchange exposure. We have not used derivative financial instruments for 
speculation or trading purposes.  

Interest Rate Risk  

Because of the short-term maturities of our cash and cash equivalents, we do not believe that an increase in market interest 
rates would have a significant impact on their realized value. The interest rates on our various outstanding debt instruments, including 
promissory and convertible notes, are fixed. Because of the fixed rates, a change in market interest rates would not have a material 
impact on interest expense associated with the debt.  

Exchange Rate Risk  

The Company’s reporting and functional currency is the U.S. dollar and, accordingly, the Company reports its financial 
results in U.S. dollars. The Company’s has certain transactions in the Canadian dollar. As a result, assets and liabilities maintained in 
the Canadian dollar are translated into U.S. dollars based on exchange rates at the end of every reporting period; income and expense 
items transacted in the Canadian dollar are translated at the average exchange rates prevailing during the reporting period.  

Equity Price Risk  

Historically, the Company has issued equity securities, and equity-linked securities such convertible debt, stock purchase 
warrants and stock options, to investors, employees and vendors. Equity and equity-linked securities are initially recorded in our 
financial statements at their fair values, and depending on the nature of the security may require periodic remeasurement at fair value. 
Changes in the market price of our common stock can have an impact on the value of the securities issued which could have a direct 
impact on those fair values, earnings, and cash flow.  

  

Not applicable.  

PART II  
  

As noted below, the Company is not in compliance with the provisions of outstanding debt agreements, and it has not remitted 
quarterly royalty payments to Boston Scientific Corporation pursuant to the terms of its purchase agreement for Prolieve. The 
Company has not paid interest owing to certain holders of the  
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convertible debentures, and is in a technical default of the terms of the debentures. Management is continuing its efforts to obtain 
additional funds through equity financing and through the negotiation of debt agreements to ensure that the Company can meet its 
obligations and sustain operations.  

Convertible Notes  

In fiscal 2014, the Company issued 554 Units of 8% Redeemable Promissory Convertible Notes (the “Notes”) together with Series C 
Stock Purchase Warrants (the “Warrants”) to various accredited investors in an offering exempt from registration in the U.S pursuant 
to regulations D and S under the U.S. Federal Securities rules and regulations, receiving gross proceeds of $5,540,000. The Company 
has accrued interest of $781,050 owing to holders of the convertible debentures as of March 31, 2016, of which $657,636 is past due, 
and is in a technical default of the terms of the debentures. The investors have not accelerated the terms of the debenture.  

Note Payable  

In fiscal 2013, the Company raised bridge financing of approximately $435,000. The bridge financing lender received a promissory 
note, with interest is payable at 2% per month after October 23, 2012. The original maturity date of the promissory notes was 
October 23, 2013 and was subsequently extended until June 30, 2014. The company made principle payments of approximately 
$178,000 during the year ended March 31, 2015. As at March 31, 2016, the note remains matured and the Company will attempt to 
discuss with the lender on a further extension of the maturity date. 

Boston Scientific Corporation  

On July 24, 2012 the Company purchased from Boston Scientific Corporation (“BSC”), in a taxable transaction, all of the assets, 
relating to the Prolieve Thermodilatation System (“Prolieve”), a FDA approved device for the treatment of Benign Prostatic 
Hyperplasia (“BPH”). The maximum amount of $2,500,000 is payable as contingent consideration pursuant to the terms of the 
agreement. The contingent consideration is payable quarterly at a rate of 10% of sales of Prolieve products. As of March 31, 2016, 
$1,257,995 of royalties is due to Boston Scientific Corporation, of which $1,144,313 is past due.  

  

None.  

  
  

Disclosure controls and procedures are defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act to mean controls and other 
procedures of an issuer that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by the issuer in the reports that it files or 
submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the SEC’s 
rules and forms and includes, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and 
communicated to the issuer’s management, including its principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing 
similar functions, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.  
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Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds. 

Item 15. Controls and Procedures. 

A. Disclosure Controls and Procedures. 



As required under the Exchange Act, we have carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our 
management, including our Chief Executive Officer, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of March 31, 
2016. Based on such evaluation, we have concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective to 
provide reasonable assurance that the information required to be disclosed by us in our Exchange Act reports is recorded, processed, 
summarized and reported within the time periods specified in applicable SEC rules and forms, and that such information is 
accumulated and communicated to our management, including our Chief Executive Officer, as appropriate, to allow timely 
discussions regarding required disclosure.  

  

This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an 
attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies.  

  

This annual report does not include a report of management’s assessment regarding internal control over financial reporting or an 
attestation report of the company’s registered public accounting firm due to a transition period established by the rules of the 
Securities and Exchange Commission for newly public companies.  

  

Our management has evaluated, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer, changes in our internal controls over financial 
reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) of the Exchange Act) during the year ended March 31, 2016. In connection with such 
evaluation, there have been no changes to our internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the year ended March 31, 
2016 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect our internal control over financial reporting. While 
there have been no significant changes, we have assessed our internal controls as having significant deficiencies and will be taking 
steps during fiscal 2017 to remedy such.  

  
  

The Board determined that Mr. Joseph S. C. Chan is an “audit committee financial expert” as defined in Item 16A of Form 20-F 
under the Exchange Act, and that Mr. Chan is independent.  

  

The Company has adopted a “Code of Ethics and Business Conduct”, applicable to all executives and employees. The Code of Ethics 
and Business Conduct sets forth provisions relating to honest and ethical conduct (including the handling of conflicts of interest), 
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations and accountability for adherence to the provisions of the Code of Ethics and 
Business Conduct. Our Board of Directors has charged the Audit Committee with enforcement of this Code of Business Conduct and 
Ethics. This Code of Business Conduct and Ethics applies to our President and Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, each 
member of the Board of Directors, and all employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is filed as exhibit.  
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B. Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. 

C. Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Firm. 

D. Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. 

Item 16. [Reserved]. 

Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert. 

Item 16B. Code of Ethics. 



The following summarizes the total fees billed by our external auditors for each of the years ended March 31, 2016 and March 31, 
2015. All dollar amounts are exclusive of applicable taxes.  
  

Audit Fees  

This category includes the aggregate fees billed by our independent auditor for the audit of our consolidated annual financial 
statements, reviews of interim financial statements and attestation services that are provided in connection with statutory and 
regulatory filings or engagements.  

Audit Related Fees  

This category includes the aggregate fees billed in each of the last two fiscal years for assurance and related services by the 
independent auditors that are reasonably related to the performance of the audits or reviews of the financial statements and are not 
reported above under “Audit Fees,” and generally consist of fees for other engagements under professional auditing standards, 
accounting and reporting consultations,  

Tax Fees  

This category includes the aggregate fees billed in each of the last two fiscal years for professional services rendered by the 
independent auditors for tax compliance, tax planning and tax advice.  

All Other Fees  

This category includes the aggregate fees billed in each of the last two fiscal years for products and services rendered by the 
independent auditors, other than the services reported above.  

Policy on Pre-Approval by Audit Committee of Services Performed by Independent Auditors  

We do not currently have a pre-approval policy regarding the services performed by our independent auditors. Rather, our 
shareholders appoint our independent auditors at our Annual Meeting of Shareholders, and authorize our directors to fix the auditor’s 
remuneration. At our Annual Meeting of Shareholders held in January 2015, our shareholders appointed Stegman & Company 
(“Stegman”) as our independent auditor, and authorized our directors to fix Stegman’s remuneration. At our Annual Meeting of 
Shareholders held in January 2014, our shareholders appointed Sievert & Sawrantschuk, LLP as our independent auditors. We have 
not held an Annual Meeting of Shareholders since January 2015, accordingly, our Audit Committee appointed Stegman as our 
independent auditor.  
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Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services. 

  2016    2015  
Audit Fees  $40,000    $52,500  
Audit-Related Fees  $ 4,000    $ 3,750  
Tax Fees  $27,075    $ 7,500  
All Other Fees  $15,000     —    



We intend on developing and implementing a pre-approval policy with respect to the services performed by independent auditors in 
the near future.  

  

Not applicable.  

  

The Company did not purchase any of its common shares during the financial year ended March 31, 2016.  

  

There has been no change in the Registrant’s Certifying Accountant.  

  

Not applicable.  

  

Not applicable.  

PART III  
  

See “Item 18. Financial Statements.”  

  

The following financial statements have been filed as part of this annual report.  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  
72 

Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees. 

Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers. 

Item 16F. Change in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant. 

Item 16G. Corporate Governance. 

Item 16H. Mine Safety Disclosure. 

Item 17. Financial Statements. 

Item 18. Financial Statements. 

 •  Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 •  Consolidated Balance Sheets of the Company for the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015 

 •  Consolidated Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 

 •  Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity (Deficit) for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 

 •  Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 

 •  Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 



(a) The following documents are filed as part of this annual report.  
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Item 19. Exhibits. 

Exhibit
No.   Exhibit

  1.1*   Certificate of Incorporation of Medifocus Inc.

  1.2*   Articles of Amendment to Certificate of Incorporation of Medifocus Inc.

  1.3*   By-Law No. One of Medifocus Inc.

  1.4*   By-Law No. Two of Medifocus Inc.

  2.1*   Form of Common Stock Certificate

  4.1*
  

Asset Purchase Agreement dated as of June 25, 2012 between Boston Scientific Corporation, Affiliates of Boston 
Scientific Corporation, and Medifocus Inc.

  4.2*
  

Amendment No. 1, dated July 24, 2012, to Asset Purchase Agreement between Boston Scientific Corporation and 
Medifocus Inc

  4.3*   Bill of Sale and Assignment, dated July 24, 2012, between Boston Scientific Corporation and Medifocus Inc.

  4.4*   Transition Services Agreement, dated July 24, 2012, between Boston Scientific Corporation and Medifocus Inc.

  4.5*
  

Non-Exclusive License Agreement, dated July 24, 2012, between Medifocus Inc. and Boston Scientific Corporation 
(Buyer Out-License Agreement)

  4.6*
  

Non-Exclusive License Agreement, dated July 24, 2012, between Medifocus Inc. and Boston Scientific Corporation 
(Seller Out-License Agreement)

  4.7*
  

Patent Assignment dated July 24, 2012 between Boston Scientific Corporation, Boston Scientific Scimed, Inc., and 
Boston Scientific Limited (collectively, the “Assignors”) and Medifocus Inc. (“Assignee’)

  4.8*
  

Trademark Assignment dated July 24, 2012 between Boston Scientific Scimed, Inc. (“Assignor”) and Medifocus Inc. 
(“Assignee”)

  4.9*   Assumption Agreement dated July 24, 2012 between Boston Scientific Corporation and Medifocus Inc.

  4.10*
  

Patent License Agreement dated October 24, 1997 between Massachusetts Institute of Technology and Cheung 
Laboratories, Inc.

  4.11*
  

First Amendment to Patent License Agreement, effective May 23, 2002, between Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
and Celsion Corporation

  4.12*
  

Second Amendment to Patent License Agreement, effective March 7, 2005, between Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology and Celsion Corporation

  4.13*
  

Third Amendment to Patent License Agreement, effective June 16, 2007, between Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
and Celsion (Canada) Limited

  4.14*
  

Fourth Amendment to Patent License Agreement, effective June 1, 2009, between Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
and Medifocus Inc.

  4.15*
  

Fifth Amendment to Patent License Agreement, effective March 29, 2013, between Massachusetts Institute of 
Technology and Medifocus Inc.



  

(b) Financial Statement Schedules  

None.  
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  4.16*
  

Sixth Amendment to Patent License Agreement, effective July 15, 2013, between Massachusetts Institute of Technology 
and Medifocus Inc.

  4.17*   Agreement dated January 16, 2006 between Celsion USA, Celsion Canada, and Dr. Augustine Cheung

  4.18*   Agreement dated November 8, 2013 between Medifocus Inc. and Ideal Concept Group Limited

  4.19*
  

License and Distribution Agreement dated as of November 8, 2013, between Medifocus Inc. and Medifocus Holding 
Limited (BVI)

  4.20*   Letter Agreement dated June 27, 2013 between Medifocus Inc. and Maxim Group LLC

  4.21*   Engagement Letter dated June 27, 2013 between Medifocus Inc. and Maxim Group LLC

  4.22*   Advisory Services Agreement, dated September 19, 2013, between Healthios Capital Markets LLC and Medifocus Inc.

  4.23*
  

Letter Agreement dated January 5, 2014 between Medifocus Inc. and Ernie Eves (regarding Mr. Eves’ resignation from 
the Medifocus Inc. Board of Directors)

  4.24*   Letter Agreement dated February 25, 2014, between Medifocus, Inc. and Maxim Group LLC

  4.25*   Stock Option Plan (Approved by the Company’s shareholders on January 16, 2014)

  4.26**
  

Medical Product Manufacturing Services Agreement, dated March 11, 2004, between Celsion Corporation and 
VENUSA Corporation, as subsequently assigned by Celsion Corporation to the Company.

  4.27**  Option Agreement, effective May 1, 2015, between Medifocus Inc. and Duke University

  4.28#   License Agreement, effective October 6, 2015, between Medifocus Inc. and Duke University

  4.29#   Code of Business Conduct and Ethics adopted by the Board of Directors on December 16, 2015

  8.1*   List of wholly-owned subsidiaries

12.1#   Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

12.2#   Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13.1#   Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13.2#   Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

15.1#   Consent of Stegman & Company, Certified Public Accountants

* Previously filed with the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 20-F, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission 
on September 17, 2014 

** Previously filed with Amendment No. 2 to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form 20-F/A, filed with the Securities and 
Exchange Commission on November 14, 2014. 

# Filed herewith 



SIGNATURES 

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and 
authorized the undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.  
  

Date: June 9, 2016  
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MEDIFOCUS INC.

/s/ Augustine Cheung, Ph.D. 
Augustine Cheung, Ph.D. 
President and Chief Executive Officer 



EXHIBIT INDEX 
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Exhibit
No.   Exhibit

4.28#   License Agreement, effective October 6, 2015, between Medifocus Inc. and Duke University

4.29#   Code of Business Conduct and Ethics adopted by the Board of Directors on December 16, 2015

12.1#   Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

12.2#   Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13.1#   Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

13.2#   Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

15.1#   Consent of Stegman & Company, Certified Public Accountants
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders  
Medifocus, Inc.  
Columbia, Maryland  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Medifocus, Inc. and Subsidiary (the “Company”) as of March 31, 
2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss, changes in stockholder’s equity, and 
cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended March 31, 2016. The Company’s management is responsible for these 
financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are 
free of material misstatement. The Company was not required to have, nor were engaged to perform, an audit of their internal control 
over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on 
a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and 
significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits 
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Medifocus, Inc. as of March 31, 2016 and 2015, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the 
three-year period ended March 31, 2016 in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared assuming the Company will continue as a going concern. As more fully 
described in Note 1, since its inception the Company has incurred recurring operating losses and will require additional financing to 
successfully develop its products. Additionally, the Company is not in compliance with the provisions of an outstanding debt 
agreement and certain convertible notes payable. These conditions raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. Management’s plans regarding these matters are also described in Note 1. The financial statements do not include 
any adjustments to reflect the possible future effects or recoverability and classification of assets and liabilities that may result from 
the outcome of this uncertainty. Our opinion is not modified with respect to that matter.  

/s/ Stegman & Company  

Baltimore, Maryland  
May 27, 2016  
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MEDIFOCUS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  

(in U.S. dollars)  
  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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March 31, 

2016   
March 31, 

2015
ASSETS   

Current assets:   
Cash and cash equivalents  $ 113,946   $ 1,312,479  
Accounts receivable, net   660,637    1,057,705  
Inventory, net   62,554    79,604  
Deferred financing costs   91,698    191,228  
Other assets   14,214    38,800  

           

Total Current Assets   943,049    2,679,816  
           

Inventory, net   —     190,276  
Property and equipment, net   510,141    469,035  
Deferred financing costs, long term   —     91,698  
Deposits   271,330    221,330  
Intangible assets, net   1,520,120    1,766,332  

           

Total Assets  $ 3,244,640   $ 5,418,487  
     

 
     

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT   
Current liabilities:   
Accounts payable  $ 864,022   $ 606,527  
Accrued expenses   797,141    568,919  
Accrued interest payable   1,082,502    567,955  
Promissory notes payable   274,890    282,303  
Payable to Boston Scientific Corporation   1,257,995    831,632  
Contingent consideration, current portion   461,211    440,663  
Convertible notes payable (net of discount), current portion   5,030,836    4,426,984  

            

Total Current Liabilities   9,768,597    7,724,983  
            

Contingent consideration   297,742    590,516  
           

Total liabilities   10,066,339    8,315,499  
           

Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)   
Stockholders’ deficit:   
Common stock (no par value), unlimited shares authorized, 184,984,215 and 127,542,120 

shares issued and outstanding as of March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015, respectively.   14,295,388    12,782,563  
Common stock issuable   —     1,561,000  
Additional paid-in capital   10,744,777    9,659,740  
Accumulated deficit   (31,861,864)   (26,900,315) 

           

Total Stockholders’ Deficit   (6,821,699)   (2,897,012) 
           

Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Deficit  $ 3,244,640   $ 5,418,487  
     

 
     



MEDIFOCUS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  

(in U.S. dollars)  
  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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  Year ended March 31,
  2016 2015   2014
Sales   

Products  $ 1,431,621  $ 1,212,224   $ 2,704,593  
Services  3,103,319   3,007,235    2,411,913  

           

Total Sales  4,534,940   4,219,459    5,116,506  
           

Costs of Sales   
Products  710,620   665,382    1,167,493  
Services  2,546,258   2,990,089    2,381,605  

               

Total Costs of Sales  3,256,878   3,655,471    3,549,098  
               

Gross Profit  1,278,062   563,988    1,567,408  
               

Operating Expenses   
Research and development  626,285   399,212    472,810  
Sales and marketing  1,140,029   1,549,460    2,122,203  
General and administrative  2,728,553   2,703,301    3,859,202  

                 

Total Operating Expenses  4,494,867   4,651,973    6,454,215  
                 

Loss from Operations  (3,216,805)  (4,087,985)   (4,886,807) 
               

Other Income (Expense)   
Net gain (loss) from equity method investment  100,000   (55,735)   (159,000) 
Recognition of accumulated foreign currency translations adjustments  —   (203,553)   —  
Foreign exchange gain (loss)  10,216   21,366    (24,398) 
Loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration  (154,137)  (280,296)   (705,355) 
Loss from impairment of long-lived assets  (99,020)  —     —  
Loss from write off harmonized sales tax receivable  (208,138)  —     —  
Interest and discount accretion  (1,393,665)  (1,365,267)   (217,337) 

               

Total Other Income (Expense)  (1,744,744)  (1,883,485)   (1,106,090) 
               

Net Loss  (4,961,549)  (5,971,470)   (5,992,897) 
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  —   203,553    (116,524) 

               

Net Comprehensive Loss  $ (4,961,549) $ (5,767,917)  $ (6,109,421) 
         

 
     

Net Loss per share basic and diluted  $ (0.03) $ (0.05)  $ (0.05) 
         

 
     

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic and diluted  164,701,958   122,809,928    117,260,870  
         

 
     



MEDIFOCUS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  

(in U.S. dollars)  
  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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  Year ended March 31,
  2016   2015   2014
Net Loss  $(4,961,549)  $(5,971,470)  $(5,992,897) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:    
Accretion of deferred financing costs and debt discount  795,080    712,841    122,251  
Depreciation and amortization  360,355    360,886    357,697  
Stock-based compensation  183,410    —     94,801  
Loss on change in fair value of contingent consideration  154,137    280,296    705,355  
(Gain) loss from equity method investment  (100,000)   55,735    159,000  
Loss on write-off of harmonized sales tax receivable  208,138    —     —  
Loss on impairment of long-lived asset  99,020    —     —  
Provisions for bad debts and warranties  17,678    71,367    46,000  
Recognition of accumulated foreign currency translation adjustments  —     203,553    —  
Loss on fixed asset disposal  —     4,374    —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities    
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable  165,655    844,589    (1,334,881) 
Decrease (increase) in inventory  17,050    439,159    (146,124) 
Decrease (increase) in other current assets  24,586    (7,250)   (6,824) 
(Increase) decrease in deposits  (50,000)   20,977    57,693  
Increase in deferred financing costs  —     —     (467,357) 
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable  257,495    (409,730)   489,371  
Increase in accrued expenses  373,035    193,050    374,516  
Increase in accrued interest  518,584    380,383    79,408  

                  

Net cash used in operating activities  (1,937,326)   (2,821,240)   (5,461,991) 
                  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:    
Purchase of fixed assets  (63,993)   (44,653)   (16,059) 
Sale of (investment in) equity method investment  100,000    —     (159,000) 
Payment of contingent consideration  —     —     (309,133) 

                 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  36,007    (44,653)   (484,192) 
                 

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:    
Proceeds from the issuance of common shares, net of issuance costs  713,000    1,444,274    —  
Proceeds for common shares issuable  —     1,561,000    —  
Proceeds from convertible notes payable  —     —     5,540,000  
Principal repayments on note payable  —     (178,488)   —  

                 

Net cash provided by financing activities  713,000    2,826,786    5,540,000  
                 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (10,214)   59,077    (27,330) 
                 

(DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  (1,198,533)   19,970    (433,513) 
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD  1,312,479    1,292,509    1,726,022  

                 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF THE PERIOD  $ 113,946   $ 1,312,479   $ 1,292,509  
     

 
     

 
     

 

Cash paid for interest  $ 120,000   $ 185,964   $ 132,751  
     

 
     

 
     

 

NON CASH INVESTING AND FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Issuance of common shares issuable  $ 1,561,000   $ —    $ —  
Warrant modification  $ 725,458   $ —    $ —  
Accrued expense settled with common shares  $ 140,452   $ —    $ —  
Inventory classified as property and equipment  $ 91,256   $ —    $ —  



MEDIFOCUS, INC. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT  

(in U.S. dollars)  
  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.  
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Common Stock

Shares
Common Stock

Amount   
Common Stock

Issuable

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit   

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)   

Total
Stockholders’

Deficit
Balance at April 1, 2013   117,260,870  $ 12,524,735   $ —   $ 6,576,326  $(14,935,948)  $ (87,029)  $ 4,078,084  
Warrants and beneficial 

conversion feature 
associated with 
convertible notes   —   —      —   1,782,167  —      —      1,782,167  

Extension of warrants and 
adjustments to common 
stock   —   (152,237)   —   172,237  —      —      20,000  

Stock-based compensation   —   —      —   94,801  —      —      94,801  
Foreign currency 

translation   —   —      —   —   —      (116,524)   (116,524) 
Net loss   —   —      —   —   (5,992,897)   —      (5,992,897) 

                                   

Balance at March 31, 
2014   117,260,870  12,372,498    —   8,625,531  (20,928,845)   (203,553)   (134,369) 

                      

Issuance of common shares 
in private placement   10,281,250  410,065    —   1,034,209  —      —      1,444,274  

Proceeds for future private 
placement   —   —      1,561,000  —   —      —      1,561,000  

Accumulated foreign 
currency translation 
adjustments recognized 
into income   —   —      —   —   —      203,553    203,553  

Net loss   —   —      —   —   (5,971,470)   —      (5,971,470) 
                                   

Balance at March 31, 
2015   127,542,120  12,782,563    1,561,000  9,659,740  (26,900,315)   —      (2,897,012) 

                                   

Issuance of common shares 
issuable   38,750,000  1,561,000    (1,561,000) —   —      —      —   

Issuance of common shares 
in private placement   15,500,000  536,831    —   176,169  —      —      713,000  

Common shares issued for 
debt   3,192,095  140,452    —   —   —      —      140,452  

Extension of warrants   —   (725,458)   —   725,458  —      —      —   
Stock-based compensation   —   —      —   183,410  —      —      183,410  
Net loss   —   —      —   —   (4,961,549)   —      (4,961,549) 

                                       

Balance at March 31, 
2016   184,984,215  $ 14,295,388   $ —   $10,744,777  $(31,861,864)  $ —     $(6,821,699) 

     
 

    
 

     
 

    
 

    
 

     
 

     
 



MEDIFOCUS, INC. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

AS OF MARCH 31, 2016  

1. BUSINESS, LIQUIDITY AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

Description of Business and Current Financial Condition  

Medifocus Inc. (the “Company” or “Medifocus”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on April 25, 2005. 
Medifocus develops and commercializes minimally invasive focused heat systems for the treatment of cancerous and benign tumors, 
and enlarged prostate, medically known as Benign Prostate Hyperplasia (“BPH”).  

The Company owns two focused heat technology platforms with comprehensive US and international patent protection:  
  

  

  

Going Concern Consideration  

The Company’s operations are subject to certain risks and uncertainties including, among others, current and potential competitors 
with greater resources, dependence on significant customers, lack of operating history and uncertainty of future profitability and 
possible fluctuations in financial results. Since inception, the Company has incurred substantial operating losses, principally from 
expenses associated with the Company’s Prolieve operation, research and development, financing activities. The Company believes 
these expenditures are essential for the commercialization of its technologies. The Company expects its operating losses to continue 
for the foreseeable future as it continues its Prolieve sales and marketing activities and new product development efforts. Due to 
continued substantial operating losses, there is substantial doubt regarding the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The 
Company’s ability to achieve profitability is dependent upon its ability to operate its Prolieve business profitably and to obtain 
governmental approvals, produce, and market and sell its new product candidates. There can be no assurance that the Company will 
be able to commercialize its technology successfully or that profitability will ever be achieved. The operating results of the Company 
have fluctuated significantly in the past. The Company expects that its operating results will fluctuate significantly in the future and 
will depend on a number of factors, many of which are outside the Company’s control.  

The Company will need substantial additional funding in order to sustain its operation, to complete the development, testing and 
commercialization of its product candidates. The commitment to these projects will require additional external funding, at least until 
the Company is able to generate sufficient cash flow from the sale of one or more of its products to support its continued operations. 
If adequate funding is not available, the Company may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate certain aspects of its operations 
or attempt to obtain funds through unfavorable arrangements with partners or others that may force it to relinquish rights to certain of 
its technologies, products or potential markets or that could impose onerous financial or other terms. Furthermore, if the Company 
cannot fund its ongoing development and other operating requirements, particularly those associated with its obligations to conduct 
clinical trials under its licensing agreements, it will be in breach of these licensing agreements and could therefore lose its license 
rights, which could have material adverse effects on its business. Additionally, the Company is not in compliance with the provisions 
of outstanding debt agreements, and it has not remitted quarterly royalty payments to Boston Scientific Corporation pursuant to the 
terms of its purchase agreement for Prolieve. The Company has not paid interest owing to certain holders of the convertible 
debentures, and is in a technical default of the terms of the debentures. The investors have not accelerated the terms of the debenture. 
Management is continuing its efforts to obtain additional funds through equity financing and through the negotiation of debt 
agreements to ensure that the Company can meet its obligations and sustain operations.  
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 •  The Endo-thermotherapy Platform-from which Prolieve was developed, can potentially be used to treat cancers in prostate, 
rectal, cervical and esophageal, and 

 

•  The Adaptive Phased Array (“APA”) Microwave Focusing Platform-invented by MIT, licensed to Medifocus, directs 
precisely focused microwave energy at tumor center to induce shrinkage or eradication of tumors without undue harm to 
surrounding tissue. The Company’s APA 1000 Breast Cancer Treatment System, developed from the APA technology 
platform is currently in pivotal Phase-III clinical trials. 

 

•  In addition to the two focused heat technology platforms, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with 
Duke University regarding Heat-Activated and Tumor-Targeted Immunotherapy and Gene Therapy. The exclusive license 
agreement pertains to the Patent Rights of a Duke invention for the development of heat-activated and tumor-targeted 
immunotherapy and gene therapy for the treatment of cancers and other diseases. 



The consolidated financial statements do not include any adjustments relating to recoverability and classification of recorded asset 
amounts or the amounts and classification of liabilities that might be necessary should the Company be unable to continue in 
existence.  

Basis of Presentation and Principles of Consolidation  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Medifocus, Inc. have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted 
accounting principles in the United States (“U.S. GAAP”) and include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiary 
Celsion (Canada) Inc. All intercompany transactions have been eliminated. There were no transactions for Celsion (Canada) Inc. for 
the year ended March 31, 2016.  

Unless otherwise noted, all references to “$” or “dollar” refer to the United States dollar. The Company operates in a single business 
segment, focused heat systems for targeted thermotherapy of surface, subsurface and deep seated localized and regional cancers. 
Substantially all of the Company’s revenue is generated, and assets are located, in the United States.  

Foreign Currency  

Effective April 1, 2013, the Company changed its reporting currency from the Canadian dollar (“CAD”) to the U.S. dollar in 
anticipation of filing its financial statements with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission. Effective April 1, 2014, the 
Company changed its functional currency and that of its wholly owned subsidiary to the U.S. dollar. As a result, all translation 
adjustments prior to April 1, 2014 were recognized into other income (expense) in the year ending March 31, 2015.  

Use of Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial 
statements and the reported amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The consolidated financial statements 
include significant estimates for the expected economic life and value of our licensed technology, allowance for doubtful accounts, 
value of contingent consideration, value of our debt issuances, accruals for estimated product returns, warrant relative fair value 
calculation, allowance for inventory obsolescence, allowance for our net operating loss carry forward and related valuation allowance 
for tax purposes and our stock-based compensation related to employees and directors, consultants and advisors. Because of the use 
of estimates inherent in the financial reporting process, actual results could differ significantly from those estimates.  

Credit Concentration  

The Company’s customers are primarily physicians and physician organizations in the U.S. For the year ended March 31, 2015, one 
customer represented approximately 12% of total revenues. No individual customer represented more than 10% of revenues for either 
of the years March 31, 2016 nor March 31, 2014.  

Vendor Concentration and Deposits  

The Company currently purchases 100% of its Prolieve catheter inventory from one supplier. Alternative suppliers and alternative 
catheters are not currently available. The Company maintains a deposit of $221,330 with its vendor. The company maintains an 
additional deposit of $50,000 with a separate vendor to perform work for the company at a later specified date.  

Fair Value Measurements  

The Company’s consolidated statements of financial position include various financial instruments (primarily cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, accrued expenses, and notes payable) recorded at cost, which approximates their 
fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received from the sale of an asset or paid to transfer a liability assuming an orderly 
transaction in the most advantageous market at the measurement date. U.S. GAAP establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework 
which prioritizes and ranks the level of observability of inputs used in measuring fair value. These tiers include:  
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 •  Level 1—Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical assets or 
liabilities. The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to Level 1 inputs. 

 •  Level 2—Observable market-based inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

 •  Level 3—Unobservable inputs are used when little or no market data is available. The fair value hierarchy gives the lowest 
priority to Level 3 inputs.



In connection with the acquisition of Prolieve, the Company owes additional purchase consideration of up to $2.5 million (contingent 
consideration) based on the sales of Prolieve products after their acquisition. The contingent consideration is measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis using level 3 inputs, and the fair value is determined using unobservable inputs such as the discount rate. The change in the 
fair value of the contingent consideration of $154,137, $280,296 and $705,355 for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively, is reflected as “loss from change in fair value of contingent consideration” in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations and comprehensive loss. See note 2.  

The Company has no financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis. The Company’s long-lived assets are 
measured at fair value on a non-recurring basis only when an impairment is deemed to occur.  

Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The carrying amounts of financial instruments classified as current assets or liabilities, including accounts receivable, accounts payable and 
accrued expenses approximate fair value because of the short maturity of these instruments.  

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) and Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  

Other comprehensive income (loss) includes the total of the Company’s net loss and all other changes in equity other than transactions with 
owners, including changes in equity for cumulative translation adjustments resulting from the consolidation of foreign subsidiaries as the 
financial statements of the subsidiaries were previously accounted for using the local currency as the functional currency. The company 
recognized $116,524 of foreign currency losses during the year ended March 31, 2014. Accumulated foreign currency losses of $203,553 
were recognized into income during the year ended March 31, 2015. The company did not recognize any foreign currency losses during the 
years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

The Company considers all highly liquid instruments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash equivalents. All interest 
bearing and non-interest bearing accounts are guaranteed by the FDIC up to $250,000. The Company may maintain cash balances in excess 
of FDIC coverage. Management considers this to be a normal business risk.  

Accounts Receivable – Trade and Harmonized Sales Tax  

Trade  

The Company extends credit to customers on an unsecured basis and payment terms are typically 30 days from delivery or service. The 
Company’s receivables are primarily related to Prolieve products and services. Management uses the aging account method to assess the 
company’s allowance for doubtful accounts. The aging account method uses the number of days outstanding for the underlying invoices that 
have been past due. Receivables are written off when it is determined that the underlying invoices are uncollectible.  

The Company maintained an allowance for doubtful accounts of $77,917 and $74,289 as of March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  

Harmonized Sales Tax  

The Company has a receivable from a Canadian tax province for a harmonized sales tax; however, the company is uncertain as to the 
collectability of the asset. Management has decided to write-off the entire balance until the amount is collected, if any. As this write off is 
considered by the Company as an infrequent occurrence and it is not part of the trade receivable balance, the transaction will be included as a 
loss in other income (expense) in the statement of operations and comprehensive loss. Accounts receivable consisted of the following as of 
March 31, 2016 and 2015:  
  

Inventory  

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost or market and consists primarily of console units and single-use treatment catheters. Current 
inventory of catheters consists of the direct costs of acquiring the inventory from vendors. Non-current inventory of console units, which 
were originally held for sale, were classified as property & equipment during the year ended March 31, 2016 as the Company began using 
the console units in operations. The carrying amount was adjusted prior to the transfer of the asset for any depreciation  
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  2016    2015  
Accounts receivable trade  $738,554    $ 920,022  
Accounts receivable - Harmonized sales tax  —       211,972  
Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales tax  (77,917)    (74,289) 

         

 $660,637    $1,057,705  
     

 
      

 



expense that would have been recognized since acquisition had the asset been classified as held for sale. The Company recognized a loss 
on impairment of long-lived assets in other income (expense) of the statement of operations and comprehensive loss in the amount of 
$99,020, during the year ended March 31, 2016, related to this transaction.  

Inventory is relieved using the first-in, first-out method and consists of the following at March 31, 2016 and 2015.  
  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is provided over the estimated useful lives of the 
related assets, ranging from three to seven years, using the straight-line method. Major renewals and improvements are capitalized and 
ordinary repairs and maintenance are expensed as incurred.  

The Company reviews property and equipment for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable. An asset is considered impaired if its carrying amount exceeds the future net undiscounted 
cash flows that the asset is expected to generate. If such asset is considered to be impaired, the impairment recognized is the amount by 
which the carrying amount of the asset, if any, exceeds its fair value determined using a discounted cash flow model.  

Equity Method Investments  

During the year ended March 31, 2014 the company entered into a joint venture agreement and accumulated contributions of 
approximately $255,000 in cash and equipment. During the years ended March 31, 2015 and 2014 the company recognized losses of 
approximately $56,000 and $159,000, respectively, related to the investment. During the year ended March 31, 2016, the company 
received $100,000 for the sale of their ownership in the joint venture.  

Contingent Consideration  

In accordance with ASC 805, upon the purchase of Prolieve, the Company recognized a contingent consideration obligation as part of the 
consideration transferred in exchange for the acquired business. The initial measurement of the contingent consideration obligation was 
based on its estimated fair value. The contingent consideration obligation has been re-measured to fair value at each reporting date and 
will continue to be re-measured until the contingency is resolved, which is estimated to be during the year ended March 31, 2018. The 
changes in fair value are recognized in earnings. The contingent consideration obligation outstanding totaled $758,953 and $1,031,179 as 
of March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  

Intangible Assets  

Intangible assets consist of intellectual property and customer relationships for our Prolieve business acquired in July 2012. These 
intangible assets were originally recorded at fair value and are amortized on a straight line basis over their estimated useful lives of 10 
years. The Company reviews its intangible assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of an asset may not be recoverable, in a manner similar to that for property and equipment.  

Deferred Financing Fees and Other Assets  

As part of the convertible debt transaction (see note 5), the Company has unamortized deferred financing fees in the amount of $91,698 
and $282,926 as of March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Other assets primarily includes prepaid expenses.  

Revenue Recognition  

The Company sells products and provides services which are used in the treatment of BPH. The Company recognizes revenue, net of 
sales taxes, from the sale of Prolieve consoles and catheters upon shipment to the customer. Revenue from the sale of products is 
measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable, net of any estimated returns. Revenue from the mobile service is 
recognized upon completion of the services, which is generally upon treatment of the patient.  

The Company does not have a return policy that allows customers to return product, however the company has allowed returns on a 
limited customer by customer basis. The Company’s estimate for returns is based upon its historical experience with actual returns, 
however such returns have historically been limited. While such experience has allowed for reasonable estimation in the past, history  
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  2016    2015  
Current inventory – Catheters  $62,554    $ 79,604  
Non-current inventory - Consoles  —       190,276  

             

 $62,554    $269,880  
 

 
      

 



may not always be an accurate indicator of future returns. The Company continually monitors its estimates for returns and makes adjustments 
when it believes that actual product returns may differ from the established accruals, if any. We record a provision for estimated returns in the 
same period as the related revenue is recorded.  

Costs of Sales—Products  

Costs of goods sold primarily include the cost of products sold to customers on a first-in first-out basis, along with amortization expense of our 
intellectual property, warranty costs, warehousing costs, freight and handling charges. Warehousing costs include payroll and benefit costs, 
including related stock-based compensation expense.  

Costs of Sales—Services  

Costs of services consist primarily of the costs to provide mobile services to our patients, including catheter cost, depreciation of our mobile 
consoles and vehicle fleet, and payroll and benefit costs, including related stock-based compensation expense.  

Product Warranty Liabilities  

Prolieve products are covered by warranties against defects in material and workmanship for periods of up to 12 months. We record a liability for 
warranty claims at the time of sale based on the trend in the historical ratio of product failure rates, material usage and service delivery costs to 
sales, the historical length of time between the sale and resulting warranty claim and other factors. The accrued liability for warranty provisions 
was approximately $38,000 for each of the years ended March 31, 2016 and 2015.  

Research and Development Expenses  

Research and development costs are expensed as incurred.  

Income Taxes  

Income taxes are accounted for under the asset and liability method. Under this method, deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the 
future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their 
respective tax bases and operating loss and tax credit carry forwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates 
expected to apply to taxable income in the years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on 
deferred tax asset and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in results of operations in the period that the tax rate change occurs. 
Valuation allowances are established, when necessary, to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.  

A tax position is recognized as a benefit only if it is “more likely than not” that the tax position taken would be sustained in a tax examination, 
presuming that a tax examination will occur. The Company recognizes interest and/or penalties related to income tax matters in the income tax 
expense category. 

Stock-Based Compensation  

Compensation costs for all stock-based awards is measured at fair value on the date of the grant using an option pricing model and is recognized 
over the service period for awards expected to vest. The estimation of stock-based awards that will ultimately vest requires judgment, and to the 
extent actual results or updated estimates differ from the current estimates, such amounts will be recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period 
estimates are revised. We consider many factors when estimating expected forfeitures, including types of awards, employee class, and historical 
experience.  

Profit Sharing Plan  

The Company sponsors a defined contribution retirement plan through a Section 401(k) profit sharing plan. Employees may contribute up to 15% 
of their pre-tax compensation. Participants are eligible for matching Company contributions up to 3% of eligible compensation dependent on the 
level of voluntary contributions. Company matching contributions totaled approximately $55,000, $75,000 and $78,000 for the years ended 
March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

Net Loss Per Share  

Basic net loss per share is computed by dividing net loss available to common shareholders by the weighted-average number of shares of common 
shares outstanding during the period.  

For periods of net loss, diluted loss per share is calculated similarly to basic loss per share because the impact of all dilutive potential common 
shares is anti-dilutive due to the net losses. Outstanding stock options of 10,100,000, 8,255,000 and 8,255,000 and outstanding stock purchase 
warrants of 71,579,313, 105,278,102 and 94,996,882 to purchase commons shares for the years ended  
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March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 respectively, were considered anti-dilutive and therefore were not included in the calculation of 
diluted shares. Additionally, for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, convertible promissory notes convertible into 
22,160,000 shares of common stock were also considered anti-dilutive and therefore were not included in the calculation of diluted 
shares.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which provides guidance for revenue recognition for contracts. 
This guidance requires an entity to review contracts in five steps and will result in enhanced disclosures regarding the nature, amount, 
timing and uncertainty of revenue arising from contracts with customers. This standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2017 and early adoption is permitted only as of annual reporting periods for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2016. See also recent accounting pronouncements ASU 2015-14, ASU 2016-08, ASU 2016-10 and ASU 2016-12 for amendments to 
the guidance. We are currently evaluating the impact, if any, that this new guidance will have on the Company’s Consolidated 
Financial Statements.  

ASU No. 2014-12, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Accounting for Share Based Payments When the Terms of an 
Award Provide That a Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period amendments require that a 
performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance 
condition. Guidance in Topic 718 as it relates to awards with performance conditions that affect vesting should be applied to account 
for such awards. As such, the performance target should not be reflected in estimating the grant-date fair value of the award. 
Compensation cost should be recognized in the period in which it becomes probable that the performance target will be achieved and 
should represent the compensation cost attributable to the period(s) for which the requisite service has already been rendered. If the 
performance target becomes probable of being achieved before the end of the requisite service period, the remaining unrecognized 
compensation cost should be recognized prospectively over the remaining requisite service period. The total amount of compensation 
cost recognized during and after the requisite service period should reflect the number of awards that are expected to vest and should 
be adjusted to reflect those awards that ultimately vest. The requisite service period ends when the employee can cease rendering 
service and still be eligible to vest in the award if the performance target is achieved. As indicated in the definition of vest, the stated 
vesting period (which includes the period in which the performance target could be achieved) may differ from the requisite service 
period. The amendments of ASU 2014-12 are effective for annual periods and interim periods within those annual periods beginning 
after December 15, 2015. The adoption of the amended guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

ASU 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements – Going Concern (Subtopic 205-40), which requires management to evaluate on 
a regular basis whether any conditions or events have arisen that could raise substantial doubt about the entity’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. This guidance is effective for the annual period after December 15, 2016 and for the annual periods and interim 
periods thereafter. Early application is permitted. We do not expect the adoption of this guidance to have a material impact on the 
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  

ASU No. 2014-16, Derivatives and Hedging (Topic 815): Determining Whether the Host Contract in a Hybrid Financial instrument 
in the Form of a Share is More Akin to Debt or Equity. In November 2014, the FASB issued amended guidance that clarifies how 
current GAAP should be interpreted in evaluating the economic characteristics and risks of a host contract in a hybrid financial 
instrument that is issued in the form of a share. Specifically, the amendments clarify that an entity should consider all relevant terms 
and features -including the embedded derivative features being evaluated for bifurcation -in evaluating the nature of the host contract. 
Furthermore, the amendments clarify that no single term or feature would necessarily determine the economic characteristics and 
risks of the host contract. Rather, the nature of the host contract depends upon the economic characteristics and risks of the entire 
hybrid financial instrument. The amended guidance is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, 
beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption permitted. The effects of initially adopting the amended guidance should be 
applied on a modified retrospective basis to existing hybrid financial instruments issued in the form of a share as of the beginning of 
the fiscal year for which the amendments are effective and shall be reported as a cumulative-effect adjustment directly to retained 
earnings as of the beginning of the year of adoption. The adoption of the amended guidance is not expected to have a material impact 
on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  

ASU No. 2015-03, Interest-Imputation of Interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. In April 
2015, the FASB issued amended guidance to address the different balance sheet presentation requirements for debt issuance costs and 
debt discounts and premiums. The amended guidance requires that debt issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability be 
presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of that debt liability, consistent with debt discounts. The 
recognition and measurement guidance for debt issuance costs are not affected by the amended guidance. The amended guidance is 
effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption 
permitted for financial statements that have not been previously issued. The amended guidance should be applied retrospectively,  
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wherein the balance sheet of each individual period presented should be adjusted to reflect the period-specific effects of applying the 
amended guidance. The Company currently has approximately $91,698 of debt issuance costs recorded in the Consolidated Statements 
of Financial Position that will be required to be reclassified and presented as a direct deduction from the debt liability upon adoption of 
the amended guidance. The adoption of the amended guidance is not expected to have an impact on the Company’s Consolidated 
Statements of Operations and Comprehensive Loss.  

ASU No. 2015-11, Inventory (Topic 330): Simplifying the Measurement of Inventory, changes the measurement principle for certain 
inventory methods from the lower of cost or market to the lower of cost and net realizable value. Net realizable value is defined as the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less reasonably predictable costs of completion, disposal, and transportation. 
This ASU does not apply to inventory that is measured using Last-in First-out (“LIFO”) or the retail inventory method. The provisions 
of ASU 2015-11 are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim periods within those fiscal years. 
The Company is currently evaluating this guidance to determine the impact it may have on the Company’s Consolidated Financial 
Statements.  

ASU No. 2015-17, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Balance Sheet Classification of Deferred Taxes, was issued to simplify the classification 
of deferred taxes on the balance sheet. The new guidance would require that deferred taxes be classified as non-current assets and 
liabilities based on the tax paying jurisdiction. Application of the standard, which can be applied prospectively or retrospectively, is 
required for fiscal years beginning on or after December 15, 2016 and for interim periods within that year. The adoption of the amended 
guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  

ASU No. 2016-01, Financial Instruments-Overall (Subtopic 825-10) - Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial 
Liabilities, which addresses certain aspects of recognition, measurement, presentation, and disclosure of financial instruments. Most 
notably, this new guidance requires equity investments (except those accounted for under the equity method of accounting or those that 
result in consolidation of the investee) to be measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognized in net income. This new 
guidance is effective for annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017. The guidance is not expected to have a material 
impact on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  

ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), On February 25, 2016, the FASB issued a new standard which requires lessees to recognize 
almost all leases on their balance sheet as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. The new guidance will require the asset and liability 
to be initially measured at the present value of the lease payments in the statement of financial position. The new guidance will also 
require the company to recognize interest expense on the lease liability separately from the amortization of the right-use-asset for 
finance leases and recognize a single lease cost allocated on a straight-line basis over the lease term for operating leases, in the statement 
of comprehensive income. The new standard is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods 
within those fiscal years with early application permitted. The Company is currently evaluating this guidance to determine the impact it 
may have on the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.  

ASU No. 2016-09, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting. The 
ASU includes multiple provisions intended to simplify various aspects of the accounting for share-based payments. The areas of 
simplification in the update involve several aspects of accounting for share-based payment transactions, including the income tax 
consequences, classification of awards as either equity or liabilities, and classification on the statement of cash flows, however, some of 
the areas for simplification apply only to nonpublic entities. This guidance is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 
2016, and interim periods within those annual periods. Early adoption is permitted for any entity in any interim or annual period, 
however, certain requirements apply to the early adoption. The guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s 
Consolidated Financial Statements.  

Emerging Growth Company Status  

We are an “emerging growth company” as defined in section 3(a) of the Exchange Act, as amended by the United States Jumpstart Our 
Business Startups Act, enacted on April 5, 2012 (the “JOBS Act”), and will continue to qualify as an “emerging growth company” until 
the earliest to occur of: (a) the last day of the fiscal year during which we have total annual gross revenues of $1,000,000,000 (as such 
amount is indexed for inflation every 5 years by the SEC) or more; (b) the last day of our fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of 
the date of the first sale of our common equity securities pursuant to an effective registration statement under the Securities Act; (c) the 
date on which we have, during the previous 3-year period, issued more than $1,000,000,000 in non-convertible debt; or (d) the date on 
which we are deemed to be a ‘large accelerated filer’, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 12b–2.  

Generally, a company that registers any class of its securities under section 12 of the Exchange Act is required to include in the second 
and all subsequent annual reports filed by it under the Exchange Act, a management report on internal controls over financial reporting 
and, subject to an exemption available to companies that meet the definition of a “smaller reporting company” in Exchange Act Rule 
12b-2, an auditor attestation report on management’s assessment of internal controls over financial reporting. However, for  
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so long as we continue to qualify as an emerging growth company, we will be exempt from the requirement to include an auditor 
attestation report in our annual reports filed under the Exchange Act, even if we do not qualify as a “smaller reporting company”. In 
addition, section 103(a)(3) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been amended by the JOBS Act to provide that, among other 
things, auditors of an emerging growth company are exempt from any rules of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 
requiring mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report in which the auditor would be required to provide 
additional information about the audit and the financial statements of the company.  

Any U.S. domestic issuer that is an emerging growth company is able to avail itself to the reduced disclosure obligations regarding 
executive compensation in periodic reports and proxy statements, and to not present to its shareholders a nonbinding advisory vote on 
executive compensation, obtain approval of any golden parachute payments not previously approved, or present the relationship 
between executive compensation actually paid and our financial performance. As a foreign private issuer, we are not subject to such 
requirements, and will not become subject to such requirements even if we were to cease to be an emerging growth company.  

As a reporting issuer under the securities legislation of the Canadian provinces of Ontario, British Columbia, and Alberta, we are 
required to comply with all new or revised accounting standards that apply to Canadian public companies. Pursuant to Section 107(b) 
of the JOBS Act, an emerging growth company may elect to utilize an extended transition period for complying with new or revised 
accounting standards for public companies until such standards apply to private companies. We have elected to utilize this extended 
transition period. However, while we have elected to utilize this extended transition period, our condensed interim consolidated 
financial statements as of March 31, 2016 reflect the adoption of all required accounting standards for public companies.  

2. BUSINESS ACQUISITION AND CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION  

On July 24, 2012 the Company purchased from Boston Scientific Corporation (“BSC”), in a taxable transaction, all of the assets, 
relating to the Prolieve Thermodilatation System (“Prolieve”), a FDA approved device for the treatment of Benign Prostatic 
Hyperplasia (“BPH”). The total purchase consideration consisted of the following:  
  

The maximum amount of $2,500,000 is payable as contingent consideration pursuant to the terms of the agreement. The fair value of 
the contingent consideration was determined by calculating its present value based on its payment terms using an interest rate of 24% 
(our estimated unsecured borrowing rate). The contingent consideration is payable quarterly at a rate of 10% of sales of Prolieve 
products. As of March 31, 2016, $1,257,995 of royalties is due to BSC of which $1,144,313 is past due.  

The activity of the contingent consideration obligation for the years ending March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 and the allocation is as 
follows:  
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Cash  $2,535,610  
Fair value of contingent consideration   1,126,505  

      

Total consideration  $3,662,115  
     

 

  Non Contingent  Contingent    Total  
Activity is as follows:     
Balance at April 1, 2013  $ 180,597   $ 890,020    $1,070,617  
Less: payments  (309,133)  —       (309,133) 
Change in fair market value  538,397   282,634     821,031  

                  

Balance at March 31, 2014  409,861   1,172,654     1,582,515  
Less: payments  —    —       —    
Change in fair market value  421,771   (141,475)    280,296  

                  

Balance at March 31, 2015  831,632   1,031,179     1,862,811  
Less: payments  —    —       —    
Change in fair market value  426,363   (272,226)    154,137  

                   

Balance at March 31, 2016  $ 1,257,995   $ 758,953    $2,016,948  
          

 
      

 

Allocated as follows:     
Payable to Boston Scientific Corp.  $ 1,257,995   $ —      $1,257,995  

     
 

     
 

      
 

Contingent consideration – current  $ —    $ 461,211    $ 461,211  
     

 
     

 
      

 

Contingent consideration – non current  $ —    $ 297,742    $ 297,742  
     

 
     

 
      

 



3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

Property and equipment consists of the following as of March 31, 2016 and March 31, 2015:  
  

Depreciation expense was approximately $114,000, 115,000 and $111,000 for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, 
respectively.  

4. INTANGIBLE ASSETS  

Intangible assets include intellectual properties and customer relationships relating to the Prolieve technology, acquired at a cost of 
$2.5 million. These assets are being amortized on a straight-line basis over ten years; amortization expense was $246,212 for each of 
the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014.  

Future amortization expense related to the net carrying amount of intangible assets is estimated to be as follows:  
  

5. DEBT  

In fiscal year 2013, the Company raised bridge financing of approximately U.S. $435,000. The bridge financing lender received a 
promissory note, with interest payable at 2% per month after October 23, 2012. The original maturity date of the promissory note was 
October 23, 2013 and was subsequently extended until June 30, 2014 at which time the Company began paying additional interest of 
2% per month on accrued interest with an additional interest charge of .09% per month on current interest expense. As of March 31, 
2016, the note remains in default and due in full. The Company is currently in discussions with the lender on a further extension of 
the maturity date. The Company has a total principal and accrued interest balance of approximately $576,000 and $472,000 as of 
March 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. Interest expense of approximately $116,000, $117,000 and $138,000 was recognized on the 
promissory note and accrued interest for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

In fiscal year 2014, the Company issued, in two separate tranches, 554 Units of 8% Redeemable Promissory Convertible Notes (the 
“Notes”) together with Series C stock Purchase Warrants (the “Warrants”) to various accredited investors in an offering exempt from 
registration in the U.S pursuant to regulations D and S under the U.S. Federal Securities rules and regulations, receiving gross 
proceeds of $5,540,000. The notes are convertible into 22,160,000 shares of common stock. Each warrant entitles the holder to 
acquire 20,000 common shares (for a total of 11,080,000 common shares) at an exercise price of $0.30 per share and expire on 
December 18, 2016 and March 7, 2017. The warrants were classified as equity, were recorded as additional paid in capital at their 
estimated fair value of $1,532,877, and are considered a non-cash financing activity. The Company recognized a beneficial 
conversion feature of $195,938 and deferred financing fees (consisting of both cash payments and the fair value of stock purchase 
warrants classified as equity) of $558,552 which are amortized using the effective interest method through December 18, 2016. The 
Company has accrued interest of $781,050 owing to holders of the convertible debentures as of March 31, 2016, of which $657,636 is 
past due, and is in a technical default of the terms of the debentures. The investors have not accelerated the terms of the debenture.  
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  March 31, 2016  March 31, 2015 
Machinery and equipment (5-7 year life)  $ 75,982   $ 75,982  
Mobile consoles (7 year life)  834,094    678,845  
Furniture and fixtures (3-5 year life)  20,000    20,000  

           

 930,076    774,827  
Accumulated depreciation  (419,935)   (305,792) 

       

Total  $ 510,141   $ 469,035  
      

 

2017  $ 246,212  
2018   246,212  
2019   246,212  
2020   246,212  
2021   246,212  

      

Sub-total   1,231,060  
2021 and thereafter   289,060  

      

Total  $1,520,120  
     

 



In connection with the above transaction, the Company recognized interest expense of $482,759, $464,010 and $94,000 for the years 
ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 and accretion expense of $795,081, $712,841 and $161,002 for the years ended March 31, 
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

6. EQUITY AND STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION  

Common Stock  

Authorized share capital consists of unlimited common shares with no par value.  

On September 15, 2014, the Company completed a private placement of 10,281,250 units at a price of USD $0.16 per unit raising 
gross proceeds of $1,645,000 (net proceeds of $1,444,274). Each unit consisted of one common share and one common share 
purchase warrant. Each warrant entitled the holder to acquire one common share at an exercise price of USD $0.25 until 
September 15, 2017. Management determined the warrants to have a fair value of $0.12 per warrant and accordingly, $1,034,209 of 
the proceeds from the issuance was allocated to additional paid in capital, and the balance of the proceeds was allocated to common 
shares.  

On December 14, 2015, the Company completed a private placement of 15,500,000 units at a price of USD $0.05 per unit raising 
gross proceeds of $775,000 (net proceeds of $713,000). Each unit consisted of one common share and 0.5 common share purchase 
warrant. Each warrant entitled the holder to acquire one common share at an exercise price of USD $0.10 until December 14, 2017. 
Management determined the warrants to have a fair value of $0.015 per warrant and accordingly, $176,169 of the proceeds from the 
issuance was allocated to additional paid in capital, and the balance of the proceeds was allocated to common shares.  

A relative fair value calculation was used to determine the carrying value of the warrants. The fair value of the warrants issued was 
estimated using a Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions:  
  

The Company uses the contract life as its expected life in years. Volatility is calculated based on actual weekly trading history of the 
Company’s common stock. The risk-free rate is based on the daily yield curve of U.S. treasury bills.  

Common stock issuable  

Prior to March 31, 2015, the company received funds for common shares in the amount of $1,561,000 (net of fees) as part of a future 
private placement occurring on May 12, 2015. All shares were issued as of March 31, 2016.  

Stock Purchase Warrants  

The Company had stock purchase warrants outstanding as of March 31, 2016 and 2015 as follows:  
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Risk free interest rate  0.58% to 0.97%
Expected life in years  2 -3 years
Expected volatility  98.96 to 146.6%

    
March 31, 

2016    
March 31, 

2015
Year of 
issue  

Exercise
Price  Expiration  

Underlying 
Shares    

Underlying 
Shares

2011  $ 0.50   4/24/2015  —      2,449,997  
2011  $ 0.30   2/24/2016  —      3,745,000  
2013  $ 0.20   6/8/2016  18,367,263     18,367,263  
2013  $ 0.20   6/21/2016  22,200,000     22,200,000  
2013  $ 0.20   9/21/2015  —       22,196,795  
2013  $ 0.20   1/14/2016  —       13,056,997  
2014  $ 0.30   12/18/2016  8,336,400     8,336,400  
2014  $ 0.30   3/7/2017  4,644,400     4,644,400  
2015 
2016  

$
$

0.25
0.10

 
  

9/15/2017
12/14/2017  

10,281,250
7,750,000

  
    

 
 

10,281,250
—  

 
 

              

   71,579,313     105,278,102  
       

 
      

 



Warrant Modifications  

During the year ended March 31, 2016, the Company extended the expiration date of certain outstanding stock warrants, originally 
issued in FY 2013 as part of a private placement offering. Given the Company’s no par value, such modifications require an 
allocation between common stock and additional paid in capital for the change in the relative fair value of the original warrant. The 
relative fair value of the modified warrants were estimated using a Black-Scholes pricing model with the following assumptions:  
  

The Company uses the modified contract life as its expected life in years. Volatility is calculated based on actual weekly trading 
history of the Company’s common stock. The risk-free rate is based on the daily yield curve of U.S. treasury bills.  

Stock Options  

The Company may grant stock options to directors, senior officers and service providers by resolution of the Board of Directors. The 
exercise price will reflect the market price of the Company’s stock on the date of the grant. The maximum number of stock options 
outstanding under the stock option plan is limited 10% of issued shares.  

The Company measures the cost of stock option awards based on the grant-date fair value of the award. The cost is recognized over 
the period during which an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award or the requisite service period. The 
Company recognizes stock-based compensation expense over the vesting periods of the awards, adjusted for estimated forfeitures. 
The stock-based compensation cost that was incurred by the Company was $183,410, $0, and $94,801 for the years ended March 31, 
2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively.  

On December 20, 2015, the Company granted incentive stock options to the directors and officers of the Company to purchase an 
aggregate of 10,100,000 common shares. The options are exercisable at a price of $0.057 per common share and expire five years 
from the date of the grant and vest immediately. A summary of the Plan for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 with 
changes therein are presented below:  
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Risk free interest rate  0.57% to 0.58%
Expected life in years  4 years
Expected volatility  205.5% to 212.7%

  
Option 

Shares #  

Weighted
average
exercise

price 
$   

Weighted 
Average 

Remaining 
Contractual 

Life 
(years)   

Aggregate
Intrinsic 
Value 

$
Outstanding, April 1, 2013  8,525,000   $ 0.20    3.0   $243, 875  
Granted  —    —       
Exercised  —    —       
Cancelled/Expired  (270,000)  0.20      

          

Outstanding, March 31, 2014  8,255,000   0.20    2.0   $ —  
Granted  —    —       
Exercised  —    —       
Cancelled/Expired  —    —       

      

Outstanding, March 31, 2015  8,255,000   0.20    1.0   
Granted  10,100,000   0.06    4.75 years  $ —  
Exercised  —    —       
Cancelled/Expired  (8,255,000)  0.20      

          

Outstanding, March, 31, 2016  10,100,000   $ 0.06    4.75 years  $ —  
                    

Exercisable, March 31, 2016  10,100,000       
          



The weighted average fair value of the option grants were $.018 per share. The option grants were estimated on the date of grant 
using the Black-Scholes option pricing model and using the following assumptions:  
  

The Company estimates the expected term using the “simplified-method” as it does not have sufficient historical exercise data to 
provide a reasonable estimate. Volatility is calculated based on actual weekly trading history of the Company’s common stock. The 
risk-free rate is based on the daily yield curve of U.S. treasury bills. No income tax benefit was recognized in the Company’s 
consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive loss for stock-based compensation arrangements due to the Company’s net 
loss position.  

7. INCOME TAXES  

The Company is domiciled in Canada and files Canadian federal and certain provincial tax returns. The Company had no provision 
(benefit) for income taxes as of March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, as a result of its net losses and full valuation allowance against its 
deferred tax assets.  

The following reconciles our loss before income taxes by jurisdiction.  
  

The difference between the Company’s expected income tax provision (benefit) from applying the Canadian federal statutory tax 
rates to the pre-tax loss and the actual income tax provision (benefit) relates primarily to the effect of the following:  
  

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of differences between the bases of assets and liabilities for financial reporting and 
income tax purposes. The Company’s deferred income tax assets consist principally of carryforward losses which are offset by a full 
valuation allowance.  

The Company is required to establish a valuation allowance for deferred tax assets if, based on the weight of available evidence, it is 
more likely than not that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax 
assets is dependent upon the generation of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become 
deductible. The Company considers the projected future taxable income and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. Based 
upon the level of historical taxable income and projections for future taxable income in the periods which the deferred tax assets are 
deductible, the Company has determined that a full valuation allowance is required for the years ending March 31, 2016, 2015 and 
2014.  
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Expected option life (years)  2.5 years
Risk free interest rate  1.12%
Expected volatility  106.03%

  Years ended March 31,
  2016  2015    2014
U.S.  $ —   $ —     $ —  
Canada  4,961,549   5,971,470     5,992,897  

                 

 $4,961,549   $5,971,470    $5,992,897  
          

 
      

  Years ended March 31,  
  2016 2015   2014  
Statutory rate  (34.00%) (26.50%)   (26.50%) 
Non-deductible expenses  3.80% 3.80%   3.80% 
Valuation allowance  30.20% 22.70%   22.70% 

                

Income tax provision (benefit)  0.00% 0.00%   0.00% 
         

 
     

 



The Company is subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in evaluating the Company’s tax 
positions and determining its provision for income taxes. The Company establishes liabilities for tax-related uncertainties based on 
estimates of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. These liabilities are established when the Company 
believes that certain positions might be challenged despite its belief that its tax return positions are fully supportable. The Company 
adjusts these liabilities in light of changing facts and circumstances, such as the outcome of a tax audit. The provision for income 
taxes includes the impact of changes to the liability that is considered appropriate. The Company has identified no material uncertain 
tax positions as of March 31, 2016.  

The Company is subject to income tax audits in all jurisdictions for which it is required to file tax returns. Tax audits by their nature 
are often complex and can require several years to complete. Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries is currently under audit 
in any jurisdiction. All of the Company’s income tax returns remain subject to examination by tax authorities.  

As a Canadian domiciled company, the Company has never filed a tax return in the United States. U.S. federal tax legislation was 
enacted in 2004 to address perceived U.S. tax concerns in “corporate inversion” transactions. A “corporate inversion” generally 
occurs when a non-U.S. Company acquires “substantially all” of the equity interests in, or the assets of, a U.S. Company or 
partnership, if, after the acquisition, former equity holders of the U.S. Company or partnership own a specified level of stock in the 
non-U.S. Company. The tax consequences of these rules depend upon the percentage identity of stock ownership that results. 
Generally, in “80 percent identity” transactions (i.e., former equity holders of the U.S. Company owns 80% or more of the equity of 
the non-U.S. acquiring entity, excluding certain equity interests), the tax benefits of the inversion are limited by treating the non-U.S. 
acquiring entity as a domestic entity for U.S. tax purposes. In “60-80 percent identity” transactions, the benefits of the inversion are 
limited by barring certain corporate-level “toll charges” from being offset by certain tax attributes of the U.S. Company (e.g., loss 
carry-forwards), and imposing excise taxes on certain stock-based compensation held by “insiders” of the U.S. Company. 
Management is of the view that a corporate inversion has resulted from the reverse takeover transaction it completed in fiscal 2009; 
however, it has not yet determined whether the Company is subject to the “80 percent” or the “60-80 percent” identity with respect to 
the transactions undertaken in the fiscal 2009 year since the interpretation of which categories of stock ownership are to be considered 
under the inversion rules is not yet settled. The Company has not filed income tax returns in Canada or United States since 2009. The 
Company has never filed an income tax return in Canada but is current with its United States federal income tax filings. The 
Company has incurred losses in all jurisdictions in all years.  

8. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES  

On January 16, 2006, the Company’s wholly owned subsidiary, Celsion (Canada) Inc. purchased from Celsion Corporation (USA) 
[“Celsion”] all of the assets relating to breast cancer Microfocus APA 1000 System (“System”), consisting of the microwave 
machine technology, the APA technology licensed from MIT, and all related intellectual and regulatory property (collectively, the 
“Business”). The Company has a commitment to pay a 5% royalty to Celsion on the net sales of products sold by and patent royalties 
received by the Company and its successors and assignees. Total royalties paid are not to exceed $18,500,000. Royalties will not be 
payable until the System can be placed in the market following successful completion of the pivotal clinical trial and receipt of 
approval to market the System in the US and Canada from the FDA and Health Canada. The Company has an additional commitment 
to pay a 5% royalty to MIT on the net sales of products, upon commercialization.  

Future minimum payments under operating leases for office space and vehicles are as follows:  
  

The Company recognized total rent expense of $223,254, $192,919 and $176,616 for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 
2014, respectively.  

The Company has agreed to indemnify its directors and officers and certain of its employees in accordance with the Company’s by-
laws. However, the Company does not currently have such insurance policies in place to provide coverage against certain claims.  

During the year ended March 31, 2015, the Company was included on a complaint related to the Prolieve mobile service. The 
plaintiff’s counsel offered to dismiss the Company from the lawsuit in exchange for a waiver of fees and costs which was 
approximately $4,500. The company expects the case to be dismissed in the near future.  
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2017  $225,873  
2018  $195,333  



Exhibit 4.28 

LICENSE AGREEMENT  

THIS Agreement is entered into this 6th day of October, 2015 (“Effective Date”) between DUKE UNIVERSITY, a nonprofit 
educational and research institution organized under the laws of North Carolina (“DUKE”), having a place of business at Durham, 
North Carolina 27710, and Medifocus Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of Ontario, Canada (“Licensee”) having its 
principal office at 10240 Old Columbia Road, Suite G, Columbia Maryland, 21046 (collectively “Parties” and individually “Party”).  

RECITALS  

WHEREAS, DUKE owns certain Patents (defined below) relating to an invention (“the invention”) described in Duke Office of 
Licensing & Ventures File #1519, entitled “ A Method For Selective Expression of Therapeutic Genes in Cancer Cells by 
Hyperthermia”, which was invented by Inventors (defined below), and DUKE has the right to grant licenses under the Patents 
(defined below).  

WHEREAS, it is understood that the United States Government (through any of its agencies or otherwise) funded research, during the 
course of or under which the Invention was conceived or made, the United States Government is entitled, as of right, under the 
provisions of 35 U.S.C. § 200-212 and applicable regulations of Chapter 37 of the Code of Federal Regulations.  

WHEREAS, DUKE desires to have its Patents developed and commercialized to benefit the public and is willing to grant a license to 
the Licensee for that purpose.  

WHEREAS, Licensee desires to obtain a license under the Patents upon the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants set forth herein, and for good and valuable 
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is acknowledged, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound, agree as 
follows:  

TERMS AND CONDITIONS  

ARTICLE 1 – DEFINITIONS  

For the purposes of this Agreement, the terms and phrases below have the following definitions:  

1.1 “Affiliate” means any corporation or non-corporate entity that controls, is controlled by or is under the common control with a 
party. A corporation or a non-corporate entity, as applicable, is deemed to be in control of another corporation if (a) it owns or 
directly or indirectly controls at least 50% of the voting stock of the other corporation or (b) in the absence of ownership of at least 
50% of the voting stock of a corporation, or in the case of a non-corporate entity, if it possesses directly or indirectly, the power to 
direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such corporation or non-corporate entity, as applicable.  

1.2 “Change of Control of Licensee” means, with respect to the Licensee, any merger or other transaction or series of related 
transactions (i) that results in the holders of voting securities of the Licensee outstanding immediately prior thereto failing to continue 
to represent (either by  
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remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving entity) more than fifty percent (50%) of the 
combined voting power of the voting securities of the Licensee or such surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or 
transaction or series of transactions, or (ii) in which a Third Party acquires all or substantially all of the Licensee’s business or assets, 
whether by merger, acquisition, sale or otherwise.  

1.3 “Distributor” means a Third Party that, pursuant to a written distribution agreement between such Third Party and Licensee 
(“Distribution Agreement”), resells Licensed Products to End-Users (as permitted under the terms of the license granted in this 
Agreement.  

1.4 “End-User” shall mean a person or entity who acquires a Licensed Product, directly or indirectly from the Licensee, solely for 
personal or internal use and not for resale.  

1.5 “Field of Use” means any aspect of cancer therapy.  

1.6 “Inventors” means Chuan-Yuan Li.  

1.7 “Know-how” means any research information, technical information, technical data, or other information that is (a) generated at 
DUKE by or under the direct supervision of one of the inventors, before the Effective Date or otherwise owned by DUKE; and 
(b) that is necessary for the practice of the Licensed Methods or for the use or production of the Licensed Products, and that is not 
covered by the Patents. Know-how does not include any inventions, technology, cell lines, biological materials, compounds, probes, 
sequences, or methods or any uses thereof (i) that are patented, (ii) that patentable but unpatented, or (iii) for which patent 
applications are pending. Further, Know-how does not include any research information, technical information, technical data or 
other information or any uses of any of the foregoing that DUKE cannot provide to Licensee because of other legal obligations of 
DUKE, such as those arising out of sponsored research, clinical research, material transfer, license, option to license, confidentiality, 
or other agreements.  

1.8 “Licensed Method” means any method that, without the license granted hereunder, would infringe one or more Valid Claim.  

1.9 “Licensed Product” means any product or part thereof that:  

(a) without the license granted hereunder would infringe one or more of the Valid Claims of the Patents, or  

(b) is manufactured by using a Licensed Method or that, when used, practices a Licensed Method.  

1.10 “Licensed Service” means any service that is (a) provided by Licensee to a Third Party and (b) that utilizes Licensed Product or 
Licensed Method.  

1.11 “Net Sales”  

(a) Means the monies invoiced by Licensee or its sublicensees for: (i) the Sale of Licensed Product(s) to Third Parties, or (ii) for 
the provision of Licensed Services to a Third Party.  
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(b) Net Sales shall not include the cost of trade discounts (not to exceed ten percent (10%) of the invoiced price); credits or 
allowance given for rejected or returned products; freight; insurance; value added, use, or sales taxes stated on the invoice; or customs 
duties, tariffs and governmental charges actually imposed on the transfer or transport of Licensed Products across borders. No 
allowance or deduction shall be made for commissions or fees for collection or cost of goods, by whatever name known.  

(c) If a Licensed Product is sold in a kit or is combined with any products or components that are not Licensed Products 
(“Combination Product(s)”), Net Sales for the purposes of determining royalties of a Combination Product shall be calculated by 
multiplying Net Sales of the Combination Product by the fraction A/(A+B)(“Multiplier”), where A is the fair market value of the 
Licensed Product if sold separately and B is the fair market value of the other product(s) or component(s) in the Combination Product 
if sold separately. If the fair market value of A or B is not known, Licensee will negotiate in good faith calculate the Multiplier, in 
accordance with reasonable and customary standards of the industry. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the royalty rate on Net Sales 
paid to Licensor a Combination Product shall in no event be less than 1.25%.  

(d) Licensed Products and Licensed Services are considered “sold” when billed out or invoiced or, in the event such Licensed 
Services are not billed out or invoiced, when the consideration for provision of the Licensed Services is received by the Licensee.  

1.12 “Non-Commercial Research Purposes” means the use of the Invention and/or the Know-How for non-commercial academic 
research purposes or other non-commercial not-for profit scholarly purposes, where “non-commercial” means not involving the use 
of the Invention to perform services for a fee or for the production or manufacture of products for Sale to Third Parties.  

1.13 “Patent(s)” means (a) the patents and patent applications listed in Appendix A (hereafter referred to as “Patent Applications”); 
(b) any patent issuing from any such Patent Application, including any reissue, reissuance, or confirmation of a patent from a post 
grant proceeding, reexamination, or extension; and (c) any U.S., foreign, and international non-provisional applications claiming 
priority at any time to the Patent Applications, including any division, substitution, continuation, continuations-in-part containing 
claims enabled by the specification of the Patent Applications, or national and regional phase applications. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Patents do not include those patents and/or patent applications that, during the term of this Agreement, cease to be 
Patents pursuant to Article 6.1 or 6.4.  

1.14 “Sale” means the act of selling, leasing, or otherwise transferring, providing, or furnishing for use for any consideration. 
Correspondingly, “Sell” means to make or cause to be made a Sale, and “Sold” means to have made or caused to be made a “Sale.”  

1.15 “Territory” means Worldwide.  

1.16 “Third Party” means any individual or entity that is not a Party to this Agreement.  

1.17 “Valid Claim” means with respect to any country any claim of a pending Patent Application or issued and unexpired Patent that 
has not been held unpatentable, invalid, or unenforceable by a court or other government agency of competent jurisdiction in a 
decision over which no appeal can or has been taken and has not been admitted to be invalid or  
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unenforceable through reissue, re-examination, disclaimer or otherwise; provided, however, that if the holding of such court or 
agency is later reversed by a court or agency with overriding authority, the claim shall be deemed a Valid Claim with respect to Net 
Sales made after the date of such reversal.  

1.18 Interpretations of Terms and Phrases.  

(a) Words denoting a singular number include the plural and vice versa.  

(b) Certain other defined terms have the meanings given them elsewhere in this Agreement.  

(c) References to “$” or “Dollars” refer to U.S. Dollars.  

ARTICLE 2 – LICENSE  

2.1 Exclusive License Under the Patents. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, DUKE grants to Licensee and 
Licensee accepts from DUKE an exclusive, worldwide, royalty-bearing license (with the right to grant sublicenses under Section 2.3) 
under the Licensed Patents for the Field of Use in the Territory to:  

(a) use the Licensed Methods to make Licensed Products;  

(b) make, have made, import, use and/or otherwise commercialize Licensed Products;  

(c) sell and offer for sale Licensed Products;  

(d) sell, use, provide and/or otherwise commercialize Licensed Services.  

2.2 Non-Exclusive License Under the Know-how. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, DUKE grants to Licensee 
and Licensee accepts from DUKE, a non-exclusive worldwide, royalty-bearing license (with the right to grant sublicenses under 
Section 2.3) to use Know-how for the Field of Use in the Territory to:  

(a) use the Licensed Methods to make Licensed Products;  

(b) make, have made, import, use and/or otherwise commercialize Licensed Products;  

(c) sell and offer for sale Licensed Products;  

(d) sell, use, provide and/or otherwise commercialize Licensed Services.  

2.3 Right to Grant Sublicenses. Licensee shall have the following rights to grant sublicenses (“Sublicense Grant”):  

(a) Sublicense Rights to Patents. Licensee shall have the exclusive right to grant written sublicenses to a Third Party 
(“Sublicensee(s)”) under the Patents within the scope of the license granted in Section 2.1.  

(b) Sublicense Rights to Know-how. If a sublicense is granted to a specific Third Party pursuant to Article 2.3(a)(i), Licensee 
shall have the non-exclusive right to grant a written sublicense to the Know-how within the scope of the license granted in Section 2.2 
but only in connection with a sublicense granted under Section 2.3(b).  
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(c) Restrictions on Sublicense Grant. Licensee shall have the right to grant sublicenses pursuant to the Sublicense Grant 
provided that:  

(i) notice of any sublicense or modification of an existing sublicense shall be submitted to DUKE within at least thirty 
(30) after execution of any such sublicense or modification. Such notice shall include the name of the Sublicensee and 
whether the Sublicensee is considered a small entity under 37 C.F.R § 1.27. Licensee shall promptly provide a copy of the 
sublicense or modified sublicense to DUKE upon the request of DUKE; from the execution of the sublicense  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

2.4 No Other Rights. Except as expressly provided herein, the license granted hereunder does not confer any other rights upon 
Licensee by implication, estoppel, or otherwise as to any technology or intellectual property (for example, but not limited to, know-
how, patent applications, and patents) held by DUKE.  
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 a) each Sublicensee shall agree to be bound by all the obligations, terms, and conditions that obligate, bind, or affect 
Licensee under this Agreement; 

 b) each sublicense will indicate in writing that the Sublicensee owes DUKE the same obligations as if the Sublicensee 
were the Licensee with respect to the record keeping and audit rights provisions under Articles 5.3 and 5.4; 

 c) the terms and conditions of any sublicense shall be no less favorable to DUKE than this agreement; 

 d) each sublicense shall be subject to termination with the termination of this Agreement, and each sublicense shall so 
state; 

 e) sublicensee may not sublicense any rights under this Agreement; 

 f) Licensee shall be and remain responsible for the performance by each sublicensee of all obligations under this 
Agreement and the sublicense; 

 g) Licensee shall agree to ascertain, compute and audit all Nest Sales of a sublicense; 

 h) any failure by Licensee to fulfill its obligations with respect to the oversight and supervision of its sublicensees shall 
be, and be deemed to be, a breach of this Agreement by Licensee; and 

 i) within thirty (30) days of the execution, modification, or termination of any sublicense, Licensee must deliver to 
DUKE a true and correct copy of that sublicense as executed, modified, or terminated. 



2.5 Reservations of Rights to DUKE. 

(a) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, DUKE retains the right to practice or license any invention, 
product, or method covered by the Patents for its own educational, research and clinical purposes without restriction and without 
payment of royalties or other fees, including the right:  
  

  

(b) DUKE will not knowingly grant any for-profit party any rights to the Patents in the Field of Use, which are licensed to 
Licensee under this Agreement. It is understood and acknowledged that nothing in this Agreement may be construed to restrict 
DUKE from using any rights provided by the Patents outside the Field of Use and/or Territory as it see fit (which shall include, but 
shall not be limited to, the licensing of rights under the Patents to any Third Party).  

(c) Nothing in this Agreement restricts DUKE from using the Know-how as it sees fit (which shall include, but shall not be 
limited to, licensing, sharing or communicating the Know-how to any Third Party).  

2.6 Reservation of Rights to the U.S. Government. The provisions of Articles 2.1, 2.2, and 2.3 or any other provisions of this 
Agreement notwithstanding, Licensee’s rights and license are subject to the rights of the U.S. Government pursuant to any funding 
agreement between DUKE and the Government. The parties agree that, notwithstanding any use of descriptive terms such as 
“exclusive” in this Agreement, the U.S. Government has certain rights in the Patents as set forth in 37 CFR 401. Licensee agrees to 
comply with all obligations resulting from such government rights, including, but not limited to, the requirement that any products 
sold in the United States based upon such technology must be substantially manufactured in the United States to the extent required 
by 35 U.S.C. Sec. 204.  

2.7 Favored Customer Conditions for Sales and Services to DUKE. Licensee will sell Licensed Products and Licensed Services to 
Duke for research, clinical, educational, and other noncommercial purposes on a most favored customer basis.  

2.8 Compliance with Laws. Licensee shall comply with, and shall cause its sublicensees to comply with, all laws applicable in light 
of this Agreement. Each sublicense agreement shall require the sublicensee to comply with all such applicable laws.  

ARTICLE 3 – LICENSE FEE AND ROYALTIES  

3.1 Initial Fee. On the Effective Date, Licensee must pay to DUKE a non-refundable, non-creditable lump sum license fee of 
US$20,000.  
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 a) to provide licenses to the Patents to governmental laboratories and to other non-profit or not-for-profit institutions; 
and 

 b) to perform research for non-commercial purposes without restriction and without payment of royalties or other fees. 



3.2 Running Royalty.  

(a) Calculation of Running Royalty. At the times and in the manner set forth in this Agreement, Licensee must pay to DUKE a 
non-refundable, and non-creditable running royalty on Net Sales of Licensed Products, and Licensed Services (“Running Royalty”). 
The Running Royalty is calculated as follows:  
  

With respect to the calculation of Net Sales for a Combination Product, notwithstanding the calculation formation for Net Sales of 
Combination Products found in the definition of Net Sales, the monies paid on the Net Sales for Combination Products shall not be 
less than 1.25% of the Net Sales of the Combination Product without using the Multiplier formula in the  

Know-How Running Royalty. If at any time during the term of this Agreement, there are no Valid Claims that cover a Licensed 
Product, for any:  

(a) products Sold that were made by or for the Licensee using the Know-How licensed hereunder to the Licensee (“Know-How 
Licensed Product”);  

Licensee must pay to DUKE a non-refundable, non-creditable running royalty of one percent (1%) of Net Sales for Know-How 
Licensed Products. For the purposes of interpreting this provision alone the definition of Net Sales under Article 1.11 will be 
modified to replace the term “Licensed Product” with “Know-How Licensed Product” and “Licensed Services” with “Know-How 
Licensed Services”. The Term for “Know-How Running Royalty shall expire 10 years from the date of the last to expire Valid Claim 
within the Patent Rights.  
  

(b) Stacking of Running Royalty. In the event that (a) Licensee is a party to a license agreement with any Third Party, which 
license is required for the manufacture, use and/or sale of a Licensed Product or performance and/or sale of a Licensed Service and 
(b) Licensee’s aggregate running royalty obligation (to DUKE and all such Third-Party licensors) on such Licensed Product or 
Licensed Service exceeds 10% of Net Sales, then in such event, the amount of running royalty obligation paid to all such parties will 
be decreased proportionately so that the total running royalty obligation is reduced to 10% of Net Sales, provided, however, that such 
proportionate reduction of running royalties payable to DUKE (“DUKE Reduction”) shall apply only if a proportionate royalty 
reduction on terms that are similar in all material respects to DUKE Reduction also applies to all such Third Party licensors, and 
provided further that the running royalty rate payable to DUKE shall in no event be reduced to less than fifty percent (50)% of Net 
Sales. Nothing herein, however shall be construed as reducing the minimum annual royalties dues and payable as set forth in Article 
3.6.  

(c) Valid Claims. The royalty payment obligation under Section 3.2(a) shall be due, on a country-by-country and License 
Product-by-License Product or Licensed Service-by-Licensed Service basis only for Sales in those countries where there is a Valid 
Claim.  

3.3 Royalties on Other Income. Licensee shall pay to DUKE 15 percent (15%) of all non-Running Royalty income received by 
Licensee as a result of its license to the Patents granted hereunder (“Other Income”). “Other Income” shall include any advance 
payments or fees. For purposes of clarity, the obligations under this term expire when the last valid claim to Patent Rights expires.  
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 a) percent (2.5%) of Net Sales for Licensed Products during the term where granted patent is active; 

 a) definition of Net Sales. 



3.4 Milestone Payments. Licensee must pay to DUKE the non-refundable, non-creditable milestone payments set forth in Appendix 
B (hereafter, “Performance Milestone Fees”). Each Performance Milestone Fee is due and payable within thirty (30) days of 
Licensee’s achievement of the relevant milestone.  

3.5 Application of Payments by DUKE. Notwithstanding reports, correspondence, or other communications from Licensee, it is 
understood that DUKE will apply any amounts received from Licensee in accordance with its policies and procedures in effect at the 
time of receipt.  

3.6 Payments Due in Full. All payments due hereunder shall be paid in full, without deduction of taxes or other fees that may be 
imposed by any government or other entity.  

3.7 Deadlines for Payments and Late Payments. Licensee must make all payments due to DUKE under this Agreement on or 
before the date set forth by the terms of this Agreement or within 30 days of any invoice date on invoices received from DUKE, 
whichever is earlier. If Licensee fails to pay any amount due to DUKE during the aforementioned time period, then the payments set 
forth in this Agreement will bear interest until payment is made in full. Interest will be calculated on the balance due at a per annum 
rate of 4% above the prime rate in effect at the Wachovia Bank (N.A.) (or its successors, as the case may be) on the due date of the 
payment(s) in question. Amounts due are compounded monthly until the Licensee meets the full financial obligation due at the time 
of the next payment or invoice due date. In no event, however, may any interest calculation hereunder exceed 18% per annum (or 
1.5 % per month). The payment of such interest does not foreclose DUKE from exercising any other rights it may have as a 
consequence of the lateness of the payment, including termination in accordance with Article 10.3 herein.  

3.8 Payment in U.S. Funds. All payments due to DUKE under this Agreement must be paid in United States Dollars in Durham, 
North Carolina, or at such place as DUKE may reasonably designate consistent with the laws and regulations controlling in any 
foreign country. If any currency conversion is required in connection with such payments due, such conversion must be made by 
using the exchange rate prevailing at Wachovia Bank (N.A.) (or its successor, as the case may be) on the last business day of the 
reporting period to which such payments relate.  

3.9 Foreign Restrictions on Payments. If at any time legal restrictions prevent the prompt remittance of part or all royalties by 
Licensee with respect to any country where a Licensed Product is sold or a Licensed Service provided, Licensee shall convert the 
amount owed to DUKE into United States funds and shall pay DUKE directly from its U.S. source of funds for the amount 
impounded. Licensee shall then pay all future royalties due to DUKE from its U.S. source of funds so long as the legal restrictions of 
this paragraph still apply.  

3.10 Foreign Exchange. The rate of exchange to be used in computing the amount of currency equivalent in Dollars of Net Sales 
invoiced in other currencies shall be made at the monthly rate of exchange utilized by Licensee, in accordance with GAAP, fairly 
applied and as employed on a consistent basis.  

3.11 Government Imposed Royalty Restrictions. In the event that any of the royalties and payments to DUKE provided for in this 
Agreement are higher than the maximum royalties permitted by the law or regulations of a particular country, the royalty payable for 
sales in such a country shall equal to the maximum permitted royalty under such law or regulations. Written notice of any such 
restrictions shall be provided to DUKE within thirty (30) days of discovering that such royalties are approaching or have reached the 
maximum amount. Licensee shall provide Company with written documentation regarding the laws or regulations establishing such 
maximum.  
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3.12 Delivery of payments. All payments due to DUKE under this Agreement must cite “DUKE File # 1519”, and must be made 
payable to “Duke University.” If payments are made by wire, the wiring instructions below must be followed. Payments made by 
check, as well as reports due to DUKE in accordance with Articles 5.1 and 5.2 must be sent to DUKE at the following address:  

For delivery via nationally/internationally recognized courier:  

DUKE UNIVERSITY  
2812 Erwin Road, Suite 306  
Durham, NC 27705  
919-681-7584  
Attention: Agreement Manager  

For delivery via the U.S. Postal Service:  

DUKE UNIVERSITY  
BOX 90083  
Durham, NC 27708  
Attention: Agreement Manager  

Bank Wire or ACH Payment Instructions:  
  

  

Note: All related fees are the responsibility of the payer.  

Licensee’s contact information regarding invoices and payments:  

Name: Jennifer D’Andrea                                                                                  

Institution: Medifocus Inc.                                                                                          

Address: 10240 Old Columbia Road, Suite G Columbia, MD 21046                                                             
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Bank:   Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.
  301 S. Tryon Street
  Charlotte, NC 28282, USA

ABA #:   121000248 (Domestic wires only)
Swift Code:   WFBIUS6S (Foreign wires only)
Beneficiary:  Duke University Concentration Account
Account #:   202374-0253053
Attention:   Office of Licensing & Ventures, 919-681-7583*

* This data must appear to ensure payment is credited to your account. 



Phone number: 410-290-5734                                                                                

Fax number: 410-290-7255                                                                                                  

Email: jdandrea@medifocusinc.com                                                                                                  

ARTICLE 4 – DEVELOPMENT AND COMMERCIALIZATION  

4.1 Commercialization Efforts of Licensee. Licensee will use commercially reasonable efforts to bring Licensed Products and/or 
Licensed Services to market. The parties agree that the development and commercialization milestones schedule established in 
attached Appendix C is reasonable (“Commercialization Schedule”). Modifications to the Commercialization Schedule must be 
expressly approved by DUKE in writing, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld.  

4.2 Meetings on Commercialization Efforts. DUKE has the right to one meeting per year with Licensee to discuss the development 
and commercialization of the Patents at a mutually acceptable time and place.  

ARTICLE 5 – REPORTS AND RECORDS  

5.1 Royalty Reports.  

(a) In addition to the reports required under Article 5.2, Licensee must render to DUKE before February 28th and August 31st of 
each year a written royalty report (“Royalty Report”) detailing activities as set forth in Article 5.1(b) that occurred during each of the 
prior six-month periods ending December 31st and June 30th (each a “Royalty Period”).  

(b) Each Royalty Report shall be substantially in the format provided in Appendix D and should show for the applicable Royalty 
Period:  
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 a) the invoice amounts and Net Sales of Licensed Products and Licensed Services Sold; 

 b) the number of each type of Licensed Product or Licensed Service sold, and the country where they were sold; 

 c) the Running Royalties, in U.S. Dollars, payable hereunder with respect to such sales of Licensed Products and 
Licensed Services; 

 d) the method used to calculate the Running Royalty owed by Licensee to DUKE; 

 e) the amounts of any Other Income received; 

 f) the type, description, and source of any Other Income received; 

 g) the royalties in U.S. Dollars due on Other Income; 



  

(c) Simultaneously with the submission of a Royalty Report, Licensee must provide to DUKE the payments due to DUKE on 
the Running Royalties and royalties from Other Income for the applicable Reporting Period.  

5.2 Progress Reports. During the term of this Agreement, Licensee shall submit annual progress reports to DUKE by February 28th 
of each year. The progress reports shall discuss the progress and results, as well as ongoing plans, with respect to the development 
and commercialization of the technology of the Patents and/or the status of development of each Licensed Product or Licensed 
Service. The report must provide information at least sufficient to meet DUKE’s government reporting requirements and additionally 
must include descriptions of Licensee’s plans and commercially reasonable estimated timeframes for testing, development, 
governmental approvals, and marketing/sale of each Licensed Product or Licensed Service.  

5.3 Record Keeping. Licensee must keep full, true, and accurate books of accounts and other records containing all particulars 
necessary to properly ascertain and verify the amounts payable to DUKE hereunder, including, but not limited to, records showing the
manufacturing, Sales, use, sublicense, and other disposition of Licensed Products or Licensed Services. In addition, Licensee shall 
maintain documentation evidencing that Licensee is in fact pursuing development of Licensed Products and Licensed Services as 
required herein. Such documentation may include, but is not limited to, invoices for studies advancing development of Licensed 
Products and Licensed Services, laboratory notebooks, internal job cost records, and filings made to the Internal Revenue Department 
to obtain tax credit, if available, for research and development of Licensed Products and Licensed Services. These books of account 
must be kept at Licensee’s principal place of business or the principal place of business of the appropriate division of Licensee to 
which this Agreement relates. These books and the supporting data must be open and available for inspection and copying by DUKE 
or its designee(s) at all reasonable times for the life of the Agreement and for a minimum of three (3) years following the end of the 
Agreement.  

5.4 Audit Rights. DUKE shall have the right, from time to time and at reasonable times during normal business hours, through an 
independent certified public accountant selected by DUKE, to examine the records of Licensee for purposes of determining any 
amounts due under this Agreement. Such examination and verification shall not occur more than once each calendar year. If any such 
examination and verification reveals an underpayment by Licensee to DUKE of more than 5% for any quarter examined, Licensee 
shall immediately pay DUKE the amount of such underpayment plus interest (in accordance with Article 3.10) and shall reimburse 
DUKE for all reasonably third-party expenses incurred in the examination and verification of the records by the independent certified 
public accountant.  

ARTICLE 6 – PATENTS  

6.1 Patent Prosecution. Conditioned upon Licensee’s fulfillment of their obligations under Article 6.3 DUKE will apply for, 
prosecute, and maintain during the term of this Agreement, the Patents in the United States and in the foreign countries listed in 
Appendix A hereto in accordance with this Article 6.1 and Article 6.5.  
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 h) the method used to calculate the royalties on the Other Income owed by Licensee to DUKE; 

 i) if no sales of Licensed Products or Licensed Service have been made or no Other Income received, a statement to 
that effect. 



6.2 Licensee must inform DUKE in writing any foreign countries in which Licensee desires patent protection, and Appendix A will 
be amended in writing to reflect those designations. DUKE and/or its other licensees of the Patents may elect to seek patent protection 
in countries not so designated by Licensee, in which case DUKE and/or such other licensees of the Patents are responsible for all 
expenses attendant thereto. In such instances, such patent applications will not be Patents (Appendix A shall be deemed to be so 
amended accordingly, if necessary), and Licensee forfeits all rights under this Agreement to such patent applications and any 
resulting patents.  

6.3 Licensee Participation in Patent Prosecution. Licensee will be given reasonable opportunities to advise DUKE, regarding the 
filing, prosecution, and maintenance of the Patents and will cooperate with DUKE in such filing, prosecution, and maintenance. At 
Licensee’s request and expense, Licensee shall be provided with copes of all prosecution documents relating to the Patents so that 
Licensee may have the opportunity to offer comments and remarks thereon, such comments and remarks to be given due 
consideration by DUKE. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, however, all decisions with respect to the 
filing, prosecution, and maintenance of the Patents are reserved solely to DUKE.  

6.4 Licensee Assumption of Patent Prosecution. Licensee shall have the right to assume primary responsibility for all activities 
associated with the prosecution of the Patents under this Agreement, provided that it first provides DUKE with written notice of its 
desire to assume such responsibilities and obtains DUKE’s written approval of the legal counsel that Licensee shall retain for such 
purposes, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed. It is understood and agreed that in the event 
Licensee assumes such responsibilities, it shall keep DUKE advised as to the status of the Patents by providing DUKE, in a timely 
manner, with copies of all official documents and correspondence relating to the prosecution, maintenance, and validity of the 
Patents. Licensee shall consult with DUKE in such prosecution and maintenance, shall diligently seek advice of DUKE on all matters 
pertaining to the Patents, and shall diligently seek reasonably strong and broad claims under the Patents. All decisions with respect to 
the prosecution of the Patents by Licensee pursuant to this Article 6.3 shall be made by Licensee, subject to the approval of DUKE, 
such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed.  

(a) Licensee shall not abandon prosecution of any Patents or any of the claims of the Patents without first notifying DUKE no 
less than sixty (60) days prior to abandonment of Licensee’s intention and reason therefore, providing DUKE with reasonable 
opportunity to assume responsibility for prosecution and maintenance of the appertaining Patents (which thereafter shall be subject to 
the provisions of Article 6.1 and 6.2 as regards status as Patents and Licensee’s rights therein).  

(b) Licensee’s obligations under this Article 6.3 shall include, without limitation, an obligation to inform DUKE in a timely 
manner (no less than sixty (60) days prior to the appertaining filing deadlines) that Licensee will not pursue patents in any non-U.S. 
country so that DUKE may pursue such patents if it so desires. In such case, upon the date of such filing of such patent applications 
by DUKE, such patents and patent applications shall not be considered Patents, Licensee shall be deemed to have forfeited all rights 
under this Agreement to such patent  
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applications and resulting patents, and Appendix A shall be deemed to be so amended. For avoidance of doubt, it is understood that 
Licensee shall assume direct and full responsibility for payment of expenses it incurs as a result of its assumption of responsibility for 
prosecution of Patents under this Article 6.3.  

6.5 Payment of Costs for Patent Prosecution and Maintenance. During the term of this Agreement, payment of all fees and costs 
relating to the filing, prosecution, and maintenance of the Patents are the responsibility of Licensee, whether such fees and costs were 
incurred before or after the Effective Date; provided, however, that if Duke licenses the Patents to any Third-Party, Licensee shall pay 
no more than a pro rata share of such costs based on the number of such third-parties. Licensee must pay all such fees and costs 
within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice for the same, and failure to pay such invoice within such 30-day period is a default 
hereunder for which DUKE may terminate this Agreement in accordance with Article 10.3.  

6.6 Withdrawal of Support for Patent Prosecution and Maintenance. If Licensee provides DUKE with written notification that it 
will no longer support the filing, prosecution, or maintenance of a specified patent(s) and/or patent application(s) within the Patents, 
then Licensee’s responsibility for fees and costs related to the filing, prosecution, and maintenance of such subject Patents will 
terminate sixty (60) days after DUKE’s receipt of such written notification. At that time, such patents and/or patent applications will 
no longer be included in the Patents (and Appendix A is deemed to be so amended accordingly), and Licensee surrenders all rights 
under this Agreement to such patents, patent applications, and any patent or patent applications arising therefrom.  

6.7 Patent Marking. To the extent reasonably practical, Licensee must mark any Licensed Product, and/or Licensed Service Sold in 
the United States and/or their containers, labels, and/or other packaging with all applicable United States patent numbers. All 
Licensed Products or Licensed Services shipped to or Sold in other countries must be marked in such a manner as to conform with the 
patent laws and practices of the country of manufacture or sale.  

ARTICLE 7 – INFRINGEMENTS OF THIRD PARTY RIGHTS  

7.1 If DUKE or Licensee is charged with infringement of a patent by a Third Party or is made a party in a civil action as a result of 
Licensee’s or a sublicensee’s practice of the Patents or Know-how under this Agreement, Licensee:  

(a) must notify DUKE, to the extent that DUKE has not been notified, of the existence of the charge or action and must keep 
DUKE informed of the material status of the charge or action (if DUKE is not a party; if the suit involves any declaratory judgment 
action or defense alleging the invalidity or non-infringement of the Patents then Article 8.5 will apply;  

(b) must defend and/or settle any such charge or action;  

(c) must assume all costs, expenses, damages, and other obligations for payments incurred as a consequence of such charge 
and/or action;  

(d) must indemnify and hold DUKE harmless from any and all damages, losses, liability, and costs resulting from the charge 
and/or action brought against DUKE;  
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must use Licensee’s best efforts to secure from any such Third Party a covenant not to sue DUKE or any of its faculty, students, 
employees or agents for any historic and/or ongoing research, educational, or clinical efforts conducted at DUKE that relate to the 
Patents and/or Know-how.  

7.2 Assistance of DUKE. At Licensee’s or its sublicensee’s expense, DUKE at its sole discretion will give Licensee or its 
sublicensee assistance in the defense of any such infringement charge or lawsuit as may be reasonably required.  

7.3 Conditions on Settlement and Grant of Rights to Patents. To the extent that any suit as handled under Article 7.1 involves a 
settlement, consent judgment, or voluntary final disposition involving: (i) the granting of rights to the Patents to a Third Party, (ii) the 
invalidity or enforcement of the Patents, or (iii) any stipulated interpretation of the Patents, no such settlement, consent judgment, or 
voluntary final disposition may be entered into without the written consent of DUKE.  

ARTICLE 8 – INFRINGEMENT OF DUKE’S PATENTS BY THIRD PARTIES  

8.1 Licensee’s Right to Enforce. If Licensee becomes aware of any alleged infringement of the Patents by a Third Party, Licensee 
shall, during the term of this Agreement, have the right, but not the obligation, to either:  

(a) resolve the infringement by sublicensing the Patents to the alleged infringer or by other means if permitted under this 
Agreement, or  

(b) prosecute or defend at its own expense an action to resolve the infringement. In the event Licensee prosecutes such 
infringement, Licensee may, for such purposes, request to use the name of DUKE as party plaintiff. DUKE, at its sole discretion, may 
agree to become a party plaintiff, and all costs associated therewith shall be borne by Licensee. If DUKE becomes a Party plaintiff, 
DUKE shall have the right to approve the counsel with primary responsibility for the enforcement.  

In the event that Licensee does not take any action to abate infringement against a party after become aware of infringing activity of 
the party within six (6) months from being aware of such infringing activity, DUKE shall have the right, but not the obligation, to 
institute an action against the infringing party.  

8.2 Recovery of Damages and Costs.  

(a) In the event DUKE undertakes the enforcement and/or defense of the Patents by litigation, including any declaratory 
judgment action, DUKE may use the name of Licensee as a party plaintiff in any such suit without expense to Licensee. The total cost 
of any such infringement action commenced or defended solely by DUKE shall be borne by DUKE. Any recovery of damages by 
DUKE for any infringement shall be applied first in satisfaction of any unreimbursed expenses and attorneys’ fees of DUKE relating 
to the suit, and second toward reimbursement of Licensee’s reasonable expenses, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, relating to the 
suit. Any balance remaining from such recovery shall be distributed with DUKE receiving one-hundred percent (100%)  
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(b) In the event that Licensee undertakes the enforcement and/or defense of the Patents by litigation, including any declaratory 
judgment action pursuant to Article 8.2(b), the total cost of any such action commenced or defended solely by Licensee shall be borne 
by Licensee. Any recovery of damages by Licensee as a result of such action shall be applied first in satisfaction of any unreimbursed 
expenses and attorneys’ fees of Licensee relating to the action, and second in satisfaction of unreimbursed legal expenses and 
attorneys’ fees of DUKE, if any, relating to the action. If applicable, Licensee shall receive an amount equal to its lost profits or a 
reasonable royalty on Sales of the infringer (whichever measure of damages the court shall have applied), less a reasonable 
approximation of the royalties that Licensee would have owed to DUKE on Net Sales that were lost to the infringer, which amount 
shall be promptly paid by Licensee to DUKE. Any balance remaining from such recovery shall be distributed between Licensee and 
DUKE with Licensee receiving Eight-five (85%) and DUKE receiving fifteen (15%).  

8.3 Cooperation of the Parties. If a Party undertakes an infringement suit against a Third Party as permitted under this Agreement, 
upon that Party’s reasonable request, the other Party shall provide the first Party with such assistance and information as may be 
useful to the first Party in connection with that Party’s taking action against an infringer. Such information and assistance includes 
having the cooperating Party’s employees testify when required and making available, for example, relevant records, papers, 
information, samples, and specimens. At all times, the cooperating Party shall have the right to select and to utilize independent 
counsel to advise the cooperating Party regarding the action.  

8.4 Declaratory Judgment or Invalidity Action Against the Patents. In the event that a declaratory judgment action or any other 
action or defense alleging invalidity of the Patents is brought against Licensee or its sublicensee, DUKE shall have the right, but not 
the obligation, within thirty (30) days after the commencement of such action, to intervene and assume control of the defense of the 
action at DUKE’s own expense. No settlement, consent judgment, or other voluntary final disposition of any suit subject to this 
Article 8.5 may be entered into without the written consent of DUKE.  

8.5 Patent Invalidity. Any of the foregoing notwithstanding, if at any time during the term of this Agreement any of the Patents are 
held invalid or unenforceable in a decision that is not appealable or is not appealed within the time allowed, Licensee shall have no 
further obligations to DUKE with respect to its future use or Sale of any Licensed Product or Licensed Service covered solely by such 
Patents, including the obligation of paying royalties, as of the date of final decision from which no further appeals can be taken 
(“Date of Invalidity”). The Licensee will not, however, be relieved from paying any royalties owed on Sales or activities that 
occurred before such a Date of Invalidity. Licensee shall be obligated to pay the full amount of royalties due hereunder to the extent 
that a Licensed Product or Licensed Service falls within the scope of any other Valid Claim of any Patents that have not been held 
invalid. For avoidance of doubt, it is understood and agreed that in the case of an invalidity finding of a Patent, Licensee shall not 
have any damage claim or any claim for refund or reimbursement against DUKE for any amounts previously paid to DUKE under 
this Agreement.  

8.6 Termination of this Agreement shall not extinguish a Party’s obligation to pay fees and costs that have accrued as of the date of 
termination.  
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ARTICLE 9 – GOVERNMENT CLEARANCE, PUBLICATION, EXPORT  

9.1 Government Clearance. To the extent any government clearance is required, Licensee must use its commercially reasonable 
efforts to have the Licensed Products and/or Licensed Services cleared for marketing in those countries in which Licensee intends to 
sell Licensed Products and/or Licensed Services. To accomplish these clearances at the earliest possible date, Licensee agrees to file 
or have filed any necessary data with appropriate government agencies.  

9.2 Assignment of any Government Clearance at Termination. If this Agreement terminates in accordance with Articles 10.2, 
10.3, or 10.4, Licensee must, within 45 days following such termination and at its own expense, assign to DUKE its full interest and 
title in  

(a) all market clearance applications described in Article 9.1 (including all data and documentation relating thereto) and  

(b) all data, and all documentation related to the data, that could relate to market clearance applications, including, but not 
limited to, all in vitro and in vivo pre-clinical data, pharmacology data, toxicology data, human data and the like. Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, once received by DUKE in accordance with this Article 9.2, such information and data is 
not the confidential information of Licensee under Article 11 but instead is the confidential information of DUKE. It remains subject 
to the restrictions of Article 11.  

9.3 Publication. It is understood and agreed that the right of publication of the Patents resides in the Inventors and other staff and 
students of DUKE. Licensee may also publish and/or co-author any publication on the Patents in accordance with academic custom.  

9.4 Government Restrictions. This Agreement is subject to all of the United States laws and regulations controlling the export of 
technical data, computer software, laboratory prototypes, and other commodities and technology. It is understood that DUKE is 
subject to United States laws and regulations controlling the export of technical data, computer software, laboratory prototypes, and 
other commodities (including the Arms Export Control Act, as amended and the Export Administration Act of 1979) and that 
DUKE’s obligations under this Agreement are contingent on compliance with applicable United States export laws and regulations. 
The transfer of certain technical data and commodities may require a license from the cognizant agency of the United States 
Government and/or written assurances by Licensee that Licensee will not export data or commodities to certain foreign countries 
without prior approval of such agency. DUKE makes no promise or representation that a license is not required nor that, if required, it 
will be issued.  

9.5 Compliance with Governmental Obligations. In exercising its rights in this Agreement, Licensee shall fully comply, at its own 
expense, with all governmental regulations and requests directed to it, and will provide all information and assistance necessary to 
comply with the governmental requests. Failure to take necessary action and to comply with said requirements and requests shall be 
considered a breach of this agreement. DUKE disclaims any obligations or liabilities arising under the license provisions of this 
agreement if Licensee is charged in a governmental action for not complying with or fails to comply with any governmental 
regulations.  
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ARTICLE 10 – DURATION AND TERMINATION 

10.1 Term. This Agreement is effective upon the Effective Date, and unless sooner terminated in accordance with any of its 
provisions, this Agreement remains in full force and effect for 10 years, or the life of the last-to-expire of the Patents, whichever 
comes last. (“Term”).  

10.2 Termination at Will by Licensee. Licensee may terminate this Agreement by giving DUKE written notice at least three 
(3) months prior to such termination. Upon termination, Licensee must terminate the manufacture, use, practice, and Sale of Licensed 
Products and Licensed Services. It is understood that Licensee remains responsible for the timely payment of all amounts due DUKE 
under this Agreement through the effective date of the termination.  

10.3 Termination for Breach or Other Wrongful Acts.  

(a) By giving written notice of termination to the other Party, either Party may immediately terminate this Agreement for fraud, 
willful misconduct, or illegal conduct by the other Party.  

(b) Except for the types of breaches described in Article 10.3(a), if either Party fails to fulfill any of its obligations under this 
Agreement, including, but not limited to, the failure to make any payment when due, the non-breaching Party may terminate this 
Agreement by giving written notice to the breaching party as described in Article 10.3 (c).  

(c) Any notice of termination must contain a reasonably adequate description of the event or occurrence constituting a breach of 
the Agreement. For breaches described in Article 10.3(b), the Party receiving notice of the breach will have the opportunity to cure 
that breach within thirty (30) days of receipt of notice. If the breach is not cured within that time, the termination will be effective as 
of the 31st day after receipt of notice. A Party’s right to cure a breach will apply only to the first two (2) breaches properly noticed 
under the terms of this Agreement, regardless of the nature of those breaches. Any subsequent breach or any uncured breach by that 
Party will entitle the other Party to terminate this Agreement by written notice.  

10.4 Termination Due to Bankruptcy. This Agreement may be terminated immediately by either Part upon written notice should 
the other party: (i) be declared bankrupt, become insolvent or enter into liquidation; (ii) make an assignment for the benefit of 
creditors if proceedings for voluntary bankruptcy are instituted on behalf of the affected Party; or (iii) take such other action that may 
indicate impending financial difficulty.  

10.5 Effect of Termination on Financial Obligations. Neither expiration nor termination of this Agreement removes or diminishes 
any financial obligations to DUKE that Licensee has incurred under this Agreement before and as of the effective date of termination 
or expiration.  

10.6 Effect of Termination on Data and Licensed Products.  

(a) Upon the termination of this Agreement, Licensee may notify DUKE within thirty (30) days of the amount of Licensed 
Products that Licensee has on hand, and Licensee may then Sell that amount of Licensed Products, but no more; provided, however, 
that Licensee pay DUKE any fees, royalties, or other financial consideration as provided for in this Agreement.  
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10.7 Effect of Termination on Sublicenses. Upon termination of this Agreement, any sublicenses granted by Licensee under the 
Patents shall remain in effect, provided that: (a) the sublicense is assigned to DUKE; (b) the sublicensing agreement requires the 
sublicensee to thereafter pay DUKE any consideration that would have been due to Licensee; (c) upon termination of this Agreement, 
Licensee informs the sublicensee of the foregoing obligations; (d) the sublicense agrees to the assignment in writing to DUKE; and 
(e) Licensee remains responsible for all other obligations. If any terms of such sublicense agreements are inconsistent with DUKE’s 
policies and/or practices, or are otherwise unacceptable to DUKE, such terms will be renegotiated between DUKE and the 
sublicensee. Sublicensee must contact DUKE within thirty (30) days of termination of this Agreement to initiate a discussion with 
DUKE concerning any potential renegotiations that may be needed. Any sublicense executed by Licensee must contain language to 
implement this Article 10.9.  

ARTICLE 11 – CONFIDENTIALITY  

11.1 Confidential Information. Except as set forth in Article 11.2 below, “Confidential Information” means all non-public, 
confidential, or proprietary information disclosed before, on or after the Effective Date, by either Party (a “Disclosing Party”) to the 
other Party (a “Recipient”) or its Affiliates, or to any of such Recipient’s or its Affiliates’ employees, officers, directors, partners, 
shareholders, agents, attorneys, accountants, or advisors (collectively, “Representatives”). Confidential Information must be disclosed 
in writing or in another tangible medium and must be clearly marked “CONFIDENTIAL.” Information disclosed orally must be 
summarized and reduced to writing and communicated to the other party within thirty (30) days of such disclosure. The terms and 
conditions of this Agreement are considered Confidential Information.  

11.2 Exclusions from Confidential Information. Except as required by applicable federal, state, or local law or regulation, the term 
“Confidential Information” as used in this Agreement shall not include information that:  

(a) at the time of disclosure is, or thereafter becomes, generally available to and known by the public other than as a result of, 
directly or indirectly, any violation of this Agreement by the Recipient or any of its Representatives;  

(b) at the time of disclosure is, or thereafter becomes, available to the Recipient on a non-confidential basis from a Third Party, 
provided that such Third Party is not and was not prohibited from disclosing such Confidential Information to the Recipient by a 
legal, fiduciary or contractual obligation to the Disclosing Party;  

(c) was known by or in the possession of the Recipient or its Representatives, as established by documentary evidence, before 
being disclosed by or on behalf of the Disclosing Party pursuant to this Agreement;  

(d) is approved for release by prior written authorization of the Disclosing Party; or  

(e) was or is independently developed by the Recipient, as established by documentary evidence, without reference to or use of, 
in whole or in part, any of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information.  
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11.3 Recipient Obligations. The Recipient shall:  

(a) protect and safeguard the confidentiality of all such Confidential Information with at least the same degree of care as the 
Recipient would protect its own Confidential Information, but in no event with less than a commercially reasonable degree of care;  

(b) not use the Disclosing Party’s Confidential Information, or permit it to be accessed or used, for any purpose other than the 
purpose of this Agreement or otherwise in any manner to the Disclosing Party’s detriment;  

(c) not disclose any such Confidential Information to any person or entity, except to the Recipient’s Representatives who:  
  

  

  

(d) be responsible for any breach of this Agreement caused by any of its Representatives.  

11.4 Required Disclosure. Any disclosure by the Recipient or its Representatives of any of the Disclosing Party’s Confidential 
Information pursuant to applicable federal, state or local law, regulation or a valid order issued by a court or governmental agency of 
competent jurisdiction (a “Legal Order”) shall be subject to the terms of this Section. Before making any such disclosure, the 
Recipient shall provide the Disclosing Party with: (a) prompt written notice of such requirement so that the Disclosing Party may 
seek, at its sole cost and expense, a protective order or other remedy, and (b) reasonable assistance, at the Disclosing Party’s sole cost 
and expense, in opposing such disclosure or seeking a protective order or other limitations on disclosure. If, after providing such 
notice and assistance as required herein, the Recipient remains subject to a Legal Order to disclose any Confidential Information, the 
Recipient (or its Representatives or other persons to whom such Legal Order is directed) shall disclose no more than that portion of 
the Confidential Information which, on the advice of the Recipient’s legal counsel, such Legal Order specifically requires the 
Recipient to disclose. The details of that advice shall be confidential and privileged at the sole discretion of Recipient.  

11.5 Disclosure to Collaborators. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Licensee may use and disclose any Confidential Information 
related to the Patents and Know-how to investors, prospective investors, employees, consultants and agents with a need to know, 
collaborators, prospective collaborators and other third parties in the chain of manufacturing and distribution, but if and only if 
Licensee obtains from each such recipient a written confidentiality agreement, the provisions of which are at least as protective of 
DUKE’s Confidential Information as those provided in this Article 11.  

11.6 Confidentiality of Patent Information. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, all information relating to 
filing, prosecution, maintenance, defense, infringement, and the like regarding the Patents (no matter how disclosed) is the 
Confidential Information of DUKE and subject to the provisions of this Article 11.  
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 a) need to know the Confidential Information to assist the Recipient, or act on its behalf, in relation to the purpose of 
this Agreement or to exercise its rights under the Agreement; 

 b) are informed by the Recipient of the confidential nature of the Confidential Information; and 

 c) are subject to confidentiality duties or obligations to the Recipient that are no less restrictive than the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement; and 



11.7 Term of Confidentiality. Confidential Information shall remain subject to the terms of this Article 11 for a period of five 
(5) years after the expiration or termination of this Agreement.  

ARTICLE 12 – NOTICES  

12.1 It is a sufficient giving of any notice, request, report, statement, disclosure or other communication hereunder if the party giving 
the same:  
  

  

  

to the other Party at the address given below or as stated in Article 3.14, in the case of payments and reports due in accordance with 
Article 3.1, 3.2, 3.4, 3.5, 3.7, 3.7, 5.1, 5.2, and 6.3.  
  

12.2 Date of Notice. The date of giving any such notice, request, report, statement, disclosure, or other communications, and the date 
of making any payment hereunder required (provided such payment is received), is the date of the U.S. postmark of such envelope if 
marked or the actual date of receipt if not marked or if delivered otherwise.  

12.3 Obligation to Report Small Entity Status. Licensee shall notify University immediately if, at any time during the term of this 
Agreement, Licensee, its Affiliates or any of its sublicensees does not qualify as a “small entity” as under section 1.27, as amended, 
of the Consolidated Patent Rules of the United States Patent and Trademark Office.  
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 (a) hand delivers such communication; 

 (b) mails such communication, postage prepaid, first class, certified mail; or 

 (c) sends such communication, shipping prepaid, by national/international courier service 

DUKE   Licensee  

For delivery via the U.S. Postal Service  

DUKE UNIVERSITY      
Office of Licensing & Ventures    
Box 90083      
Durham, NC 27708      
Attention: Agreement Manager      

For delivery via nationally/internationally recognized courier  

DUKE UNIVERSITY    
Office of Licensing & Ventures    
2812 Erwin Road, Suite 306    
Durham, NC 27705    
Attn: Agreement Manager    



ARTICLE 13 – ASSIGNMENT 

13.1 No Assignment Without Consent of DUKE. This Agreement is binding upon and inures to the benefit of the respective 
successors of the Parties. This Agreement may not be assigned by Licensee or be subject to a Change of Control of Licensee without 
the prior written consent of DUKE.  

13.2 Required Conditions Before Assignment. Before any assignment, the following additional conditions must be met:  

(a) Licensee must give Duke thirty (30) days prior written notice of the assignment, including the new assignee’s contact 
information;  

(b) The new assignee must agree in writing to DUKE to be bound by this Agreement; and  

ARTICLE 14 – INDEMNITY, INSURANCE, REPRESENTATIONS, STATUS  

14.1 Indemnification of DUKE. DUKE, and its trustees, officers, employees, students, and agents (collectively, “DUKE 
Indemnitees”) will be indemnified, defended by counsel acceptable to DUKE, and held harmless by Licensee from and against any 
claim, liability, cost, expense, damage, deficiency, loss or obligation, of any kind or nature (including, without limitation, reasonable 
attorneys’ fees and other costs and expenses of defense) (hereinafter referred to as “Claim” or “Claims”) based upon, arising out of, 
or otherwise relating to Licensee’s activities under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any cause of action relating to 
product liability, Licensee’s use of the Patents and/or Know-how, and/or Licensee’s exercise of the license granted herein. The 
previous sentence will not apply to any Claim that is determined with finality by a court of competent jurisdiction to result solely 
from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of a DUKE Indemnitee.  

14.2 Insurance. Licensee must maintain in force at its sole cost and expense with licensed and reputable insurance companies general 
liability insurance and products liability insurance coverage in amounts reasonably sufficient to protect against liability under Article 
14.1 above. DUKE has the right to ascertain from time to time that such coverage exists, such right to be exercised in a reasonable 
manner. Licensee shall provide DUKE with written evidence of such insurance upon request of DUKE. Licensee shall provide DUKE 
with written notice at least fifteen (15) days before the cancellation, non-renewal or material change in such insurance; if Licensee 
does not obtain replacement insurance providing comparable coverage before the expiration of such fifteen (15) day period, DUKE 
shall have the right to terminate this Agreement effective at the end of such fifteen (15) day period without notice or any additional 
waiting periods.  

14.3 LIMITATION OF WARRANTIES. DUKE MAKES NO WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND. IN PARTICULAR, THERE ARE 
NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS OF THE PATENTS OR KNOW-HOW 
FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NOR IS THERE A WARRANTY THAT THE USE OF THE PATENTS AND/OR KNOW-
HOW, OR USE, MANUFACTURE OR SALE OF THE LICENSED PRODUCTS OR LICENSED SERVICES WILL NOT 
INFRINGE ANY PATENT, COPYRIGHT, TRADEMARK, OR OTHER RIGHTS. IN ADDITION, NOTHING IN THIS  
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AGREEMENT MAY BE DEEMED TO BE A REPRESENTATION OR WARRANTY BY DUKE OF THE VALIDITY OF ANY 
OF THE PATENTS OR THE ACCURACY, SAFETY, EFFICACY, OR USEFULNESS, FOR ANY PURPOSE, OF THE 
PATENTS, KNOW-HOW, LICENSED PRODUCTS OR LICENSED SERVICES. DUKE HAS NO OBLIGATION, EXPRESS OR 
IMPLIED, TO SUPERVISE, MONITOR, REVIEW OR OTHERWISE ASSUME RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE PRODUCTION, 
MANUFACTURE, TESTING, MARKETING OR SALE OF ANY LICENSED PRODUCT OR LICENSED SERVICE. DUKE 
HAS NO LIABILITY WHATSOEVER TO LICENSEE OR ANY THIRD PARTIES FOR OR ON ACCOUNT OF ANY INJURY, 
LOSS, OR DAMAGE, OF ANY KIND OR NATURE, SUSTAINED BY, OR ANY DAMAGE ASSESSED OR ASSERTED 
AGAINST, OR ANY OTHER LIABILITY INCURRED BY OR IMPOSED UPON LICENSEE OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR 
ENTITY, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH OR RESULTING FROM: (A) THE PRODUCTION, USE, 
PRACTICE, LEASE, OR SALE OF ANY LICENSED PRODUCT OR LICENSED SERVICE; (B) THE USE OF THE PATENTS 
AND/OR KNOW-HOW; OR (C) ANY ADVERTISING OR OTHER PROMOTIONAL ACTIVITIES WITH RESPECT TO ANY 
OF THE FOREGOING.  

14.4 License to Third Party Rights Responsibility of Licensee. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, it is 
understood and agreed that it shall be the responsibility of Licensee to secure rights to any Third Party intellectual property rights that 
may be required to practice the rights granted to the Patents under this Agreement and to exercise any and all of the rights granted 
under Article 2.  

14.5 Independent Contractors. The relationship of the Parties is that of independent contractors, and nothing herein shall be 
construed as establishing one Party, or any of its employees as the agent, legal representative, joint venture partner, employee, or 
servant of another Party. Except as set forth herein, no Party shall have any right, power or authority to assume, create or incur any 
expense, liability or obligation, express or implied, on behalf of another Party. No Party shall hold itself out as being the agent, legal 
representative, joint venture partner, employee, or servant of another Party or as having authority to represent or act for another party 
in any capacity whatsoever, except as authorized herein.  

ARTICLE 15 – USE OF A PARTY’S NAME  

15.1 Use of Parties names. Neither Party may, without the prior written consent of the other Party:  

(a) use in any publication, advertising, publicity, press release, promotional activity or otherwise, any trade-name, personal 
name, trademark, trade device, service mark, symbol, image, icon, or any abbreviation, contraction or simulation thereof owned by 
the other Party; or  

(b) use the name or image of any employee or agent of the other Party in any publication, publicity, advertising, press release, 
promotional activity or otherwise; or  

(c) represent, either directly or indirectly, that any product or service of the other Party is a product or service of the representing 
Party or that it is made in accordance with or utilizes the information or documents of the other Party.  
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ARTICLE 16 – SEVERANCE AND WAIVER 

16.1 Severability. Each clause of this Agreement is a distinct and severable clause, and if any clause is deemed illegal, void, or 
unenforceable, the validity, legality or enforceability of any other clause or portion of this Agreement will not be affected.  

16.2 No Waiver. The failure of a Party in any instance to insist upon the strict performance of the terms of this Agreement is not a 
waiver or relinquishment of any of the terms of this Agreement, either at the time of the Party’s failure to insist upon strict 
performance or at any time in the future, and such terms will continue in full force and effect.  

ARTICLE 17 – TITLES  

17.1 Titles. All titles and article headings contained in this Agreement are inserted only as a matter of convenience and reference. 
They do not define, limit, extend or describe the scope of this Agreement or the intent of any of its provisions.  

ARTICLE 18 – SURVIVAL OF TERMS  

18.1 Survival. Upon termination of this Agreement, the following provisions shall survive the termination of this Agreement. The 
provisions of Articles 1 (DEFINITIONS), 3 (LICENSE FEE and ROYALTIES (for any royalties or payments that accrued during the 
Term of the Agreement)), 5.1 (Royalty Reports (for any royalties or payments that accrued during the Term of the Agreement ), 5.3 
(Record Keeping), 5.4 (Audit Rights), 6.4 (Payment of Costs for Patent Prosecution and Maintenance (for costs accrued during the 
Term of the Agreement), 7 (INFRINGEMENT OF THIRD PARTY RIGHTS), 9.2 (Assignment of any Government Clearance at 
Termination), 9.4 (Government Restrictions), 10.5 (Termination Due to Lack of Commercial Development), 10.6 (Challenge of 
Patents by Licensee), 10.7 (Effect of Termination on Financial Obligations), 10.8 (Effect of Termination on Data and Licensed 
Products), 10.9 (Effect of Termination on Sublicenses), 12 (Notices), 14 (INDEMNITY, INSURANCE, REPRESENTATIONS, 
STATUS), 15 (USE OF A PARTY’S NAME), 16 (SEVERANCE AND WAIVER), 17 (TITLES), 18 (SURVIVAL OF TERMS), 19 
(GOVERNING LAW), and 20 (ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING). The provisions of Article 11 shall survive any termination of this 
Agreement for a period of five (5) years after the Term of this Agreement. In addition, any other provisions of this Agreement that by 
their nature are intended to extend beyond the Term of this Agreement shall also survive any termination of this Agreement and 
continue in full force and effect as needed.  

ARTICLE 19 – GOVERNING LAW  

19.1 Governing Law. This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the internal laws of the State of North 
Carolina without giving effect to any choice or conflict of law provision or rule (whether of the State of North Carolina or any other 
jurisdiction) that would cause the application of Laws of any jurisdiction other than those of the State of North Carolina.  
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ARTICLE 20 – ENTIRE UNDERSTANDING 

20.1 Entire Understanding. This Agreement represents the entire understanding between the parties, and supersedes all other 
agreements, express or implied, between the parties concerning the subject matter hereof, and is not subject to any change or 
modification except by the execution of a written instrument subscribed to by authorized representatives of the parties.  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement on the dates set forth below.  
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DUKE UNIVERSITY LICENSEE

By:  /s/ Rose Ritts By: /s/ Augustine Cheung 
Name: Rose Ritts, Ph.D. Name: Augustine Cheung, Ph.D.
Title:

 
Executive Director, Office of Licensing & 
Ventures, Duke University 

Title: Chief Executive Offer

Date:  Oct 6, 2015 Date: Oct 6, 2015



APPENDICES 

APPENDIX A—PATENTS  

APPENDIX B—MILESTONE FEES  

APPENDIX C—DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE  

APPENDIX D—ROYALTY REPORT FORM  
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Appendix A – PATENTS 

Duke File number: 1519  

Title: Method for Selective Expression of Therapeutic Genes By Hyperthermia  

Application number: 10/172,399  
Patent number: 7,183,262  
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Appendix B – MILESTONE FEES 

$25,000 for submission of each IND/IDE  

$50,000 for completion of first successful Phase I study  

$75,000 for completion of first successful Phase II study  

$125,000 for completion of first successful Phase III study  

$225,000 for approval of first NDA  
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Appendix C – DEVELOPMENT SCHEDULE 

Development Time Table and Budget for Medifocus’ Gene Therapy Construct  
(Estimate prepared by THYX, Shenzhen China)  

GLP Toxicity Test: 12 months to complete  
R&D CMC: 12-18 months to complete  

Pharmacology: 6-12 months  
CLP & Pharmacology Tracking Service (throughout)  
NIFDC detection of cell bank and products (ongoing)  

IND Filing to CFDA (12 months)  
Tracking, Review and Information Services  

Submission of Phase I to CFDA (9-12 months)  
CFDA phase I review process (6 months)  

Phase II submission (18-24 months)  
CFDA phase II review process (6 months to 1 year)  

Phase III submission (18-24 months)  
CFDA approval (1-2 year after phase III completion)  

Estimate total budget leading to phase I submission  

Total estimated development time to CFDA approval              6-8 years  
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Exhibit 4.29 

Medifocus Inc.  

Code of Ethics and Business Conduct for Directors, Officers and Employees  

(Adopted by Action of the Board of Directors Date: December 16, 2015)  

Introduction  

This Code of Ethics and Business Conduct provides general guidance concerning a wide range of business practices and procedures. 
It does not purport to cover every issue that may arise. Instead, it sets out basic principles that apply to Medifocus’ directors, officers, 
and employees. We also expect that others acting as our agents and representatives, including consultants, will comply with the terms 
of this Code.  

In some cases, we may already have adopted more specific policies covering some of the subjects addressed by this Code, and we 
may adopt additional, specific policies in the future. Where we have adopted or later adopt a policy in a particular area or covering a 
particular subject, all Medifocus employees are required to comply with the terms of that specific policy in addition to this Code. In 
the case of a conflict between the terms of any such policy and this Code, the terms of this Code shall prevail.  

If a policy contained in this Code conflicts with any law or governmental regulation, such law or regulation governs and you must 
comply with it. However, if this Code conflicts with a local custom or business practice, the Code must govern your actions. If you 
have any questions or doubts about these conflicts or the applicability or application of the Code in particular circumstances, you 
should ask your supervisor how to handle the situation.  

All of our personnel must conduct themselves in accordance with the terms of the Code and must seek to avoid even the appearance 
of improper behavior. Anyone who violates the standards in this Code will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including 
termination. If you are in a situation that you believe may violate or lead to a violation of this Code, follow the guidelines described 
under the heading “Compliance” in this Code.  

By: The Board of Directors, Medifocus Inc.  

Date: December 16, 2015  
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Governing Principles  
  

We are committed to honesty, just management, fairness, providing a safe and healthy environment and respecting the fundamental 
dignity due each individual.  

For the communities in which we live and work, we are committed to observing sound environmental business practices and to acting 
generally as responsible neighbors.  

For our stockholders, we are committed to pursuing sound growth and earnings objectives and to exercising prudence in the use of 
our resources.  

For our suppliers and partners, we are committed to fair competition and the sense of responsibility required in building and 
maintaining sound business relationships.  

  

All employees deserve a workplace where they feel respected, satisfied, and appreciated. We respect cultural diversity and will not 
tolerate harassment or discrimination of any kind—especially involving race, color, religion, gender, age, national origin, disability, 
and veteran or marital status. Providing an environment that supports honesty, integrity, respect, trust, responsibility, and citizenship 
permits us the opportunity to achieve excellence in our workplace. While everyone who works for the Company must contribute to 
the creation and maintenance of such an environment, our management personnel assume special responsibility for fostering a work 
environment that is free from the fear of retribution and will bring out the best in each of us. Supervisors are expected to use care and 
forethought in words and conduct to avoid placing, or seeming to place, pressure on subordinates that could cause them to deviate 
from acceptable ethical behavior.  

  

We are committed to providing a safe and healthy work environment and to observing environmentally sound business practices. 
Each of us is responsible for compliance with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations.  

  

Compliance with law, both in letter and in spirit, is the foundation of this Company’s ethical standards. All personnel must respect 
and obey the laws of the cities, states, and countries in which we do business. The Company and its personnel are subject to all 
applicable governmental laws, rules, and regulations, including those of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). 
Although not all personnel are expected to know the details of all of these laws, it is important to know enough to determine when to 
seek advice from supervisors or other appropriate personnel. Compliance with the law does not, however, comprise our entire ethical 
responsibility. Rather, it is a minimum, absolutely essential condition for performance of our duties.  
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1. Treat in an Ethical Manner Those to Whom We Have an Obligation 

2. Promote a Positive, Open Work Environment 

3. Protect Yourself, Your Fellow Employees and the World in Which We Live 

4. Obey the Law 



Specific Policies and Guidelines  

Strictly Comply with Applicable Laws, Rules and Regulations  
  

Personnel who have access to confidential information are not permitted to use or share that information for any purpose other than 
the conduct of our business. Both federal law and Company policy prohibit our directors, officers and employees, directly or 
indirectly through their families or others, from purchasing or selling our stock while in possession of material, non-public 
information about the Company. This same prohibition also applies to trading in the stock of other public companies on the basis of 
material, non-public information that you acquire in the course of your employment with us or that others acquire in the course of 
their employment and pass along to you.  

Material, non-public information is any information that could reasonably be expected to affect the price of a stock. All non- public 
information about the Company should be considered confidential. If a director, officer or employee is considering buying or selling 
stock in whole or in part on the basis of inside information, such information should be considered material as well.  

Two simple rules provide invaluable guidance and protection in this area—  
  

  

  

As a public company, it is our policy to ensure that the information in our public communications, including SEC filings and 
stockholders communications, is full, fair, timely, accurate, and understandable. All personnel involved in the Company’s disclosure 
process are responsible for furthering and supporting this policy. Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are 
particularly charged with maintaining familiarity with the disclosure requirements applicable to Medifocus, and any other officer, 
director or employee who has a supervisory role in our disclosure process is obligated to discharge his or her obligations diligently.  

The securities laws are vigorously enforced. Violations may result in severe penalties including significant fines against the 
Company. There may also be sanctions against individual employees, including substantial fines and prison sentences.  
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1. Do Not Engage in Speculative or Insider Trading 

 •  Don’t ever use non-public information for personal gain; and 

 •  Do not pass along non-public information to anyone who does not need the information to do his or her job. 

2. Enable Prompt, Accurate, Fair and Complete Public Disclosure 



Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer are required to certify the accuracy of reports filed with the SEC in 
accordance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Officers who knowingly or willfully make false certifications may be subject to 
criminal penalties or sanctions, including fines and imprisonment.  

  

The federal Foreign Corrupt Practices Act prohibits giving anything of value, directly or indirectly, to officials of foreign 
governments or foreign political candidates in order to obtain or retain business. It is our Company policy strictly to prohibit any 
illegal payments to government officials of any country.  

In addition, there are a number of laws and regulations regarding business gratuities that may be accepted by U.S. government 
personnel. The promise, offer or delivery to an official or employee of the U.S. government of a gift, favor or other gratuity in 
violation of these rules would not only violate Company policy but could also be a criminal offense. State and local governments, as 
well as foreign governments, may have similar rules. The Company’s Chief Financial Officer can provide guidance to you in this 
area.  

Safeguard Company Resources  
  

In carrying out the Company’s business, directors, officers, and employees often learn confidential information about the Company, 
its customers and prospective customers, suppliers and prospective suppliers, competitors and others. Company personnel must 
maintain the confidentiality of all information entrusted to them, except where disclosure is authorized or legally required.  

Confidential information includes all non-public information concerning the Company, including its business, plans, prospects, and 
financial results and condition, as well as any non-public information provided by a third party with the expectation that such 
information would be kept confidential and used only for the business purpose for which it was provided. The obligation to preserve 
confidential information continues even after employment ends.  

The obligation of personnel to protect the Company’s resources includes the obligation to protect its proprietary information. 
Proprietary information includes intellectual property such as trade secrets, patents, trademarks, and copyrights, as well as business, 
marketing and service plans, engineering and manufacturing ideas, designs, databases, records, salary information, and any 
unpublished financial or business data. Unauthorized use or distribution of this information would violate Company policy. It could 
also be illegal and result in civil or even criminal penalties.  
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3. Comply with All Prohibitions on and Limitations of Gifts and Payments 

1. Protect Confidential and Proprietary Information 



Our directors, officers, and employees owe a duty to advance Medifocus’ legitimate business interests as and when the opportunity 
arises. Therefore, Company personnel are prohibited from taking for themselves personally (or directing to a third party), 
opportunities that are discovered through the use of corporate property, information, or position without the express, prior, written 
consent of the Board of Directors.  

Sometimes the line between personal and Company benefits is difficult to draw and both personal and Company benefits may be 
derived from certain activities. Given these ambiguities, our personnel should ensure that any use of Company property or 
information that is not solely for the benefit of the Company be approved in advance by more senior management, the Audit 
Committee or the Board of Directors.  

  

Personal use of Company property must always be in accordance with corporate policy. Proper use of Company property, information
resources, materials, facilities, and equipment is your responsibility. Use and maintain these assets with the utmost care and respect, 
guarding against waste and abuse, and never borrow or remove Company property without management’s permission.  

  

We must maintain honest and accurate business and financial records in order to make responsible business decisions and to comply 
with our obligations under various laws, rules, and regulations to which we are subject. For example if you are permitted to use a 
business expense account, it must be documented and recorded accurately. If you are not sure whether a particular expense is 
legitimate, ask your supervisor.  

All of the Company’s books, records, accounts, and financial statements must be maintained in reasonable detail, must appropriately 
reflect the Company’s transactions, and must conform both to applicable legal requirements and to the Company’s system of internal 
controls. There are absolutely no circumstances under which transactions should not be fully and fairly characterized and recorded or 
under which records of transactions, once made and approved in accordance with our internal procedures, should be altered.  

Business records and communications that you believe to be confidential may nonetheless become public. Therefore, we should 
exercise care and good sense in our writings and should avoid exaggeration, derogatory remarks, guesswork, or inappropriate 
characterizations of people or companies. This applies equally to written communications, including e-mail, internal memos, and 
formal reports.  

Records should always be retained or destroyed according to the Company’s record retention policies. In accordance with those 
policies, in the event of litigation or a governmental investigation, immediately halt any destruction of potentially related documents 
and immediately consult the Company’s Chief Financial Officer.  
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2. Preserve Corporate Opportunities 

3. Conserve Company Assets 

4. Maintain Accurate and Complete Business and Financial Records 



Our directors, officers, and employees have an obligation to give their complete loyalty to the best interests of the Company. Our 
personnel should avoid any action that may involve, or that even may appear to involve, a conflict of interest with the Company. A 
“conflict of interest” exists when a person’s private interest interferes in any way with the interests of the Company. A conflict 
situation can arise when a director, officer or employee, takes actions or has interests that may make it more difficult to perform his or 
her Company work objectively and effectively. Conflicts of interest may also arise when a director, officer or employee, or any 
member of his or her family, receives personal benefits as a result of his or her position in the Company.  

Our personnel should not have any financial or other business relationships with suppliers, customers, or competitors that could 
impair, or even could appear to impair, the independence of any judgment they may need to make on behalf of the Company. 
Conflicts of interest may arise in many different ways and may take on many different forms, so you should always be looking for 
them. However, here are some of the ways a conflict of interest could arise:  
  

  

  

  

  

Conflicts of interests may not always be clear-cut, so if you have a question, you should consult with higher levels of management or 
the Company’s Chief Financial Officer. Any director, officer or employee who becomes aware of a conflict or potential conflict 
should bring it to the attention of a supervisor, manager or other appropriate personnel or consult the procedures described under the 
heading “Compliance” later in this Code. Disclosure of any potential conflict is the key to full compliance with this policy.  

Compete Fairly and Ethically for Business Opportunities  

We seek success by competing fairly and honestly. We seek advantage through superior performance and not through unethical or 
illegal business practices. Acquiring or using confidential, proprietary information, possessing or using trade secret information that 
was obtained without the owner’s consent, or inducing such disclosures by past or present employees of other companies, or any 
other form of industrial espionage is prohibited. Our personnel should respect the rights of and deal fairly with the Company’s 
customers, suppliers, and competitors. It is impermissible to take unfair business advantage of anyone through manipulation, 
concealment, abuse of privileged information, misrepresentation or any other intentional, unfair, or unethical practice.  
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5. Avoid Conflicts of Interest 

 •  Employment by a competitor, or potential competitor, no matter what the nature or extent of the employment, while 
employed by us. 

 •  Acceptance of gifts, payments, or services from anyone seeking to do business with us. 

 •  Placement of business with a firm owned or controlled by any of our directors, officers, or employees or a family member 
of any of them. 

 •  Ownership of, or substantial interest in, a competitor, customer, or supplier. 

 •  Acting as a consultant to a customer or supplier (or, of course, a competitor). 



The purpose of business entertainment and gifts is to create goodwill and foster sound, productive working relationships, not to gain 
unfair advantage. The sale and marketing of our products should always be free from even the perception that favorable treatment 
was sought, received, or given in exchange for the furnishing or receipt of business courtesies. Our officers, directors, and employees 
will neither give nor accept business courtesies that constitute, or could reasonably be perceived to constitute, unfair business 
inducements, bribes or kickbacks, violate any law, regulation, or policy of the Company, or could cause embarrassment to or reflect 
negatively on the Company’s reputation.  

Compliance  

You should feel free to talk to supervisors or other appropriate personnel about observed behavior that you believe may be illegal or 
unethical and about the best course of action in a particular situation. It has been the policy of the Company not to allow retaliation 
for reports of misconduct made in good faith by our personnel. This policy is also mandated by the newly adopted Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002, which requires protection of whistleblowers.  

We must all work to ensure prompt and consistent action against violations of this Code. However, in some situations it may be 
difficult to know right from wrong. Since we cannot anticipate every situation that will arise, it is important that we have a process for 
addressing each situation. These are the principles and steps to keep in mind:  
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 •  Make sure you have all the facts. In order to reach informed, principled conclusions, we must be as fully informed as 
possible. 

 

•  Ask yourself: What specifically am I being asked to do? Does it seem unethical or improper and why, in particular, does it 
make me feel uncomfortable? This will enable you to focus on the specific question(s) facing you, and the available 
alternatives. Use your good judgment and common sense. If something makes you uncomfortable because it seems 
unethical or improper, it probably is. 

 
•  Clarify your responsibility and role. In most situations, there is shared responsibility. Are your colleagues informed? It 

may help to get others involved and discuss the problem, keeping in mind the tenets of confidentiality and respect for 
others set forth in this Code. 

 

•  Discuss the problem with your supervisor. This is the basic guidance for all situations. In many cases, your supervisor will 
be more knowledgeable about the question and will appreciate being brought into the decision-making process. Remember 
that it is your supervisor’s responsibility to help solve problems. In the rare case where it may not be appropriate to discuss 
an issue with your immediate supervisor, or where you do not feel comfortable approaching your immediate supervisor 
with your question, you may discuss it with our Chief Financial Officer or contact the Audit Committee. 



  

  

Board Oversight; Waiver  

Our Board of Directors has charged the Audit Committee with enforcement of this Code of Business Conduct and Ethics. Any waiver 
of this Code for directors or executive officers must be approved by our Board of Directors and will be disclosed promptly in a SEC 
Form 8-K within five days and/or as otherwise required by law or the rules of any stock exchange on which our stock trades.  

Enforcement; Disciplinary Measures  

The Company will consistently enforce this Code of Ethics and Business Conduct through appropriate disciplinary means. Potential 
violations of the Code promptly will be reported to the Audit Committee. Pursuant to procedures adopted by it, the Audit Committee 
will determine whether violations of the Code have occurred and, if so, will determine the disciplinary measures to be taken against 
any director, officer, employee, or agent of the Company who has violated the Code. Disciplinary measures, which may be invoked at 
the discretion of the Audit Committee include, but are not limited to, counseling, oral or written reprimands, warnings, probation or 
suspension without pay, demotions, reductions in salary, termination of employment and restitution. Persons subject to disciplinary 
measures include, in addition to each actual violator, others involved in the wrongdoing such as:  
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 •  Always ask first, act later. If you are unsure of what to do in any situation, seek guidance before you act. 

 
•  Familiarize yourself with our Whistleblower Policy. This Policy provides protection for those employees who raise 

concerns regarding accounting, auditing matters, the reporting of fraudulent financial information and other matters in an 
effort to ensure open and effective lines of communication. 

 
•  If you become aware of an action or failure to take action that you believe is or will result in a violation of this Code, you 

must report such action or failure to act either to your immediate supervisor, the Chief Financial Officer or the Audit 
Committee pursuant to our Whistleblower Policy. 

 •  individuals who fail to use reasonable care to detect a violation; 

 •  individuals who, if requested to divulge information, withhold material information regarding a violation; and 

 •  supervisors who approve or condone violations or attempt to retaliate against those reporting violations or violators. 



Exhibit 12.1 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Augustine Y. Cheung, Ph.D., certify that:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Date: June 7, 2016  
  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Medifocus Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have: 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ Augustine Cheung 
Name: Augustine Y. Cheung, Ph.D.
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 12.2 

CERTIFICATION  

I, Mirsad Jakubovic, certify that:  
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

Date: June 7, 2016  
  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of Medifocus Inc.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact 
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading 
with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all 
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods 
presented in this report; 

4. The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures 
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in 
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have: 

 
(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under 

our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is 
made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

 
(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be 

designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the 
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

 
(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our 

conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this 
report based on such evaluation; and 

 
(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 

period covered by the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over 
financial reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons 
performing the equivalent functions): 

 
(a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting 

which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial 
information; and 

 (b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the 
company’s internal control over financial reporting. 

/s/ Mirsad Jakubovic 
Name: Mirsad Jakubovic
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 13.1 

CERTIFICATION  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of Medifocus Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s 
knowledge, that the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in 
the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  

Dated: June 7, 2016  
  

/s/ Augustine Cheung 
Name: Augustine Y. Cheung, Ph.D.
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 13.2 

CERTIFICATION  

Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, the undersigned officer of Medifocus Inc. (the “Company”) hereby certifies, to such officer’s 
knowledge, that the Company’s annual report on Form 20-F for the year ended March 31, 2016 (the “Report”) fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d), as applicable, of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in 
the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.  

Dated: June 7, 2016  
  

/s/ Mirsad Jakubovic 
Name: Mirsad Jakubovic
Title: Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 15.1 
  

  

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors  
Medifocus, Inc.  
Columbia, Maryland  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of our report dated May 27, 2016 with respect to the consolidated financial 
statements of Medifocus, Inc. for the years ended March 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 in this Form 20-F.  

/s/ Stegman & Company  

Baltimore, Maryland  
June 6, 2016  

  
Suite 200, 809 Glen Eagles Court    Baltimore, Maryland 21286 ● 410-823-8000 ● 1-800-686-3883 ● Fax: 410-296-4815 ● www.stegman.com  

Members of    
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